

UNDER SECRETARY OF DEFENSE 4000 DEFENSE PENTAGON WASHINGTON, D.C. 20301-4000

FEB 2 6 2021

The Honorable Adam Smith Chairman Committee on Armed Services U.S. House of Representatives Washington, DC 20515

Dear Mr. Chairman:

The enclosed report is in response to section 749 of the National Defense Authorization Act for Fiscal Year 2020 (Public Law 116–92), which requires a study on the effects of sleep deprivation on the readiness of members of the Armed Forces and a report on the study's results.

This report summarizes the Department's findings following a comprehensive review of the impact of sleep deprivation on members of the Armed Forces, and an assessment of potential relationships between sleep deprivation and various medical and mental health conditions.

Thank you for your continued strong support for the health and well-being of our Service members, veterans, and their families. I am sending a similar letter to the Committee on Armed Services of the Senate.

Sincerely,

//SIGNED//

Virginia S. Penrod Acting

Enclosure: As stated

cc: The Honorable Mike D. Rogers Ranking Member



FEB 2 6 2021

The Honorable Jack Reed Chairman Committee on Armed Services United States Senate Washington, DC 20510

Dear Mr. Chairman:

The enclosed report is in response to section 749 of the National Defense Authorization Act for Fiscal Year 2020 (Public Law 116–92), which requires a study on the effects of sleep deprivation on the readiness of members of the Armed Forces and a report on the study's results.

This report summarizes the Department's findings following a comprehensive review of the impact of sleep deprivation on members of the Armed Forces, and an assessment of potential relationships between sleep deprivation and various medical and mental health conditions.

Thank you for your continued strong support for the health and well-being of our Service members, veterans, and their families. I am sending a similar letter to the Committee on Armed Services of the House of Representatives.

Sincerely,

//SIGNED//

Virginia S. Penrod Acting

Enclosure: As stated

cc: The Honorable James M. Inhofe Ranking Member

Report to Congressional Armed Services Committees



Study on Effects of Sleep Deprivation on Readiness of Members of the Armed Forces

March 2021

In Response To: Section 749 of the National Defense Authorization Act for Fiscal Year 2020 (Public Law 116–92)

> The estimated cost of this report or study for the Department of Defense (DoD) is approximately \$109,000.00. This includes \$100.00 in expenses and \$109,000.00 in DoD labor.

> > Generated on 2020SEP03

RefID: F-8D0CEE4

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY	i
Background	i
Findings	i
INTRODUCTION	1
BACKGROUND	1
METHOD	2
FINDINGS	2
Standardized Definition of Sleep Deprivation	
Prevalence of Sleep Deprivation	4
Circadian Rhythm Disturbances from Crossing Multiple Time Zones	4
Mission-Related Maladaptive Sleep Practices	4
Deployed Settings	5
Training Settings	5
Occupational Duty Requirements and Maladaptive Sleep Practices	6
Uncomfortable or Otherwise Inhospitable Sleeping Environments	6
Prevalence of Use of Stimulants and Hypnotics to Support Operational Tempo	7
Caffeine	7
Energy Drinks	7
Modafinil and Dextroamphetamine	
Sedative-Hypnotics	
RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN SLEEP DEPRIVATION AND MEDICAL CONDIT SUCH AS TRAUMATIC BRAIN INJURY, POSTTRAUMATIC STRESS DISORI	DER,
AND DEPRESSION	
Traumatic Brain Injury	
Mental Health Conditions	10
Posttraumatic Stress Disorder	10
Depression	
Sleep Deprivation and Suicide Risk	
Prevalence of Healthcare Encounters to Address Sleep Deprivation	
SUMMARY FINDINGS: SLEEP DEPRIVATION RISK MITIGATION STRATE	GIES13
Commitment to a Duty Schedule that Allows Eight Hours of Sleep	
Environmental Considerations	15
Tactical Naps and Sleep Banking	15
Mitigating the Effect of Sleep Deprivation on Physical Performance	15

CONTENTS

Addressing Caffeine Use	16
Mitigating Travel-Related Circadian Rhythm Disturbances	16
Interventions to Improve Sleep	17
Mobile Applications for Sleep Management	17
Current Lines of Effort in Military Sleep Research	18
CONCLUSION	19
ACRONYMS	20
DEFINITIONS	21
ATTACHMENT 1: SUBTYPES OF SLEEP DEPRIVATION	22
Total Sleep Deprivation	22
Partial Sleep Deprivation	23
ATTACHMENT 2: IMPACT OF SLEEP DEPRIVATION IN SPECIFIC MILITARY	7
CONTEXTS	
	25
CONTEXTS	 25 25
CONTEXTS Travel Crossing Multiple Time Zones	 25 25 25
CONTEXTS Travel Crossing Multiple Time Zones Mission-Related Maladaptive Sleep Practices	25 25 25 27
CONTEXTS Travel Crossing Multiple Time Zones Mission-Related Maladaptive Sleep Practices Uncomfortable and Inhospitable Sleep Environments ATTACHMENT 3: PHARMACOLOGICAL INTERVENTION TO SUPPORT	25 25 25 27 27
CONTEXTS Travel Crossing Multiple Time Zones Mission-Related Maladaptive Sleep Practices Uncomfortable and Inhospitable Sleep Environments ATTACHMENT 3: PHARMACOLOGICAL INTERVENTION TO SUPPORT OPERATIONS TEMPO	25 25 25 27 27 29
CONTEXTS Travel Crossing Multiple Time Zones Mission-Related Maladaptive Sleep Practices Uncomfortable and Inhospitable Sleep Environments ATTACHMENT 3: PHARMACOLOGICAL INTERVENTION TO SUPPORT OPERATIONS TEMPO Caffeine	25 25 25 27 27 29 30
CONTEXTS Travel Crossing Multiple Time Zones Mission-Related Maladaptive Sleep Practices Uncomfortable and Inhospitable Sleep Environments ATTACHMENT 3: PHARMACOLOGICAL INTERVENTION TO SUPPORT OPERATIONS TEMPO Caffeine Energy Drinks	25 25 25 27 27 29 30 31

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Background

This report is in response to Section 749 of the National Defense Authorization Act (NDAA) for Fiscal Year (FY) 2020 (Public Law 116–92), which requires the Secretary of Defense (SecDef) to conduct a study of the effects of sleep deprivation on the readiness of members of the Armed Forces and submit a report on the study results. Study requirements include: 1) a standardized definition of sleep deprivation; 2) an assessment of the prevalence of sleep deprivation on members of the Armed Forces related to circadian rhythm disturbances from crossing multiple time zones, mission related maladaptive sleep practices, uncomfortable or otherwise inhospitable sleeping environments, and the use of stimulants and hypnotics to support operational tempo; 3) an assessment of whether there may be a relationship between sleep deprivation and medical conditions such as traumatic brain injury (TBI), post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD), and depression; and 4) recommendations on efforts to mitigate sleep deprivation, pursuant to study findings.

Findings

Definition: Following a comprehensive literature review, for purposes of this study, the Department identified an empirically-derived definition of sleep deprivation germane to the examination of sleep deprivation on readiness and health promotion to inform the Department's prioritization of policy pertaining to sleep in the military context: *Inadequate sleep that negatively impacts a Service member's military effectiveness, evidenced by a reduced ability to execute complex cognitive tasks, communicate effectively, quickly make appropriate decisions, maintain vigilance, and sustain a level of alertness required to carry out assigned duties*.

Prevalence of Sleep Deprivation: Amongst active duty personnel, inadequate sleep appears to be more the rule than the exception. In general, rates of individuals sleeping less than seven hours per night in the military are roughly twice of those in the civilian population. The prevalence of sleep deprivation varies across the Military Services and occupations. Several mission-related factors contribute to inadequate sleep in Service members, including austere deployment and training environments, cross-time-zone travel and its impact on circadian rhythm, operational and occupational requirements such as operations tempo, and inhospitable sleep environments. Use of stimulants and hypnotics can mitigate operational impacts of sleep deprivation and promote sleep in inhospitable sleep environments, but such pharmaceutical interventions offer short-term solutions and are neither intended nor suitable for sustained implementation.

Relationship with Other Conditions: Sleep deprivation is a symptom of—and a contributing factor to—mental health disorders and physical diseases, conditions, and syndromes. The presence of externally caused sleep deprivation may contribute to the development of PTSD, depressive disorders, and risk for TBI, and may exacerbate symptom severity in established cases. On the other hand, sleep deprivation can also be a sign or symptom of an underlying medical condition, such as depression, a side effect from medication or substance such as caffeine, or an endocrine disorder. The role of sleep deprivation as a contributing factor may be particularly important in relation to TBI, principally caused by accidents in the military population and more likely to occur when an individual is sleep deprived. Sleep deprivation substantially increases accident risk, which, in turn, increases the risk of TBI.

Results of the comprehensive review of the impact of sleep deprivation on the readiness and health promotion of members of the Armed Forces are informing the Department's policy development.

INTRODUCTION

This report is in response to section 749 of the NDAA for FY 2020 (Public Law 116–92), which requires the SecDef to conduct a study on the effects of sleep deprivation on the readiness of members of the Armed Forces, and provide a report on the results of this study. Study requirements include: 1) a standardized definition of sleep deprivation; 2) an assessment of the prevalence of sleep deprivation on members of the Armed Forces related to circadian rhythm disturbances from crossing multiple time zones, mission related maladaptive sleep practices, uncomfortable or otherwise inhospitable sleeping environments, and the use of stimulants and hypnotics to support operational tempo; 3) an assessment of whether there may be a relationship between sleep deprivation and medical conditions such as TBI, PTSD, and depression; and 4) recommendations on efforts to mitigate sleep deprivation, pursuant to study findings. Findings from this study are informing Department of Defense (DoD) policy.

BACKGROUND

Twenty-first century combat operations demanded an institutional shift in how military leaders manage Service member health as a critical component of readiness and performance. Throughout the wars of the past two decades, the DoD has shown an increasing commitment to Service member mental and physical readiness. This commitment is evident in the collaborative partnership between commanders and medical professionals striving to maximize wellness behaviors among Service members in training, operational, and combat environments. Throughout the DoD, an emphasis on physical activity, nutrition, resilience, sleep, and fatigue management has worked to mitigate the potentially deleterious effects of maintaining an always-ready force.

Sleep may be the most important biological factor that determines Service member health and combat readiness.¹ U.S. military personnel across settings tend to self-report significantly higher rates of sleep deprivation than the general national population.² The majority of Service members report they receive less sleep than needed to perform their military duties well.³ Rates of sleep deprivation typically are higher in training and deployed settings than in garrison.^{4,5} Between 27 and 38 percent of Service members indicate that the length of the duty day and the overall pace of 24-hour-per-day military operations result in sleep deprivation due to restricted opportunity for sleep.^{6,7}

Although it can be argued that intermittent, short-term sleep deprivation due to operational and training demands is an unavoidable cost that must be paid to ensure an always-ready force, it is likely that prolonged and chronic sleep deprivation has the opposite effect on the readiness of the U.S. Armed Forces.⁸ Impairment from sleep deprivation can be equivalent to the effects of alcohol intoxication⁹ and significantly increases the risk of physical injury.¹⁰ A growing body of research, reviewed in this study, indicates that sleep deprivation has significant effects on the physical, cognitive, and emotional functioning needed for readiness, occupational, and operational mission fulfillment in the military.¹¹ Risk of accident in training, operational, and

combat environments significantly increases if Service members are sleep deprived.¹² To counteract the effects of sleep deprivation, Service members consume large amounts of caffeine. There is some evidence that moderate doses of caffeine can maintain alertness, attention, and vigilance during short-term sleep deprivation.¹³ However, caffeine countermeasures cannot replace the need for sleep, and overuse of this stimulant drug in military settings can disrupt sleep patterns and increase levels of sleep deprivation.^{14,15} If sleep problems are not addressed, medical and psychological health conditions can be exacerbated, resulting in persistent symptoms. As sleep disruption is a core symptom of depression, PTSD, and TBI, individuals with these conditions show a greater risk for sleep-related problems following combat deployment.¹⁶

Military commanders can help prevent and mitigate the effects of sleep deprivation among their Service members.¹⁷ Risk mitigation begins with a leader's commitment to duty schedules that allow for eight hours of sleep with adequate recovery time when mission requirements result in reduced or disrupted sleep.¹⁸ Leaders can take specific steps to monitor caffeine intake and decrease environmental disruption in sleep areas.¹⁹ Several well-established techniques exist for managing anticipated travel-related sleep disruptions, such as tactical naps and sleep banking.^{20,21} Leaders can also encourage the use of behavioral interventions to improve sleep quantity and quality, such as the use of mobile applications to help track sleep.^{22,23} If viewed as a key component of readiness, military cultural attitudes regarding sleep deprivation can be shifted to ensure that Service member performance is optimized, and even enhanced, rather than compromised.

METHOD

A comprehensive review was conducted of relevant scientific literature published in the past two decades to inform the identification of an empirically sound, standardized, 'consensus' definition of sleep deprivation; assess the prevalence of sleep deprivation among Service members; identify factors resulting in sleep deprivation in the military context; examine the use of stimulants and hypnotics in response to sleep disturbances caused by operational tempo; and support an examination of the relationship between sleep deprivation and medical conditions, such as TBI. Complete summaries of selected literature reviews are included as attachments and cited by topic within the body of this report.

FINDINGS

It is important to note at the outset that sleep deprivation is not a specific disease, and that most sleep-related disorders typically result in sleep deprivation. Two of the most common of these disorders often affect Service members. The first is insomnia. Insomnia diagnoses result from inadequate sleep quantity or quality due to problems initiating or maintaining sleep, which interferes with occupational functioning and occurs despite an adequate opportunity for sleep.²⁴ Whereas all individuals with insomnia typically experience partial sleep deprivation, not all individuals with partial sleep deprivation will meet diagnostic criteria for insomnia.²⁵ The second condition that typically results in sleep deprivation and is common among Service members is behaviorally-induced insufficient sleep syndrome (BIISS). Like insomnia, BIISS is

characterized by inadequate sleep quantity or quality that interferes with occupational functioning. Unlike insomnia, BIISS is characterized by an inadequate amount of time spent in bed or a restricted opportunity to obtain adequate sleep. This could result from factors beyond the control of the individual (e.g., occupational demands such as long hours or shift work) or leisure activities (such as television or video games).^{26,27} Studies of both insomnia and BIISS have been used in the research literature to capture the occurrence of sleep deprivation as defined herein.

Standardized Definition of Sleep Deprivation

A consensus of reports in the scientific literature defines sleep deprivation as "obtaining inadequate sleep to support adequate daytime alertness."²⁸ There are two general types of sleep deprivation: total sleep deprivation and partial sleep deprivation (See Attachment 1, *Sub Types of Sleep Deprivation*, for the complete literature review):

- Total sleep deprivation is defined as a period of continuous wakefulness that exceeds 24 hours, or getting zero sleep time during the typical sleep-wake cycle.^{29,30} Total sleep deprivation is relatively rare for more than short periods of time and can be lethal after extended periods, but may occur in military settings due to operational demands such as sustained operations, overnight duty, extended missions, or direct combat.³¹
- Partial sleep deprivation (or sleep restriction) is defined broadly as at least one night of partial or interrupted sleep.³² Although the amount of sleep needed each night varies by individual, partial sleep deprivation is operationalized typically as less than seven hours of sleep per night for adults.³³
- Chronic partial sleep deprivation is partial sleep deprivation with at least one week in which an individual gets less than seven hours of sleep on most nights and is unable to get sufficient recovery sleep to make up for lost sleep time.
- The requirement for a minimum of seven hours of sleep per night aligns with recommendations from numerous scientific organizations, including the American Academy of Sleep Medicine, the Sleep Research Society, and the National Sleep Foundation.^{34,35} Large-scale studies further support this cut point by showing that optimal performance in communication and reasoning require between seven to eight hours of sleep.^{36,37} Chronic partial sleep deprivation (or chronic sleep restriction) occurs following at least one week of consecutive days with partial sleep deprivation (i.e., less than seven hours of sleep per day).³⁸

Both total sleep deprivation and partial sleep deprivation can have significant effects on cognitive, emotional, and physical capabilities that directly affect military performance. These include deficits in marksmanship, physical training, decision making, and risk-taking behavior.^{39,40,41,42} As applied to the military context, sleep deprivation is operationalized as meaning *inadequate sleep that negatively impacts a Service member's military effectiveness, evidenced by a reduced ability to execute complex cognitive tasks, communicate effectively, quickly make appropriate decisions, maintain vigilance, and/or sustain a level of alertness required to carry out assigned duties.*^{43,44,45}

Prevalence of Sleep Deprivation

In the general U.S. population, approximately 28 to 37 percent of adults receive less than seven hours of sleep per night.^{46,47,48} In comparison, U.S. military personnel across settings tend to self-report significantly higher rates of partial sleep deprivation than the general U.S. population. Results from the DoD Health Related Behavior Surveys conducted between 2005–2018 indicate that between 55 and 76 percent of Service members endorsed sleeping less than seven hours per night.^{49,50,51,52} The most recent estimates indicate that 64 percent of Service members report less than seven hours of sleep per night.⁵³ Members of the Air Force consistently reported a higher rate of sufficient sleep (seven hours or more) per night when compared with the other Military Services.^{54,55,56}

Circadian Rhythm Disturbances from Crossing Multiple Time Zones

Travel-related circadian rhythm disturbances (see Attachment 2, *Impact of Sleep Deprivation in Specific Military Contexts*, for a detailed literature review) in the military context primarily affect aviation Service members and units that must deploy on short notice across several time zones.⁵⁷ The majority of military studies on circadian rhythm disturbances related to travel focus on the use of medication to reduce the effects of crossing multiple time zones rapidly,⁵⁸ as reviewed under the subsequent section of this report, *Prevalence of Use of Stimulants and Hypnotics to Support Operations Tempo*.

For military operations that last longer than two weeks (such as a deployment of Service members involving several months), jet lag is worse upon arrival to the new time zone and dissipates over time. In general, an individual is able to adapt to a time zone change of one hour per day. For example, if an individual travels three time zones, it will take three days for that individual to adapt to the new time zone. Service members who engage in operational requirements (such as nighttime operations or rotating shifts) that prevent them from experiencing normal light-dark cycles may have exacerbated performance impairment due to circadian rhythm disturbance, which will prevent or delay adjustment to a new time zone.⁵⁹

Mission-Related Maladaptive Sleep Practices

A number of specific military contextual factors affect the occurrence of sleep deprivation in operational environments. Examples of such factors include austere deployment and training settings with inhospitable sleeping environments, and circadian rhythm disturbances caused by rapidly crossing multiple time zones. Despite reporting high rates of sleep deprivation, only a minority of Service members indicate that sleep deprivation affects their overall job performance.⁶⁰ Army surveys from 2009 to 2013 showed that 27 to 34 percent of Soldiers reported concern about not getting enough sleep.⁶¹ A DoD survey conducted in 2015 found that 56 percent of Service members reported getting less sleep than needed to perform their military duties well.⁶²

Culturally and operationally, a Service member's ability to maintain maximum performance while being sleep deprived has been lauded as a key skill for military personnel and has been perceived to demonstrate toughness.^{63,64} Among military commands, attitudes toward sleep may range from viewing sleep as a controlled ration to asserting that a need for sleep is a sign of weakness.⁶⁵ Leadership plays a significant role in whether Service members in a given unit

experience partial sleep deprivation. Army surveys indicate that only 26 percent of leaders encourage Service members to get adequate sleep, while 24 percent work to ensure an adequate sleep environment, and 35 percent consider sleep as an important factor in operational planning, such as establishing an adequate shift rotation that supports sufficient sleep.⁶⁶

Deployed Settings

Rates of partial sleep deprivation have been assessed in deployed settings. Among Army personnel in Afghanistan, 86 percent report sleeping less than seven hours per night.⁶⁷ Air Force personnel in Afghanistan report an average total sleep time of 6.7 hours per night, with 15 percent of personnel reporting less than 4.5 hours per night, and 74 percent rating sleep quality as significantly worse in the deployed environment.⁶⁸ A study of Navy personnel in Afghanistan similarly showed an average total sleep time of 5.9 hours per night, with 67 percent reporting less than seven hours per night.⁶⁹ These results are consistent with other studies of Army and Marine Corps personnel, which demonstrate that 50 percent of deployed Service members report sleeping five hours or less per night.⁷⁰ Leaders also experience partial sleep deprivation when deployed. Army infantry officers report that sleep in the deployed environment depends on operations tempo (OPTEMPO), with officers typically sleeping only four hours per night during high OPTEMPO.⁷¹ Despite these high rates, a much smaller percentage (3.6 percent) of deployed Service members seeks behavioral health care for sleep-related concerns.⁷² Partial sleep deprivation can also continue following deployment. The majority of Service members in the Millennium Cohort Study reported sleeping less than seven hours per night, regardless of deployment status.⁷³ Between 90 and 180 days after return from deployment, 72 percent of Service members reported sleeping less than seven hours per night.⁷⁴

Training Settings

Military training settings show significant rates of partial sleep deprivation, despite evidence that trainees perform better when they receive more sleep.⁷⁵ Cadets at the United States Military Academy consistently sleep less than five hours per night during the week, and remain below seven hours per night on weekends, suggesting that they are unable to effectively recuperate from "sleep debt" (the cumulative effect of not having enough sleep).⁷⁶ Soldiers in basic training report receiving an average of five-six hours of sleep per night, and are typically awoken by interruptions between two-four times per night.⁷⁷ Similarly, Marines in training settings frequently report less than six hours of sleep per night on average, even when periods of sleep deprivation are not required for operational tasks.⁷⁸ National Guard members show a significant decrease in hours of sleep per night when comparing typical sleep patterns to sleep during training, with an average of six hours of sleep per night during training exercises.⁷⁹ Soldiers in Ranger School typically receive an average of only three hours of sleep per night, and engage in operational training that requires several days of total sleep deprivation.⁸⁰ Even when training schedules in basic training environments specify eight hours of sleep a night for trainees, the actual number of hours of sleep received by trainees—as measured by actigraphy (a non-invasive method of monitoring human rest and activity cycles)—is significantly less.⁸¹ Although the belief exists that short-term sleep deprivation during training is necessary to prepare Service members for combat environments that might require conducting operations with little sleep, sustained chronic partial sleep deprivation may become counterproductive to overall training objectives.82

Occupational Duty Requirements and Maladaptive Sleep Practices

The majority of Service members experiencing circadian rhythm disruptions are likely to work in occupations that require regular or recurring shift work. Shift work causes circadian rhythm disturbance that contributes to sleep deprivation, if not properly managed. Extensively detailed in the literature (Attachment 2), occupational duty requirements may be the most prominent factor driving chronic partial or total sleep deprivation among Service members. Shift work (scheduled, unplanned, and ad-hoc), unpredictable schedules, 24-hour duty assignments, and manning shortages all can result in sleep deprivation among Service members.⁸³ In both deployed and garrison settings, military personnel face extended duty hours to accomplish all maintenance, training, and administrative duty requirements.⁸⁴ When deployed, between 15 and 21 percent of Soldiers report that high OPTEMPO results in sleep deprivation.⁸⁵ Thirty-six to 38 percent of Soldiers and 27 to 33 percent of Marines indicate that the length of the duty day provides insufficient time to complete personal business, in turn resulting in restricted opportunity to sleep.⁸⁶ Although sleep deprivation in the military has been compared to equivalent civilian occupational categories, military Service members (55–76 percent) report significantly greater rates of partial sleep deprivation than firefighters (46 percent), law enforcement officers (40 percent), and healthcare professionals (40 percent).⁸⁷

Uncomfortable or Otherwise Inhospitable Sleeping Environments

Due to the nature of military operations in austere locations worldwide, a number of environmental factors in combat, training, and operational settings may contribute to sleep deprivation.⁸⁸ Between 27 and 35 percent of deployed Army personnel surveyed between 2010 and 2013 reported that a poor sleep environment affected their ability to get sufficient sleep.⁸⁹ Although Service members may be encouraged to "sleep whenever you can" in operational settings, it is unlikely that sleeping in tactical vehicles, military aircraft, large transient tents, hangars, or near machinery, is restorative.⁹⁰ The most common environmental factors reported by deployed Air Force personnel as affecting their sleep were loud noise outside sleeping tents, uncomfortable beds, loud noise inside sleeping tents, and uncomfortable heat or cold.⁹¹ Ambient temperature is an important environmental factor that can contribute to partial sleep deprivation, as it influences the optimal core body temperature, which is an important factor in sleep initiation and maintenance.⁹² When deployed to a warmer climate, it can take Service members several days for their regulation of core body temperature to normalize, in turn resulting in partial sleep deprivation.⁹³ Summer nighttime temperatures in Iraq and Afghanistan during Operation IRAQI FREEDOM and Operation ENDURING FREEDOM frequently exceeded ideal ranges for sleep initiation.^{94,95} When daytime temperatures in the deployed environment exceed 90 degrees Fahrenheit (°F), most base construction projects occur at night; however, this causes significant noise that disrupts the sleep of Service members in tents.⁹⁶ Furthermore, daytime temperatures of most U.S. military basic training sites exceed 90°F for more than 50 days per year, potentially contributing to sleep deprivation among trainees.⁹⁷ Military trainees also report receiving insufficient bedding to stay warm during the night in barracks, contributing to partial sleep deprivation.98

Occupational factors also can interact with environmental factors to worsen sleep deprivation. Problems caused by shift work during 24-hour operations can be exacerbated by light and noise contamination, if crew sleeping areas are not set aside from daytime operation personnel, not adequately blacked out to ensure darkness, or are still used for mission-related tasks (such as obtaining keys or log books).⁹⁹ In initial entry settings, trainees report several factors that disrupt their sleep, such as excessive noise in communal sleeping areas, light contamination from security lights, and rotational nighttime duties that wake both the trainees and their bunkmates.¹⁰⁰ Furthermore, co-location of crew sleeping areas with work areas—such as flight crews sleeping near the airfield—tends to contribute to significant sleep disruption due to noise characteristic of 24-hour operational environments.¹⁰¹ All these factors suggest that maintaining adequate sleep for personnel should be a primary consideration in establishing operational rotations, work locations, and standard operating procedures.

Prevalence of Use of Stimulants and Hypnotics to Support Operational Tempo

Throughout the past several decades, studies have examined a number of pharmacological interventions to determine their effectiveness for mitigating the effects of sleep deprivation in military operational settings. Attachment 3 provides a comprehensive review of the literature, *Pharmacological Intervention to Support Operational Tempo*. These studies include investigation of stimulants (such as caffeine and modafinil) and sedative-hypnotics.

Caffeine

The intent of controlled caffeine administration in military settings is to maintain operational performance at typical levels when Service members are sleep deprived.¹⁰² The efficacy of caffeine and other psychostimulants is transient, and can delay—but not replace—the need for sleep.¹⁰³ Evidence synthesized from across military and civilian studies provides some support that moderate doses of caffeine ((approximately 200–300 milligrams (mg)) can maintain levels of alertness, attention, vigilance, and reasoning during sleep deprivation.^{104,105} In addition, caffeine doses over 200mg show positive effects on physical performance, including time-trial or sprint speed, muscle strength and endurance, and time-to-exhaustion.¹⁰⁶

Energy Drinks

Although coffee is the most prevalent source of daily caffeine among Service members overall, energy drinks are the most common source among younger Service members.¹⁰⁷ Energy drinks are considered dietary supplements, with caffeine content typically ranging from 80–300mg per serving.¹⁰⁸ Studies show significantly higher rates of energy drink consumption in the U.S. military compared to the general population. For example, a survey of military personnel in operational, training, and medical settings found that 53 percent of Service members consumed at least one energy drink in the past 30 days, while 38 percent consumed at least one energy drink per week.¹⁰⁹ Among Service members, U.S. Army personnel use energy drinks most frequently (54 percent), while U.S. Air Force personnel consume energy drinks least frequently (26 percent).¹¹⁰ Although generally considered relatively benign, caffeine consumption can have unfavorable effects. Service members who regularly consume energy drinks frequently report problems sleeping; the alerting effects of caffeine possibly contribute to these problems, especially if caffeine consumption occurs within six hours prior to bedtime.¹¹¹ Energy drink consumption can bring significant health risks, including cardiac arrest, myocardial infarction, spontaneous coronary dissection, and coronary vasospasm.^{112,113} In contrast to studies on carefully dosed caffeine during military tasks, energy drinks likely provide an irregular dose of caffeine at various intervals, possibly canceling out potential benefits and increasing operational risk. Furthermore, many energy drinks contain several substances (e.g., taurine, guarana,

excessive amounts of B vitamins) in addition to caffeine, the effects of which, both individually and in combination, have yet to be fully determined.¹¹⁴

Modafinil and Dextroamphetamine

The prescription stimulant drug dextroamphetamine is approved for use under the direction of a flight surgeon in Army, Navy, Air Force, and Marine Corps aviation.^{115,116,117,118} The prescription drug modafinil is also approved for wakefulness promotion under the direction of a flight surgeon in the Air Force, depending on specific Major Command guidance.¹¹⁹ A recent study on the prevalence of these drugs in combat aviation operations showed that pilots used either dextroamphetamine or modafinil in 35 percent of combat sorties.¹²⁰ Research on these stimulants generally demonstrates that they are safe and effective in counteracting fatigue during combat or other emergency conditions, and can be used to their optimal effect upon following strict dosing and recovery sleep guidelines.¹²¹ Studies on modafinil use have generally demonstrated effective restoration of normal performance levels for several hours during total sleep deprivation.^{122,123,124,125} Outside of use for counteracting fatigue during combat or other emergency situations, these pharmaceutical measures should be used only after other options for ensuring adequate aircrew rest (especially protected sleep time) have been exhausted.¹²⁶

Sedative-Hypnotics

Prescription sedative-hypnotic drug use has occurred in military contexts for many years. These drugs are most effective for short-term use to promote sleep in inhospitable military environments, to counteract circadian adjustment associated with jet lag, or to facilitate work shift transitions.¹²⁷ Approximately 11 percent of Service members report using prescribed sedative-hypnotics to facilitate sleep in deployed settings.¹²⁸ Studies on workplace and operational applications of short-term sedative-hypnotic drug use have shown some benefits. including alleviating sleep debt by restoring sleep levels to baseline prior to periods of known sleep deprivation, and possibly counteracting environmental noise effects.^{129,130,131} Sedativehypnotic drugs have been used frequently to treat partial sleep deprivation related to clinical sleep conditions. Between 2009 and 2015, approximately 2.4 million prescriptions for sedativehypnotic medications were given to active duty Service members.¹³² Table 1 details the number of prescriptions filled by active duty Service members for three different sleep-related. nonbenzodiazepine sedative-hypnotics-zolpidem, zaleplon, and eszopiclone-in Military Health System (MHS) encounters from FY 2016-FY 2019. These data show that prescriptions for sleep-related non-benzodiazepine sedative-hypnotics have decreased overall between FY 2016 and FY 2019. Although there is continued use of sedative-hypnotics in the military, studies show that behavioral treatments are preferable to sedative-hypnotic drugs for ongoing treatment of insomnia, which is supported by the downward trend in the percent of Service members with a filled prescription during this period.¹³³ Clinical guidelines recommend only brief treatments with these sleep medications to help restore sleep to baseline; behavioral interventions are recommended for long-term treatment of insomnia.¹³⁴

members			-	
VARIABLE	FY 2016	FY 2017	FY 2018	FY 2019
New Prescriptions Filled	45,243	42,107	37,012	34,088
Refills	11,155	11,049	9,684	8,382
TOTAL PRESCRIPTIONS FILLED	56,398	53,156	46,696	42,470
Unique Patients	31,462	29,066	26,123	23,829
Prescriptions Filled per Patient	1.8	1.8	1.8	1.8
Percent of Active Duty Service Members with a Filled Prescription	2.06%	1.91%	1.70%	1.53%
ESTIMATED PREVALENCE*	3,692.4	3,500.9	3,046.1	2,718.9

 Table 1. Prescriptions for sleep-related sedative-hypnotics among active duty Service

 members

*Reflects prescriptions filled per 100,000 Service members. Data retrieved from the MHS Management Analysis and Reporting Tool reflect prescriptions in the direct care system for zolpidem, zaleplon, and eszopiclone. Data also reflect all prescriptions for these medications, which may include off-label use for non-sleep-related symptoms.

Relationship between Sleep Deprivation and Medical Conditions such as Traumatic Brain Injury, Posttraumatic Stress Disorder, and Depression

Traumatic Brain Injury

As reviewed herein, sleep deprivation can result in significant physical and neuropsychological decrements—including deficits in arousal, attention, cognition, and performance—that contribute to risk for sustaining a TBI.^{135,136} The majority of TBIs in the military are due to training accidents, accidental falls, and motor vehicle accidents.¹³⁷ A systematic review and meta-analysis found that workers with sleep problems had a 1.6 times higher risk of injury than workers not reporting sleep problems, and that overall, 13 percent of work injuries were related to sleep problems.¹³⁸ Data from the National Transportation Safety Board indicate that 40 percent of motor vehicle accidents are related to fatigue and insufficient sleep.¹³⁹ In the military, Service members with duty-related sleep deprivation are far more likely to experience a motor vehicle accident or work-related injury.¹⁴⁰

Clinically, sleep problems are among the most common symptoms following a TBI, including insomnia, excessive daytime sleepiness, sleep fragmentation (repeated, short sleep interruptions), and changes in sleep architecture (pattern of sleep between sleep stages).¹⁴¹ These factors, in turn, contribute to significant partial sleep deprivation.^{142,143} In the military, estimates of sleep problems following a TBI range from 25–30 percent.¹⁴⁴ Repetitive TBIs also significantly exacerbate sleep deprivation, with one study showing that 50 percent of Service members with more than one incident of TBI reported subsequent partial sleep deprivation.¹⁴⁵ Sleep deprivation can exacerbate other symptoms of TBI, resulting in greater impairment and long-term sequelae.^{146,147} Failure to address sleep problems and subsequent sleep deprivation

following TBI can impede recovery and delay return to work, in turn contributing to the development of chronic maladaptive sleep behaviors. The Defense and Veterans Brain Injury Center clinical recommendations, as well as DoD and Department of Veterans Affairs guidelines indicate that standard sleep interventions should be implemented among Service members and veterans with a TBI, to include sleep assessment, sleep education, and an emphasis on non-pharmacologic interventions to address sleep problems.^{148,149} These clinical recommendations and guidelines intend to standardize care for Service members with TBI and sleep disorders, and mitigate the impact of sleep disorders on TBI recovery.

Mental Health Conditions

Partial sleep deprivation is a common symptom and potential risk factor for many mental health conditions, particularly mood and anxiety disorders.^{150,151} Compared to those without a diagnosis, recent combat veterans with a mental health diagnosis report significantly worse sleep quality, sleep quantity, sleep efficiency, and sleep latency, and more sleep disturbances.¹⁵² Data from deployed Service members show a clear relationship between partial sleep deprivation and reported psychological health problems, with 23 percent of Service members screening positive for a mental health disorder when sleeping three or fewer hours per night, and 17 percent of Service members screening positive for a mental health disorder when sleeping four hours per night.¹⁵³ Overall, partial sleep deprivation shows significant deleterious effects on mood and emotional reactivity; difficulties with mood and emotional reactivity can be part of several mental health diagnoses.^{154,155} Furthermore, a study of U.S. Army Soldiers found those with poorer subjective sleep quality over an extended period reported higher emotional exhaustion and feelings of role overload.¹⁵⁶ Specific symptoms such as anxiety may also be more intense and frequent among sleep-deprived individuals.¹⁵⁷ In addition to these overall relationships, sleep deprivation may complicate the general diagnostic and clinical course of several specific mental health conditions, including PTSD, depression, suicidal behavior, and TBI.

Posttraumatic Stress Disorder

Sleep deprivation—often through nightmares or insomnia—is a core symptom of PTSD and a factor than can exacerbate PTSD daytime symptomatology (e.g., hypervigilance, irritability).¹⁵⁸ Estimates suggest more than 90 percent of combat veterans with PTSD also experience significant chronic partial sleep deprivation.^{159,160,161} Partial sleep deprivation prior to combat deployment significantly increases the risk of subsequent PTSD.^{162,163} Similarly, sleep disruption due to nightmares prior to military deployment can increase the risk of PTSD symptom onset during the six months following deployment.¹⁶⁴ Partial sleep deprivation due to insomnia is the most common reported PTSD symptom among Service members returning from deployment.¹⁶⁵ Similar to other mental health conditions, individuals diagnosed with PTSD tend to have significant sleep disruption, including lighter sleep that results in being awakened more easily; less time in deep slow-wave sleep; and greater density of rapid eye movement sleep (suggesting greater overall partial sleep deprivation).^{166,167} Compared to combat-deployed peers who do not develop PTSD, Service members and veterans diagnosed with PTSD report significantly greater partial sleep deprivation that results from a combination of lower total sleep time, worse sleep efficiency, and higher sleep latency.¹⁶⁸

Several studies demonstrate that partial sleep deprivation can worsen the occurrence of daytime PTSD symptoms. Sleep deprivation at four months following return from deployment predicts the severity of PTSD symptoms at 12 months.¹⁶⁹ Partial sleep deprivation of less than six hours of sleep per night served as the strongest predictor of PTSD symptoms among Service members 90–180 days following deployment.¹⁷⁰ Service members and veterans with partial sleep deprivation of less than four hours per night are at greater risk of having persistent PTSD symptoms that extend over a seven to ten year period.¹⁷¹ Furthermore, sleep-related symptoms partially account for the relationship between combat exposure and development of PTSD symptoms; this finding suggests that partial sleep deprivation should be addressed early among Service members at risk for PTSD.¹⁷²

Depression

Overall estimates suggest that 60 to 84 percent of patients with depression report insomnia, with associated sleep deprivation as a primary symptom.¹⁷³ Across military and civilian population samples, partial sleep deprivation significantly increases risk of developing depression symptoms.^{174,175,176,177} Risk of sleep deprivation as a secondary effect of insomnia also may continue after remission of depression symptoms.¹⁷⁸ Among Service members, partial sleep deprivation experienced prior to deployment increases the risk of developing depression symptoms following deployment.¹⁷⁹ Sleep deprivation may also be the primary factor that determines whether combat-exposed Service members develop depression symptoms, since sleep deprivation partially accounts for the relationship between combat exposure and depression symptoms.¹⁸⁰ Similarly, sleep deprivation may account for the link between TBI and depression symptoms among Service members.¹⁸¹

Sleep Deprivation and Suicide Risk

Several meta-analyses demonstrate a clear association between sleep disruptions—resulting in chronic partial sleep deprivation—and suicidal behavior.^{182,183,184,185} This includes increased risk of suicidal ideation, suicide planning, suicide attempts, and death by suicide. The lowest risk of suicide is associated with eight hours of sleep per night, with an 11 percent increase in risk for each hour of sleep deprivation.¹⁸⁶ Within diagnostic groups at risk of suicide (such as depression and PTSD), sleep disruption and associated chronic partial sleep deprivation approximately double the risk of individuals to engage in suicidal behavior.^{187,188}

Findings among military populations have been less clear. One study of U.S. military personnel showed an association between reported insomnia symptoms and suicidal ideation, when controlling for other mental health factors.¹⁸⁹ However, an analysis of three U.S. military sample populations receiving mental health care showed no association between severity of chronic partial sleep deprivation and suicidal ideation, when controlling for reports of depression symptoms.¹⁹⁰ In a study of suicide deaths among U.S. Veterans from Operation ENDURING FREEDOM and Operation IRAQI FREEDOM, Veterans reporting sleep problems in the previous year died by suicide significantly sooner (75 days) after their last contact with the Veterans Health Administration than did those who did not report sleep problems (174 days), even when controlling for other mental health factors.¹⁹¹ These studies suggest that reporting of partial sleep deprivation may predict increased risk of suicide, but this relationship may depend on several additional risk factors, such as co-occurring mental health disorders.

Prevalence of Healthcare Encounters to Address Sleep Deprivation

Table 2 details the number of MHS encounters for three different categories coded by providers in medical records related to sleep deprivation: sleep deprivation, insufficient sleep syndrome, and insomnia. These data cover FY 2016-FY 2019. As shown in Table 2, the overall prevalence of sleep deprivation and insufficient sleep syndrome requiring medical care in the MHS is relatively low. Although excluded from the definition of sleep deprivation in this study, the prevalence of insomnia cases—the most common sleep-related condition diagnosed among Service members—is significantly higher and reflects about five to six percent of the overall Service member population.¹⁹² Nonetheless, these rates of insomnia cases are significantly lower than reported rates of sleep deprivation from surveys of Service member sleep patterns.

A clinic-based study of active duty military members found that 68 percent of Service members referred for sleep evaluation reported sleeping less than seven hours per night.¹⁹³ Another study found that among a cohort of female Service members referred for formal sleep evaluations. sleep duration on workdays was significantly less than sleep duration on days off.¹⁹⁴ Given the relative frequency of insomnia cases as shown in Table 2, compared to diagnosed cases of sleep deprivation, it is likely that partial sleep deprivation in the military is due to lifestyle choices and occupational requirements.195,196

modical conditions				
medical conditions				
CONDITION	FY 2016	FY 2017	FY 2018	FY 2019
SLEEP DEPRIVATION				
Total Cases	2,267	1,863	2,374	2,350
Prevalence Estimate [*]	148.42	122.70	154.86	150.44
INSUFFICIENT SLEEP SYNDROME				
Total Cases	1,186	1,371	1,388	1,407
Prevalence Estimate [*]	77.65	90.30	90.54	90.07
INSOMNIA				
Total Cases	88,606	85,360	80,654	80,815
Prevalence Estimate [*]	5,801.01	5,621.92	5,261.32	5,173.66
ANY CONDITION RELATED TO SLEEP				
DEPRIVATION				
Total Cases	90,444	87,223	82,889	83,056
Prevalence Estimate [*]	5,921.34	5,744.62	5,407.11	5,317.13
*Cases per 100,000 Service members. Data retrieved from the MHS Management Analysis				

Table 2 Service members seeking medical care for sleep deprivation and related

and Reporting Tool reflect medical transactions in both the purchased care and direct care systems across both inpatient and outpatient settings, wherein target diagnoses were recorded in any available diagnostic position.

Taken together, the findings above consistently show that Service members report significant rates of chronic partial sleep deprivation. Discrepancies between endorsed sleep deprivation, care seeking behavior, and reported job performance may show that certain groups of Service members lack insight into the unanticipated impact of sleep deprivation, particularly given the body of research reviewed herein that demonstrates its significant impact on functioning.

SUMMARY FINDINGS: SLEEP DEPRIVATION RISK MITIGATION STRATEGIES

Based on the results of this comprehensive review of the impact of sleep deprivation, the following identified areas reflect strategies to mitigate the risk of sleep deprivation and improve sleep among Service members:

- To the extent possible, in non-deployed and training units, duty schedules should afford Service members eight consecutive hours of sleep every 24 hours.
- Duty schedules requiring shift work should implement forward-rotation of changing shifts (day to evening to night), and utilize eight-hour shifts whenever possible.
- Operational and tactical battle plans should account for the impact of sleep deprivation, ensuring eight hours of sleep every 24 hours, with sufficient opportunities for sleep banking and recovery sleep when operational requirements result in less than eight hours of sleep every 24 hours.
- Establishment of an enlisted unit-level sleep trainer to promote the use of strategies to mitigate sleep deprivation throughout the unit and advise command on ensuring that Service members receive adequate opportunity for sleep.
- Provision of leader training in basic officer and non-commissioned officer military professional education courses on sleep leadership and the impact of sleep deprivation on physical performance.
- Provision of pre-deployment training for Service members and leaders on developing an environment conducive to sufficient sleep.
- Provision of health promotion guidance and an educational campaign for Service members on caffeine consumption limits to include identifying products with excessive caffeine content.
- Use of well-established strategies for managing travel-related circadian rhythm disturbance such as those developed by elite athletes.
- Expansion of adoption and training of brief behavioral interventions to address sleep problems in primary and specialty care.
- Promotion of government-developed mobile application use for sleep management, including ensuring Service members have an opportunity to download these mobile applications onto personal mobile devices prior to completion of basic training.
- Establishment of a clearinghouse repository for sleep resources to ensure dissemination and availability to front-line military leadership.

The sections below outline the basis for the above identified risk mitigation strategies.

Commitment to a Duty Schedule that Allows Eight Hours of Sleep

Due to the sustained high OPTEMPO during the past two decades, daily duty requirements have taken priority over Service members obtaining enough sleep to perform these duties at optimal levels. The research reviewed herein clearly demonstrates that the majority of Service members are experiencing partial sleep deprivation, regardless of current duty status (e.g., deployed, in garrison, in training).^{197,198,199} Of all factors reviewed in this report that contribute to sleep deprivation, the most prominent is the need to afford Service members an adequate opportunity for sleep, in response to operational requirements for unplanned and ad-hoc shift work, unpredictable schedules, 24-hour duty assignments, manning shortages, and extended duty hours.^{200,201} Greatly increasing leadership commitment to promote and encourage Service members to obtain adequate sleep, and directing command involvement to ensure an adequate sleep environment, are vital tools to mitigate operational and readiness risks—both physical and mental—associated with sleep deprivation.²⁰²

As the first step toward reducing and mitigating the impact of sleep deprivation in the military, commanders at all levels should commit to sleep leadership through duty schedules that allow Service members to get eight hours of sleep per night.²⁰³ This would include a specific requirement to plan eight hours of sleep for every 24-hour period into training and battle plans, with planned recovery time of two to three consistent nights of sleep, if operational requirements take precedence for any period of seven or more days.^{204,205} In the operational environment, units required to engage in significant sleep deprivation should be placed "off cycle" for at least three nights to ensure recovery to baseline performance. Pilot studies with brigade combat teams have shown that limiting the duty day to eight hours, while adapting schedules to account for family obligations, significantly improved work quality, physical fitness scores, and number of hours sleep per night without negatively impacting unit mission.²⁰⁶ In this way, transformational leadership-through proactive strategies that set a good example and promote collective effortcan mitigate some of the effects of sleep deprivation on work performance in military settings.²⁰⁷ Sleep leadership should be emphasized as a core competency in readiness, and consideration given to evaluating leaders based on whether the Service members in their stewardship are receiving a sufficient number of sleep hours per night.²⁰⁸

Commanders who must operate 24-hour duty cycles should leverage existing research on shift scheduling.²⁰⁹ Eight-hour shifts that synchronize with the 24-hour clock have the least impact on performance and highest satisfaction among Service members.²¹⁰ Forward shift rotation (day to evening to night) has been well established as preferable for both performance and sleep cycles.²¹¹ Longer intervals between shift rotations generally promote better sleep and allow for less circadian disruption.²¹² Furthermore, crew briefings, meals, and other mandatory tasks should account for sleep cycles to avoid interrupting Service member sleep.²¹³

As part of mission planning, military researchers recommend the establishment of specific unitlevel sleep plans for use during training and sustainment operations.²¹⁴ Researchers furthermore recommend the establishment of a "sleep trainer" at the unit level to facilitate sleep plans, monitor individual sleep performance, and train unit members on behavioral strategies for minimizing and mitigating sleep deprivation.²¹⁵

Environmental Considerations

Military leaders and commanders should consider several specific environmental factors when planning where Service members will sleep in training and operational settings.²¹⁶ An optimal sleep environment should include complete darkness, good ventilation, ambient temperatures ranging between 17 degrees Celsius (°C) and 28°C at 40–60 percent relative humidity, and noise levels below 35 decibels (dB).^{217,218} Air conditioning for barracks and operational settings is crucial for ensuring that sleep environments remain within optimal levels.²¹⁹ Non-invasive monitoring of sleep areas should be conducted regularly for factors such as decibel levels from machinery, temperature, and light contamination.²²⁰ Service members should be provided with supplies such as eye masks and earplugs to counteract suboptimal sleep settings.²²¹

Tactical Naps and Sleep Banking

When periods of total sleep deprivation are required due to operational necessity, planning specific periods of sleep before or during sustained operations may be of benefit equal to caffeine.^{222,223} Planned naps are effective in maintaining performance during periods of more than 24 hours of total sleep deprivation,²²⁴ and are most effective when occurring about two-thirds of the way through a period of sleep deprivation and lasting about 20 minutes.^{225,226} Consumption of approximately 100mg of caffeinated gum after waking can minimize grogginess after waking from a scheduled nap during a shift.²²⁷ Based on this research, it is recommended that military commanders consider planned or rotational naps for their personnel during identified periods of sleep deprivation.

A recent body of research suggests that getting extended sleep prior to known periods of sleep deprivation ("sleep banking") can have benefits on performance among sleep-deprived individuals.²²⁸ For example, by getting ten hours of sleep per night prior to a period of partial sleep deprivation, participants in one study showed better alertness and performance during sleep deprivation (sleeping three hours per night) than individuals who did not get additional sleep prior to the known disruption.²²⁹ In the military context, U.S. Army Soldiers who had better subjective sleep quality prior to a period of occupationally mandated sleep loss had greater physical resilience to the sleep loss, suggesting Soldiers with better quality sleep may have naturally obtained banked sleep.²³⁰ In order to implement significant sleep banking, military commanders must ensure that additional sleep is allowed and encouraged during the ramp-up preparation and OPTEMPO period prior to a mission.²³¹ Following periods of high OPTEMPO, commanders should support sleep extension (i.e., affected Service members sleeping more than eight hours per night) in order to restore baseline sleep.²³²

Mitigating the Effect of Sleep Deprivation on Physical Performance

Sleep loss affects physical performance and capabilities. A study of a sample of U.S. Army Soldiers who train others on mountain warfare techniques found that the trainers had poorer balance (a proxy of higher injury risk) following sustained operations (SUSOPS).²³³ Furthermore, findings from two samples of U.S. Army Rangers demonstrated a significant reduction in testosterone, which is critical for muscle recovery after physical activity, following military exercises requiring sleep loss.²³⁴

A variety of factors may contribute to the degree to which sleep deprivation influences physical performance, such as the timing of the sleep restriction, and whether opportunities exist for sleep restoration. For example, athletes who had a single night of partial sleep deprivation at the end of the night (i.e., rising four hours early) experienced reduced muscle strength and power the following afternoon; however, those whose sleep deprivation occurred at the beginning of the night (i.e., delayed bedtime by four hours) experienced no such reductions.²³⁵ Napping prior to physical training might help restore cognitive function and maintain lifting performance in compound movements after sleep deprivation.²³⁶ For example, preliminary research with Swedish Armed Forces cadets who had undergone partial sleep deprivation (five hours of sleep during a 51-hour period) found that taking a 30-minute nap prior to exercise was associated with significant increases in the number of lunges completed in two minutes.²³⁷ Preliminary research (typically lacking proper experimental controls) on extending time in bed prior to specific events among athletes has shown beneficial effects on reaction times, sprint times, accuracy of tennis serves, and successful three-point basketball shots.²³⁸ Thus, prior sleep extension may benefit Service members who engage in a military operation that requires peak physical performance.

Addressing Caffeine Use

Caffeine consumption, particularly through energy drinks, is pervasive in the military.^{239,240,241} Although potential short-term benefits exist when using caffeine as a countermeasure for the effects of total and partial sleep deprivation, the effectiveness of caffeine supplement use on the battlefield to augment wakefulness during periods of sleep deprivation is unclear, if combined with the typical amount of caffeine consumed by Service members through coffee, energy drinks, and other supplements.²⁴² Most studies of operational use of stimulants tightly control the amount of caffeine consumed by participants.^{243,244} Similar to flight medicine, commanders must be aware of the amount of caffeine consumed by their Service members in operational settings, and enforce limits when acute or chronic consumption of this drug exceeds the costbenefit threshold.²⁴⁵ The most consistent findings indicate that limiting controlled administration to 200mg per dose is the most effective in maintaining performance during partial sleep deprivation.²⁴⁶ Routine daily caffeine use should not exceed 400mg, and emergency use of caffeine to combat total sleep deprivation due to operational necessity should not exceed 1000mg.^{247,248,249} Caffeine countermeasures cannot replace the need for sleep; the overuse of this stimulant drug in military settings will disrupt chronic sleep patterns and increase levels of sleep deprivation.^{250,251}

Mitigating Travel-Related Circadian Rhythm Disturbances

Research literature includes a number of specific, well-established techniques to mitigate effects of travel-related circadian rhythm disturbances.²⁵² These include maintaining hydration prior to travel, shifting early to the destination sleep schedule, adhering to destination sleep timing upon arrival, limiting naps to 20–30 minutes in duration, and aligning light exposure with travel direction (morning for eastward, evening for westward).²⁵³ Units deploying across six or more time zones should allow at least two weeks of adaptation time to mitigate any physical and cognitive effects of circadian rhythm disturbances.²⁵⁴ Despite some inconsistent results, melatonin taken one to two hours before sleep may help facilitate time zone transitions for eastward travel, when taken as part of a comprehensive sleep plan.²⁵⁵ Furthermore, melatonin

use has relatively low occurrence of adverse events, indicating it is a safer option for adjusting circadian rhythms than sedative-hypnotics.²⁵⁶

Interventions to Improve Sleep

Several interventions are available to restore a regular sleep cycle for Service members who are experiencing chronic partial sleep deprivation. Behavioral interventions are preferred as a first-line treatment in both primary and secondary care settings, and have more lasting effects than pharmaceutical interventions.²⁵⁷ Brief Behavioral Treatment for Insomnia²⁵⁸ and Cognitive-Behavioral Therapy for Insomnia²⁵⁹ are empirically supported techniques for mitigating chronic partial sleep deprivation and re-establishing a regular sleep cycle. These behavioral interventions are also the front-line intervention for sleep disruption related to mental health conditions, including depression, TBI, and PTSD.^{260,261} The Defense Health Agency has piloted and will further implement a specific Primary Care Sleep Improvement Clinical Pathway that ensures training for all primary care behavioral health consultants in the delivery of behaviorally based treatments for insomnia. Initial results show these interventions can be effectively modified for the military operational environment, including use of remote consultation via internet or telephone.^{262,263,264} Furthermore, addressing sleep-related issues in primary care settings may be a pathway for preventing the onset of depression or anxiety symptoms among Service members who may hesitate to seek mental health treatment.²⁶⁵

Mobile Applications for Sleep Management

To enable direct use of sleep management tools by Service members, military leaders should actively promote existing mobile applications developed by the DoD and the Department of Veterans Affairs.²⁶⁶ Service members should not leave basic training without these sleep management mobile applications installed on their smartphones. The following mobile applications and related digital tools are available at no cost, and are based on empirically supported interventions:

- The Breathe2Relax mobile application can promote sleep onset by decreasing physiological arousal through relaxation exercises.²⁶⁷ Its parallel version—the Tactical Breather—was designed specifically for use in military field settings.
- The Military Meditation Coach podcast similarly provides Service members with relaxation scripts to promote better sleep for use in any setting. These scripts were developed specifically as part of the Navy Mind-Body Medicine program.²⁶⁸
- The CBT-I Coach mobile application allows Service members to track nightly sleep, identify patterns of sleep deprivation, and receive useful feedback to improve sleep behavior.²⁶⁹
- The DreamEZ mobile application assists Service members in Imagery Rehearsal Therapy, an empirically supported treatment for reducing nightmares related to traumatic events.²⁷⁰
- The 2B-Alert web and smartphone application was specifically designed to predict the effects of sleep deprivation and provide guidance on how to optimize sleep schedules and caffeine dosing for any given sleep/wake schedule.²⁷¹

Current Lines of Effort in Military Sleep Research

Military research labs and academic partners are engaged in several ongoing lines of research aimed at mitigating the occurrence and impact of sleep deprivation among military personnel. These efforts include:

- Enhanced fatigue management tools intended for use at the individual Service member and squad levels.
- Cutting-edge assessment of the effects of sleep deprivation on brain physiology (to identify highly specific targets for development of next-generation interventions to sustain performance and brain health).
- Nutritional supplements and pharmacology that facilitate fatigue management, including novel formulations of existing products.
- Transcranial electrical stimulation to mitigate performance degradation and improve recovery time following sleep deprivation.
- Acoustic stimulation to mitigate performance degradation and improve recovery time following sleep deprivation.
- Ruggedized technologies to track sleep and performance in operational environments.
- Command policy and training to enhance sleep leadership.

Future research priorities include:

- Optimization of interventions to promote a healthy sleep-wake cycle in operational environments.
- Development of sleep strategy interventions (e.g., tactical combination of nocturnal sleep and daytime napping schedules) to maximize performance and alertness in operational environments.
- Identification of novel biomarkers that reflect and quantify an individual's extant level of sleep debt, and its implications for health and performance.
- Further development of ruggedized technologies for fatigue management on the battlefield.
- Development of individualized and unit-level technology for non-intrusive and non-invasive monitoring, prediction, and prevention of fatigue-related performance decrements.
- Development of countermeasures to prevent and/or reverse circadian misalignment to

maximize human performance during Multi-Domain Operations.

CONCLUSION

Sleep deprivation is common in the military, and impacts military performance and readiness. Numerous factors, alone or in combination, can result in sleep deprivation, including operations in austere environments not conducive to sleep, nighttime operations, sleep pathologies, and several psychiatric conditions. It is recommended that the DoD establish policy to promote a culture shift with regard to prioritizing adequate sleep in the military. In summary:

- Duty schedules must be adopted to ensure eight hours of sleep.
- Unit-level sleep trainer positions should be established.
- Training in sleep leadership should be implemented.
- Education and other steps should be taken to decrease caffeine use.
- Existing research-based strategies should be adopted to address travel-related circadian rhythm disruption.
- Use of brief behavioral interventions and mobile applications for sleep disruption should be expanded.
- A clearinghouse for military sleep-related resources should be established.

Adequate sleep is a key component of readiness. Although military leaders are increasingly recognizing the importance of adequate sleep, further shifts in cultural attitudes regarding sleep deprivation will help ensure the optimization and sustainment of Service member performance and health.

ACRONYMS

BIISS	behaviorally-induced insufficient sleep syndrome
DoD	Department of Defense
FY	fiscal year
MHS	Military Health System
OPTEMPO	operations tempo
PTSD	posttraumatic stress disorder
TBI	traumatic brain injury

DEFINITIONS

Operations Tempo	The rate of U.S. military involvement in all military activities or unit activity. Tempos are too high or low if they cause forces to lose their capacity to sustain operations and meet crises. The most significant negative impact of tempos that are too high is the reduction in time and resources for relevant, necessary training—the basis of readiness and long- term effectiveness.
Sleep Deprivation (Military)	Inadequate sleep that negatively impacts a Service member's military effectiveness due to a reduced ability to execute complex cognitive tasks, communicate effectively, quickly make appropriate decisions, maintain vigilance, and/or sustain a level of alertness required to carry out assigned duties.
Sleep Deprivation (Partial)	At least one night of interrupted or partial sleep, typically operationalized as less than seven hours of sleep per night for adults.
Sleep Deprivation (Total)	A period of continuous wakefulness that exceeds 24 hours, or getting zero sleep time during the typical sleep-wake cycle.
Sleep Deprivation (Chronic)	Partial sleep deprivation with at least one week during which an individual receives less than seven hours of sleep on most nights and is unable to get sufficient recovery sleep to make up for lost sleep time.
Sleep Disruption	Fragmented sleep due to periods of brief arousal, breathing interruptions, or other mid-sleep awakening.
Sleep Banking	Receiving extended sleep prior to known periods of sleep deprivation.
Sleep Trainer	Unit-level personnel trained to facilitate sleep plans, monitor individual sleep performance, and train unit members on behavioral strategies for minimizing and mitigating sleep deprivation.

ATTACHMENT 1: SUBTYPES OF SLEEP DEPRIVATION

Total Sleep Deprivation

Human studies demonstrate that total sleep deprivation negatively affects almost all cognitive domains.²⁷² Total sleep deprivation worsens performance the longer an individual goes without sleep, and is related to deficits in attention, processing speed, accuracy, short-term and long-term memory, decision-making, and reaction time.²⁷³ A meta-analysis shows that each successive day of total sleep deprivation results in a 22 percent decrement in task accuracy at night and a seven percent decrement in task accuracy during daylight hours.²⁷⁴ In addition, total sleep deprivation significantly increases acute anxiety, decreases the ability to regulate emotions, and increases the stress response, with worsening effects over 24–36 hours of total sleep deprivation.²⁷⁵ Neuroimaging studies suggest that total sleep deprivation has the same overall effects on the brain as clinically significant symptoms of attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder.²⁷⁶ Occupational studies indicate that total sleep deprivation decreases self-control, while increasing hostility, risk-taking behavior, and deviant workplace behaviors (such as theft).²⁷⁷ Furthermore, studies show that total sleep deprivation negatively affects several domains related to routine work duties, such as receptive and expressive speech, memory, and verbal arithmetic.²⁷⁸ Thus, a Service member with total sleep deprivation may be at greater risk of not fully comprehending verbal instructions, remembering what was said in mission briefings, and having greater difficulties articulating instructions when giving orders.

Studies of Service members demonstrate an association between significant declines in military performance and total sleep deprivation. Overall estimates suggest that each 24-hour period of total sleep deprivation results in a 25–35 percent degradation of cognitive task performance.^{279,280} Among Navy SEAL Candidates, marksmanship speed and accuracy significantly worsen after three days of total sleep deprivation.²⁸¹ Soldiers with two days of total sleep deprivation show significant decreases in marksmanship accuracy (61 percent overall) and vigilance during urban operations (44 percent overall), with delayed reaction time for all tasks.²⁸² A study of active duty military personnel demonstrated that more than 48 hours of total sleep deprivation resulted in significant judgment impairment in moral scenarios, particularly in emotionally charged situations.²⁸³ One night of sleep deprivation among F-117 pilots degrades basic piloting skills by more than 40 percent.²⁸⁴ Other research shows that United States Military Academy cadets undergoing 24 hours of total sleep deprivation demonstrate significant deficits in learning to differentiate stimuli, which can have implications for differentiating types of intelligence data or identifying whether a battlefield target is an ally or adversary.²⁸⁵ Over a 53hour training period with only three hours of sleep, Soldiers showed significant decreases in cognitive functioning, to include attention, memory, and reasoning, as well as significant symptoms of confusion and depression.²⁸⁶ Research conducted with Australian Army personnel undergoing 40 hours of total sleep deprivation also replicated previous findings, which demonstrated that several executive functions-to include inhibitory control, task-switching, and vigilance—deteriorate with total sleep deprivation.²⁸⁷ These results indicate that sleep deprivation can compromise core capabilities underlying military decision-making. Total sleep deprivation can also have consequences that are more serious; reports from Norwegian officers show that hallucinations are common during extended periods of total sleep deprivation.²⁸⁸ Taken together, these findings clearly demonstrate that sustained operations involving total sleep deprivation negatively affect military performance.

Partial Sleep Deprivation

Partial sleep deprivation, also called sleep restriction, is more common than total sleep deprivation. It can have noticeable effects following sleep reduction by only one hour per night; these effects become far more pronounced when sleep is restricted to less than four to five hours per night.²⁸⁹ Chronic partial sleep deprivation has been linked to a number of neurobehavioral deficits, including attention lapses, slowed working memory, longer reaction time, thought perseveration, and depressed mood, which can accumulate over several days to the same levels after one-three nights of total sleep deprivation.^{290,291,292} A meta-analysis shows that partial sleep deprivation primarily affects executive functioning, sustained attention, and long-term memory, but may have more variable impact on multitasking, impulsive decision making, and problem solving.²⁹³ The overall effect of partial sleep deprivation on cognitive functioning is more pronounced if sleep deprivation is a loss of five or more hours of sleep per night (an 11 percent decrement), compared to a loss of two to five hours of sleep (a nine percent decrement), and a loss of less than two hours of sleep (a three percent decrement).²⁹⁴ This meta-analysis also indicates that over the course of one week, individuals typically experience a one percent loss in task accuracy for each night of partial sleep deprivation, when getting five to six hours of sleep per night, and a seven percent loss in task accuracy for each night of partial sleep deprivation, when getting three to four hours of sleep per night.²⁹⁵ Demographic factors may affect overall decrements associated with partial sleep deprivation. Within the military age range, cognitive deficits due to partial sleep deprivation significantly increase with age, while partial sleep deprivation has a lesser effect on sustained attention among women than men.²⁹⁶

Partial sleep deprivation compromises an individual's emotional self-regulation abilities.²⁹⁷ Those with partial sleep deprivation experience greater levels of stress and anger when engaging in low stressor tasks than those who are not sleep deprived.²⁹⁸ Other research shows that complex cognitive task performance, such as working memory and team performance, deteriorates the longer individuals undergo sleep deprivation, which creates a specific risk for the impact of sleep deprivation when managing unexpected emergencies.²⁹⁹ This is especially concerning in a military operational environment, where unit leaders often face significant and unexpected crises. If these leaders are sleep deprived, it is likely that their reasoning abilities, problems solving skills, and communication abilities are compromised, placing the mission and Service members' lives at risk.³⁰⁰

Specific to military contexts, partial sleep deprivation has a significant impact on mission-related performance. In the combat environment, 28 percent of Service members reported falling asleep during mission briefings, and eight percent of Service members reported falling asleep while on guard duty.³⁰¹ Drowsiness is also a significant cause of accidents in combat and training environments. For example, 46 percent of Army drill sergeants reported falling asleep while supervising trainees, which could lead to injuries and accidents during rifle marksmanship, obstacle courses, or land navigation.³⁰² Approximately 40 percent of deployed Service members with less than seven hours sleep per night reported a safety-related accident due to sleepiness, of which 21.7 percent of Service members reported three hours of sleep or less.³⁰³ In a sample of Army aviation personnel who received an average of less than seven hours of sleep per night, 72 percent reported they had flown when drowsy enough to compromise safety, while 45 percent reported they had "dozed off" while flying or in the cockpit.³⁰⁴ A subsequent study of Army aviation personnel also

identified that 49 percent of the study sample slept less than necessary, while 21 percent reported "dozing off" while flying.³⁰⁵ In a field training environment, increased sleep deprivation among Marines directly predicted worse performance on obstacle course tasks.³⁰⁶ U.S. Army field training data suggest that effectiveness in key combat task performance degrades by 15–25 percent for each hour of partial sleep deprivation per night; an estimated 15 percent of total combat effectiveness results when Soldiers sleep only four hours per night.³⁰⁷ Sleep deprivation may also affect military leadership. Norwegian officer cadets averaging two to three hours of sleep per night during combat survival exercises showed significant decreases in transformation and transactional leadership behavior, but significant increases in passive-avoidant leadership behavior.³⁰⁸

ATTACHMENT 2: IMPACT OF SLEEP DEPRIVATION IN SPECIFIC MILITARY CONTEXTS

A number of specific military contextual factors relate to the prevalence of sleep deprivation. These factors include travel crossing multiple time zones, maladaptive sleep practices in operational settings, and inhospitable sleep environments.

Travel Crossing Multiple Time Zones

Approximately 60 percent of individuals crossing at least two time zones experience circadian rhythm disturbances or "jet lag" for at least one day following travel.³⁰⁹ When travelling east, an individual will typically experience problems with falling and staying asleep; for westbound travel, individuals typically experience problems staying asleep for the entire night.³¹⁰ This circadian rhythm disturbance results in partial sleep deprivation, typically between 30 minutes and two hours.^{311,312,313} A number of factors predict the severity and duration of circadian rhythm disturbance and accompanying partial sleep deprivation. A more significant effect is seen for westbound travel, longer flight duration, greater number of time zones crossed, and more hours of sleep lost during travel, as well as among older individuals.³¹⁴ Total sleep time and fatigue also may increase after travel across multiple time zones due to travel-related disruptions and poor sleep environment.³¹⁵ Scheduling of flights also plays a role in sleep deprivation related to crossing multiple time zones. If passengers travel on overnight eastbound flights (i.e., "red-eye" flights, or international flights that arrive early in the morning in the destination time zone), then they will tend to have a greater number of hours of sleep deprivation before sleeping the next night than typical westbound flights (which arrive late in the day).³¹⁶ Travel-related circadian rhythm disturbances most frequently result in poor sleep and appetite loss, with consequent tiredness during the day and poorer occupational performance.^{317,318} Studies consistently show that jet lag results in diminished performance on physical tasks, particularly during the first 72 hours, even with sufficient sleep time.^{319,320,321} Studies among high-performance athletes suggest that physical and mental adaptation to the new time zone requires one half day per hour of time difference when traveling west, and one full day per hour of time difference when traveling east.^{322,323} As a corrective strategy, reviews of the literature differ on whether exogenous melatonin facilitates adjustment to new time zones.^{324,325,326}

Mission-Related Maladaptive Sleep Practices

Occupational duty requirements may be the most prominent factor driving chronic partial sleep deprivation among Service members. Unplanned and ad-hoc shift work, unpredictable schedules, 24-hour duty assignments, and manning shortages all can result in sleep deprivation among Service members.³²⁷ In both deployed and garrison settings, military personnel face extended duty hours in order to accomplish all maintenance, training, and administrative duty requirements.³²⁸ When deployed, between 15 and 21 percent of Soldiers report that high operations tempo (OPTEMPO) results in partial or total sleep deprivation.³²⁹ Service members in all branches report significantly greater rates of sleep deprivation during duty days (65 percent reporting less than seven hours of sleep per night) compared to weekends (21 percent reporting less than seven hours of sleep per night), indicating that the planned duty day plays a significant role in sleep deprivation.³³⁰ A significant percent of Service members (36–38 percent of Soldiers and 27–33 percent of Marines) indicate that the length of the duty day provides insufficient time to complete personal business, resulting in restricted opportunity to sleep.³³¹ Related to this

finding, only five to six percent of Service members report that off-duty leisure activities (such as video games) contributed to sleep loss in deployed settings.³³² Certain leader assignments also may impose sleep deprivation due to occupational demands. For example, 93 percent of U.S. Army drill sergeants report getting six or fewer hours of sleep per night while typically working more than 14 hours per day for at least six days per week.³³³

Although sleep deprivation in the military has been compared to related occupational categories, military Service members (55–76 percent) report significantly greater rates of partial sleep deprivation than firefighters (46 percent), law enforcement officers (40 percent), and healthcare professionals (40 percent).³³⁴ In fact, active duty military personnel were excluded from the nationwide American Time Use Survey that assessed sleep due to the fact that military occupational requirements would disrupt normal sleep schedules, when compared to the general U.S. population.³³⁵ Culturally, maximum performance while sleep deprived has been touted as a key skill for military personnel, and that operating on restricted sleep demonstrates toughness.^{336,337} Attitudes toward sleep among military commands range from viewing sleep as a controlled ration to asserting that a need for sleep is a sign of weakness.³³⁸ Despite reporting significant sleep deprivation, only a minority of Service members indicate sleep deprivation affects their overall job performance.³³⁹ Army surveys from 2009–2013 show that 27–34 percent of Soldiers reported significant concern about not getting enough sleep, although this rate has significantly decreased over time.³⁴⁰ Nonetheless, 56 percent of Service members indicate that they get less sleep than needed to perform their military duties well.³⁴¹ Leadership also plays a significant role in whether Service members in a given unit suffer from partial sleep deprivation. U.S. Army surveys indicate that only 26 percent of leaders encourage Service members to get adequate sleep, 24 percent work to ensure an adequate sleep environment, and 35 percent consider sleep as an important factor in operational planning, such as establishing an adequate shift rotation that ensures sufficient sleep.³⁴²

A number of studies investigated the impact of shift work in military populations. While deployed, between 32 and 40 percent of Soldiers report that nighttime duties significantly affect sleep.³⁴³ Air Force night shift workers report significantly greater sleep problems than day shift workers.³⁴⁴ A comparison of duty watch schedules among Navy personnel showed that the fivehour on ten-hour off duty watch schedule resulted in significantly more sleep per day (6.9 hours of sleep) compared to six-hour on/six-hour off (5.9 hours of sleep) or modified six-hour on/eighteen-hour off (5.7 hours) duty watch schedule, but equivalent to a three-hour on/ninehour off (6.5 hours of sleep) duty watch schedule.³⁴⁵ However, the rotating circadian pattern of the five-hour on/ten-hour off duty watch schedule caused a recurrent pattern of changing sleep time that also resulted in repeated instances of Sailors getting only four hours of sleep prior to a 20–22 hour period of sustained wakefulness.³⁴⁶ Furthermore, Sailors on the five-hour on/tenhour off and six-hour on/six-hour off duty watch schedules showed decrements in psychomotor vigilance compared to the other schedules.³⁴⁷ Another evaluation showed that Navy personnel preferred eight-hour duty shifts to twelve-hour duty shifts, with eight-hour shifts associated with fewer errors in tasks requiring psychomotor vigilance, although both shifts generally entail less than seven hours of sleep per day.³⁴⁸ Similar research examined shift cycles and sleep onboard submarines. Without light controls on an 18-hour duty submarine cycle, Service members did not show regular sleep and wake patterns, demonstrating that social cues (e.g., meals, clocks) were insufficient to establish circadian rhythm.³⁴⁹ However, a comparison of the 18-hour duty schedule (6-hour on/12-hour off) to a compressed schedule designed to synchronize with the 24hour clock demonstrated that crew members tended to sleep more on the 18-hour schedule (7.1 hours per night) than the 24-hour schedule (6.3 hours per night).³⁵⁰ A study of a French submarine crew on a three-day (72 hour) shift rotation that included 28 hours set aside for sleep with specific light level controls showed that members were able to maintain total sleep time between 6.5–7 hours of sleep per night throughout a 70-day period.³⁵¹ Other evaluations have shown that Army aviation personnel assigned to the night shift frequently report working between 10–14 hours per shift, and typically get less than six hours of sleep per night.³⁵² In contrast, adhering to strict safety standards to ensure adequate sleep between duty shifts can significantly affect reported sleep deprivation. Data from the Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System show that air transportation workers in the United States, who must adhere to federal standards for sleep between shifts, have one of the lowest rates (21 percent) of reported sleep deprivation.³⁵³ Taken together, these findings suggest that scheduling specific time in the duty day for sufficient sleep may be the best method of maintaining 24-hour operations without contributing to sleep deprivation.

A specific type of military readiness involves the ability to execute sustained operations (SUSOPS), which involve exposure to extreme situations and severe environmental conditions for several days without the opportunity for full physical recovery to baseline (i.e., sleep or nutrition).³⁵⁴ The intent of SUSOPS is to simulate the demands of potential combat situations that would not allow for scheduled rest or meals for a period of two to seven days.³⁵⁵ Studies on the effects of SUSOPS typically have examined partial to total sleep deprivation, with less than three hours of uninterrupted sleep over a period of up to nine days.³⁵⁶ Reviews show that SUSOPS exercises significantly decrease task vigilance, reaction time, reasoning ability, and working memory, with a consistent decrement in performance by 25 percent for each day of near-total sleep deprivation.^{357,358} In addition, SUSOPS increase risk of bone fractures, loss of muscle mass, and sleep-related physical decrements.³⁵⁹ Although 24-hour operations have become the norm for the U.S. military over the past two decades, it is important to note that 24hour operations are not analogous with SUSOPS.³⁶⁰ Whereas SUSOPS training may be required to establish capability, it must not be assumed that Service members can function regularly in a SUSOPS environment. Regular 24-hour operations require sufficient sleep periods to ensure that Service member performance and readiness do not degrade.^{361,362,363} If a period of SUSOPS is required for two to three days due to emergency or disaster relief situations, Service members require at least a 12-hour sleep recovery period during nighttime hours to restore normal functioning.³⁶⁴ In a mature battlespace, SUSOPS should not be required except in emergency situations, and military commanders should be able to establish regular sleep cycles for their units.365,366

Uncomfortable and Inhospitable Sleep Environments

Due to the nature of military operations in austere locations worldwide, a number of environmental factors in combat, training, and operational settings may contribute to sleep deprivation.³⁶⁷ Between 27 and 35 percent of deployed Army personnel surveyed during 2010–2013 reported that poor sleep environment impacted their ability to get sufficient sleep.³⁶⁸ Although Service members may be encouraged to "sleep whenever you can" in operational settings, it is unlikely that sleeping in tactical vehicles, military aircraft, large transient tents or hangars, or near machinery is restorative.³⁶⁹ Deployed Air Force personnel reported that loud noise outside sleeping tents, uncomfortable beds, loud noise inside sleeping tents, and

uncomfortable heat/cold were the most common environmental factors that affected sleep.³⁷⁰ A study among deployed aircrews from the Royal New Zealand Air Force similarly reported that decibel levels and temperatures in the sleeping quarters exceeded comfortable levels frequently overnight and regularly during the daytime.³⁷¹

Ambient temperature is an important environmental factor that can contribute to partial sleep deprivation.³⁷² When deployed to warmer climates, Service members may require several days for the regulation of their core body temperature to normalize, which results in partial sleep deprivation.³⁷³, Summer nighttime temperatures in Iraq and Afghanistan during Operation IRAQI FREEDOM and Operation ENDURING FREEDOM frequently exceeded ideal ranges for sleep initiation.^{374,375} When daytime temperatures in the deployed environment exceed 90°F, most base construction projects occur at night; however, this causes significant noise that disrupts the sleep of Service members in tents.³⁷⁶ Furthermore, most U.S. military basic training sites are in locations with daytime temperatures exceeding 90°F for more than 50 days per year, potentially contributing to sleep deprivation among trainees.³⁷⁷ Due to the impact of extreme temperatures on sleep deprivation among Service members, air conditioning infrastructure is critical in deployed and field settings.³⁷⁸ Conversely, military trainees also report they receive insufficient bedding to stay warm during the night in barracks, which contributes to partial sleep deprivation.³⁷⁹

Occupational factors also can interact with environmental factors to worsen sleep deprivation. Problems caused by shift work during 24-hour operations can be exacerbated by light and noise contamination, if crew sleeping areas are not set aside from daytime operation personnel, not adequately blacked out to ensure darkness, or are still used for mission-related tasks (such as obtaining keys or log books).³⁸⁰ In initial entry settings, trainees reported several factors that disrupt sleep, such as excessive noise in communal sleeping areas, light contamination from security lights, and rotational nighttime duties that woke both the trainees and their bunkmates.³⁸¹ Furthermore, co-location of crew sleeping areas with work areas—such as flight crews sleeping near the airfield—tends to contribute to significant sleep disruption due to noise in 24-hour operational environments.³⁸² All of these factors suggest that maintaining adequate sleep for personnel should be a primary consideration in establishing operational rotations, work locations, and standard operating procedures.

ATTACHMENT 3: PHARMACOLOGICAL INTERVENTION TO SUPPORT OPERATIONS TEMPO

Caffeine

On average, Service members consume approximately 212mg to 285mg of caffeine per day, with significantly greater consumption among men than women.^{383,384,385} In comparison, U.S. adults consume an average of 165mg–210mg of caffeine per day.^{386,387,388} However, rates of caffeine consumption among military recruits appear to be generally comparable to high school and college samples.³⁸⁹ Reviews on the health effects of caffeine suggest that daily consumption of 400mg of caffeine or less is typically safe.^{390,391} Military recommendations for maximum daily caffeine intake range from 400mg–1000mg, but acknowledge that subsequent side effects may occur.^{392,393,394} Caffeine can be lethal at overdose levels of 10,000mg or higher.³⁹⁵ Doses of 400mg of caffeine have been shown to cause partial sleep deprivation of at least one hour, if consumed up to six hours before bedtime.³⁹⁶

Evidence synthesized from across military and civilian studies demonstrates some support that moderate doses of caffeine (approximately 300mg) can maintain levels of alertness, attention, vigilance, and reasoning during sleep deprivation.^{397,398} Nonetheless, caffeine may not have comparably positive effects on memory, judgement, or decision making during sleep deprivation.^{399,400} In addition, caffeine doses over 200mg show positive effects on physical performance, including time-trial or sprint speed, muscle strength and endurance, and time-toexhaustion.⁴⁰¹ Caffeine use may need to be monitored or limited during periods of prolonged sleep deprivation. For example, although caffeine can improve functioning temporarily during sleep deprivation, 300mg of caffeine is generally no better than 200mg for restoring cognitive performance during 48 hours of total sleep deprivation.⁴⁰² This suggests that for most people and under most conditions, a dose of 200mg caffeine may occupy the majority of available adenosine receptors in the brain, so that doses in excess of 200mg provide diminishing returns. A number of military studies examined the use of caffeine to ameliorate the effects of partial and total sleep deprivation during training and operational tasks. In field training settings, several positive effects of caffeine have been identified. In a study of SEAL candidates with 72 hours of neartotal sleep deprivation, doses of 100mg to 300mg of caffeine did not improve marksmanship, but doses of 200mg and 300mg of caffeine significantly improved vigilance, reaction time, and alertness compared to a placebo condition.⁴⁰³ Similarly, in studies of special forces personnel undergoing field training, 200mg doses of caffeine maintained vigilance during overnight field observation tasks compared to placebo, as well as improving four-mile run times; however, marksmanship accuracy and speed were not affected by caffeine.^{404,405,406,407} Several of these findings also have been replicated in international military settings.⁴⁰⁸ Physical performance during field tasks while sleep deprived also can be maintained with caffeine, such as findings that a 600mg dose of caffeine helps sustain performance during a forced march, treadmill run, and sandbag piling task.⁴⁰⁹ In contrast to studies showing no effect of caffeine on marksmanship, only one study has shown that caffeine maintained marksmanship performance compared to placebo during sleep deprivation, although this may have been due to factors such as caffeine-related enhancement of "sighting time" or "target selection" (i.e., factors that vary from study to study) rather than differences in shooting accuracy, per se. 410,411,412,413

Caffeine formulation may also be an important consideration for military operations, especially when caffeinated drinks are unavailable. Studies using caffeine gum have shown that administration can be effective for minimizing fatigue after being awakened in the middle of the night, and that caffeine gum can significantly reduce the negative effects of partial sleep deprivation on alertness and performance for at least three days.^{414,415} Several studies among the French Armed Forces suggest that slow-release caffeine capsules are effective in maintaining cognitive performance during total sleep deprivation of 2–3 days, including positive effects on reaction time, attention, and executive functioning without negative effects on subsequent recovery sleep.^{416,417,418}

Studies among aviation personnel have shown less consistent results. A study of 111 combat operation sorties showed that 86 percent of F-15E aircrew regularly used caffeine (with typical daily doses of 200–300mg), 63 percent of sorties were conducted after consuming caffeine, and caffeine was used during flight in 13 percent of sorties.⁴¹⁹ In a study of U.S. Air Force pilots in a U2 simulator, two doses of 200mg of caffeine (400mg total) allowed pilots to maintain cognitive task performance during a 9-hour total sleep deprivation period.⁴²⁰ However, 200mg doses of caffeine did not reverse the decrements in flight simulator performance among Finnish military pilots after 37 hours of sleep deprivation; although pilots receiving caffeine reported overconfidence in performance, and overestimated their own performance level.^{421,422} These findings notwithstanding, the intent of controlled caffeine administration in these settings is to maintain operational performance at typical levels when Service members are sleep deprived.⁴²³ The efficacy of caffeine and other psychostimulants is transient, and can delay—but not replace—the need for sleep.⁴²⁴ The positive effect of caffeine on performance maintenance during sleep deprivation has only been identified over a 48–72 hour period of continuous wakefulness. Thus, the findings reviewed should not be generalized to settings in which Service members are continuously ingesting caffeine at the same levels (such as through energy drinks) over extended periods of partial sleep deprivation.^{425,426} Other studies suggest reduced effectiveness of caffeine following consistent dosing for three days of partial sleep deprivation.⁴²⁷ High doses of caffeine also can affect subsequent recovery sleep following total sleep deprivation.⁴²⁸ Overuse or misuse (e.g., too close to bedtime) of stimulants in military environments can disrupt sleep patterns, resulting in a greater need for caffeine during the day to stay awake, potentially creating a "vicious circle" of increasing use of caffeine in the daytime prompted by increasingly caffeine-disrupted nighttime sleep.⁴²⁹

Energy Drinks

Although coffee is the most prevalent source of daily caffeine among Service members overall, energy drinks are the most common source among younger Service members.⁴³⁰ Energy drinks are considered dietary supplements, with caffeine content typically ranging from 80–300mg per serving.⁴³¹ Data from the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES) shows that 2.7 percent of the general U.S. population regularly consumes energy drinks, with the highest use (7.6 percent) among younger men (ages 19–30).⁴³² In contrast, studies show significantly higher rates of energy drink consumption in the U.S. military. For example, a survey of military personnel in operational, training, and medical settings found that 53 percent of Service members consumed at least one energy drink in the past 30 days, and 38 percent consumed an energy drink one or more times per week.⁴³³ U.S. Army personnel are the most frequent users of energy drinks (54 percent), and U.S. Air Force personnel (26 percent) are the

least frequent.⁴³⁴ Studies of U.S. Army and U.S. Marine Corps personnel stationed in Afghanistan showed that 45 to 60 percent of Service members consumed at least one energy drink per day, with five percent consuming five or more energy drinks per day.^{435,436} Other deployed samples show that 43 percent of Soldiers increase consumption of energy drinks while deployed.⁴³⁷ However, this trend may be the result of increased availability of certain brands of energy drinks in deployed settings, often due to contract purchasing.⁴³⁸ Increases in energy drink consumption during deployment also may continue after Service members return home.⁴³⁹ Although the Navy and Marine Corps prohibit consuming energy drinks prior to flying military aircraft, a significant proportion of pilot candidates report a history of utilizing energy drinks to stay alert.⁴⁴⁰ Similarly, 41 percent of surveyed Army pilots reported regular use of energy drinks.⁴⁴¹

Energy drink consumption also carries significant health risks for those who are sensitive to the effects of caffeine, or who consume excessive amounts of caffeine. Several cases of acute cardiovascular events (including cardiac arrest, myocardial infarction, spontaneous coronary dissection, and coronary vasospasm) related to energy drink consumption have been identified in the past several years, with the majority of these cases showing no prior risk of cardiac disease.^{442,443} Randomized trials of energy drink consumption show that they increase blood pressure, heart rate, QTc interval, and cerebrovascular resistance, significantly stressing overall cardiovascular function.^{444,445,446} Nationwide emergency room visits related to consumption of energy drinks number in the tens of thousands, and at least 34 deaths have been attributed to energy drink consumption (frequently in combination with other drugs).⁴⁴⁷ Caffeine consumption at the levels commonly found in energy drinks also can significantly contribute to insomnia and associated partial sleep deprivation.⁴⁴⁸ Service members who regularly use energy drinks frequently report problems sleeping, although it is unclear whether this energy drink use is the cause of partial sleep deprivation or in response to partial sleep deprivation.⁴⁴⁹ Among Service members in Afghanistan, those consuming three or more energy drinks per day were significantly more likely to report sleeping four or less hours per night.⁴⁵⁰ Sixty percent of Soldiers who report being on sleep medications also report consuming at least one energy drink per day, compared to a significantly lower proportion of Soldiers (43 percent) who are not on sleep medications but report daily energy drink consumption.⁴⁵¹ In contrast to studies on carefully dosed caffeine during military tasks, energy drinks likely provide an irregular dose of caffeine at various intervals, possibly nullifying potential benefits and exacerbating operational risk. Furthermore, given that many energy drinks contain several active substances in addition to caffeine, the effects of these supplements, either alone or in combination with caffeine, have yet to be fully identified.⁴⁵²

Modafinil and Dextroamphetamine

The prescription drug dextroamphetamine is approved for use under the direction of a flight surgeon in U.S. Army, U.S. Navy, U.S. Air Force, and U.S. Marine Corps aviation.^{453,454,455,456} The prescription drug modafinil is also approved for use under the direction of a flight surgeon in the U.S. Air Force, depending on specific Major Command guidance.⁴⁵⁷ A recent study on the prevalence of these drugs in combat aviation operations showed that pilots used either dextroamphetamine or modafinil in 35 percent of combat sorties.⁴⁵⁸ Research on these psychostimulants generally shows that they are safe and effective in counteracting fatigue during combat or other emergency situations, especially when strict dosing and recovery sleep

guidelines are followed.⁴⁵⁹ Studies on the use of modafinil have generally shown that this drug restores and sustains (for several hours) performance during total sleep deprivation. Doses of modafinil from 200mg to 400mg have been effective in maintaining performance on cognitive tasks after 48 hours of total sleep deprivation.⁴⁶⁰ In a study of U.S. Army helicopter pilots, a 200mg dose of modafinil maintained flight simulator performance after 40 hours of total sleep deprivation.⁴⁶¹ A similar study of U.S. Air Force F-117 pilots showed that three 100mg doses of modafinil maintained flight performance during 37 hours of total sleep deprivation.⁴⁶² A combined analysis of five studies of military pilots across various settings showed that modafinil and dextroamphetamine each were effective in counteracting the performance decrementing effects of sleep deprivation.⁴⁶³ Similarly, a study of military helicopter pilots during flight operations with total sleep deprivation of 40 hours showed that modafinil and dextroamphetamine each were effective in maintaining alertness, cognitive functioning, and overall performance.⁴⁶⁴ When directly comparing modafinil to dextroamphetamine and caffeine, research has shown that each of these drugs is effective in counteracting fatigue associated with total sleep deprivation, but also that each remains effective for different durations, and each is differentially effective for restoring performance on different subsets of tasks.^{465,466,467} These results notwithstanding, because of the abuse potential and side effects associated with these relatively strong stimulants, they should only be applied as a last resort—that is, after all other options for ensuring adequate aircrew rest (especially protected sleep time) have been exhausted.⁴⁶⁸ Caffeine remains the only stimulant allowed for military aviation use in several countries.^{469,470} Despite the consistent use of these pharmacological interventions to maximize human performance in limited military aviation settings, ethics principles advocate that such means should only be employed in emergency situations, arguing against expansion of such interventions in other military settings. 471,472,473

Sedative-Hypnotics

Prescription sedative-hypnotic drugs have been used in military contexts. These drugs are most effective for short-term use to promote sleep in inhospitable military environments, to counteract circadian adjustment associated with jet lag, or to facilitate work shift transitions.⁴⁷⁴ Approximately 11 percent of Service members report the use of prescribed sedative-hypnotics to facilitate sleep in deployed settings.⁴⁷⁵ In one study of combat aviation missions, 23 percent of sorties were flown after aircrew members had used sedative-hypnotic drugs to facilitate sleep prior to missions.⁴⁷⁶ Another study of remotely piloted aircraft operators during combat operations showed that sedative-hypnotics were effective in facilitating rapid shift changes associated with a capacity surge without significant side effects or mission impact.⁴⁷⁷ Studies on workplace and operational applications of short-term sedative-hypnotic drug use have shown some benefits. A study of U.S. Army pilots working night shift showed that assisting daytime sleep with sedative-hypnotics resulted in better nighttime alertness and psychomotor vigilance.⁴⁷⁸ Several other studies have shown similar benefits to sedative-hypnotic sleep facilitation prior to periods of total sleep deprivation.^{479,480,481} In addition, a military study showed that sedativehypnotic drugs significantly improved sleep under noise interference conditions.⁴⁸² These findings suggest that sedative-hypnotic medications may be useful for facilitating sleep and subsequent alertness and performance under a variety of conditions. However, these effects may not be realized with short sleep periods (less than eight hours), because performance-impairing "drug hangover" effects may outweigh the benefits obtained from the shortened, hypnoticinduced sleep.^{483,484}

Sedative-hypnotics are often used to treat partial sleep deprivation related to clinical sleep conditions. Between 2009 and 2015, approximately 2.4 million prescriptions for sedative-hypnotic medications were given to active duty Service members.⁴⁸⁵ The adjusted rate of sedative-hypnotic use significantly increased over this period among active duty Service members from approximately 6 to 8 percent.⁴⁸⁶ This is also significantly higher than the rate of three percent among a nationally representative study sample.⁴⁸⁷ Long-term use of sedative-hypnotic drugs by Service members to decrease sleep deprivation is not recommended.⁴⁸⁸ Recent guidelines recommend only brief treatments with these sleep medications to help restore sleep to baseline; behavioral interventions are recommended for long-term treatment of conditions that contribute to sleep deprivation.⁴⁸⁹ Sedative-hypnotic drugs have a wide range of side effects that can directly impact mission readiness, including daytime fatigue, dizziness, anxiety, drowsiness, depression, disinhibition, sleepwalking, impaired cognition, learning deficits, and increased risk of motor vehicle accidents.^{490,491,492,493} For this reason, any use of sedative-hypnotics (other than single administration for operational transition) is typically disqualifying for deployment.⁴⁹⁴

REFERENCES

¹ Thompson, A., Jones, B., & Thornburg, J. (2017). Sleep banking: improving fighter management. *Military Review*, *97*(1), 91-97.

² Meadows, S. O., Engel, C. C., Collins, R. L., Beckman, R. L., Cefalu, M., Hawes-Dawson, J., ... & Williams, K. M. (2018). 2015 Department of Defense Health Related Behaviors Survey (*HRBS*). RAND Corporation.

³ Heaton, K. J., Maule, A. L., Maruta, J., Kryskow, E. M., & Ghajar, J. (2014). Attention and visual tracking degradation during acute sleep deprivation in a military sample. *Aviation, Space, and Environmental Medicine*, 85(5), 497-503.

⁴ LoPresti, M. L., Anderson, J. A., Saboe, K. N., McGurk, D. L., Balkin, T. J., & Sipos, M. L. (2016). The impact of insufficient sleep on combat mission performance. *Military Behavioral Health*, *4*(4), 356-363.

⁵ Miller, N. L., Shattuck, L. G., Matsangas, P., & Dyche, J. (2008). Sleep and academic performance in U.S. military training and education programs. *Mind, Brain, and Education*, 2(1), 29-33.

⁶ Department of the Army. (2013). *Mental Health Advisory Team 9 (MHAT 9) Operation Enduring Freedom (OEF) 2013 Afghanistan*.

⁷ Department of the Army. (2011). *Joint Mental Health Advisory Team 7 (J-MHAT-7) Operation Enduring Freedom 2010 Afghanistan.*

⁸ Brown, D. L., Caldwell, J. L., & Chandler, J. F. (2013, January 1). At war with fatigue: weave sleep into your ops plan or give the enemy an advantage. *Armed Forces Journal*. http://armedforcesjournal.com/at-war-with-fatigue/

⁹ Tefft B. C. (2018). Acute sleep deprivation and culpable motor vehicle crash involvement. *Sleep*, *41*(10), zsy144.

¹⁰ Grier, T., Dinkeloo, E., Reynolds, M., & Jones, B. H. (in press). Sleep duration and musculoskeletal injury incidence in physically active men and women: A study of U.S. Army Special Operation Forces Soldiers. *Sleep Health*.

¹¹ Fullagar, H. H., Skorski, S., Duffield, R., Hammes, D., Coutts, A. J., & Meyer, T. (2015). Sleep and athletic performance: the effects of sleep loss on exercise performance, and physiological and cognitive responses to exercise. *Sports Medicine*, *45*(2), 161-186.

¹² Devine, J. K., Collen, J., Choynowski, J. J., & Capaldi, V. (2020). Sleep disturbances and predictors of nondeployability among active-duty Army Soldiers: an odds ratio analysis of medical healthcare data from fiscal year 2018. *Military Medical Research*, *7*(1), 1-7.

¹³ Crawford, C., Teo, L., Lafferty, L., Drake, A., Bingham, J. J., Gallon, M. D., ... Berry, K. (2017). Caffeine to optimize cognitive function for military mission-readiness: a systematic review and recommendations for the field. *Nutrition Reviews*, *75*(suppl 2), 17–35.

¹⁴ Wesensten, N. J., Hughes, J. D., & Balkin, T. J. (2011). Countermeasures to the neurocognitive deficits associated with sleep loss. *Drug Discovery Today: Disease Models*, 8(4), 139–146.

¹⁵ Good, C. H., Brager, A. J., Capaldi, V. F., & Mysliwiec, V. (2020). Sleep in the United States military. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, *45*(1), 176-191.

¹⁶ Bramoweth, A. D., & Germain, A. (2013). Deployment-related insomnia in military personnel and veterans. *Current Psychiatry Reports*, *15*(10), 401.

¹⁷ Gunia, B. C., Sipos, M. L., LoPresti, M., & Adler, A. B. (2015). Sleep leadership in high-risk occupations: An investigation of Soldiers on peacekeeping and combat missions. *Military Psychology*, 27(4), 197-211.

¹⁸ Adler, A. B., Saboe, K. N., Anderson, J., Sipos, M. L., & Thomas, J. L. (2014). Behavioral health leadership: new directions in occupational mental health. *Current Psychiatry Reports*, *16*(10), 484.

¹⁹ Mantua, J., Bessey, A., Sowden, W. J., Chabuz, R., Brager, A. J., Capaldi, V. F., & Simonelli, G. (2019). A review of environmental barriers to obtaining adequate sleep in the military operational context. *Military Medicine*, *184*(7-8), e259-e266.

²⁰ Thompson, A., Jones, B., & Thornburg, J. (2017). Sleep banking: improving fighter management. *Military Review*, *97*(1), 91-97.

²¹ Sack, R. L. (2010). Jet lag. New England Journal of Medicine, 362(5), 440-447.

²² Lee, M. R. G., Breitstein, J., Hoyt, T., Stolee, J., Baxter, T., Kwon, H., & Mysliwiec, V. (In press). Cognitive behavioral therapy for insomnia among active duty military personnel. *Psychological Services*. doi:10.1037/ser0000340

²³ Cavanagh, R., Mackey, R., Bridges, L., Gleason, A., Ciulla, R., Micheel, L., Bradshaw, D., Armstrong, C., & Hoyt, T. (2020). The use of digital health technologies to manage insomnia in military populations. *Journal of Technology in Behavioral Science*, *5*, 61-69.

²⁴ American Psychiatric Association. (2013). *Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders (DSM-5*[®]). American Psychiatric Publishing.

²⁵ Colten, H. R., & Altevogt, B. M. (2006). *Sleep disorders and sleep deprivation: an unmet public health problem.* Institute of Medicine.

²⁶ Exelmans, L., & Van den Bulck, J. (2019). Sleep research: A primer for media scholars. *Health Communication*, *34*(5), 519-528

²⁷ American Academy of Sleep Medicine. (2014). International Classification of Sleep Disorders (3rd ed.).

²⁸ Kryger, M. H., Roth, T., & Dement, W. C. (2017). *Principles and Practice of Sleep Medicine* (6th ed.). Elsevier.

²⁹ Reynolds, A. C., & Banks, S. (2010). Total sleep deprivation, chronic sleep restriction and sleep disruption. *Progress in Brain Research*, *185*, 91-103.

³⁰ Wickens, C. D., Hutchins, S. D., Laux, L., & Sebok, A. (2015). The impact of sleep disruption on complex cognitive tasks: a meta-analysis. *Human Factors*, *57*(6), 930-946.

³¹ Lieberman, H. R., Niro, P., Tharion, W. J., Nindl, B. C., Castellani, J. W., & Montain, S. J. (2006). Cognition during sustained operations: comparison of a laboratory simulation to field studies. *Aviation, Space, and Environmental Medicine*, *77*(9), 929-935.

³² Kryger, M. H., Roth, T., & Dement, W. C. (2017). *Principles and Practice of Sleep Medicine* (6th ed.). Elsevier.

³³ Gosselin, D., De Koninck, J., & Campbell, K. (2017). Novel measures to assess the effects of partial sleep deprivation on sensory, working, and permanent memory. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *8*, 1607.

³⁴ Watson, N. F., Badr, M. S., Belenky, G., Bliwise, D. L., Buxton, O. M., Buysse, D. ... Tasali, E. (2015). Joint consensus statement of the American Academy of Sleep Medicine and Sleep Research Society on the recommended amount of sleep for a healthy adult: methodology and discussion. *Sleep*, *38*, 1161–1183.

³⁵ Hirshkowitz, M., Whiton, K., Albert, S. M., Alessi, C., Bruni, O., DonCarlos, L., ... & Neubauer, D. N. (2015). National Sleep Foundation's sleep time duration recommendations: methodology and results summary. *Sleep Health*, *1*(1), 40-43.

³⁶ Wild, C. J., Nichols, E. S., Battista, M. E., Stojanoski, B., & Owen, A. M. (2018). Dissociable effects of self-reported daily sleep duration on high-level cognitive abilities. *Sleep*, *41*(12), zsy182.

³⁷ Gosselin, D., De Koninck, J., & Campbell, K. (2017). Novel measures to assess the effects of partial sleep deprivation on sensory, working, and permanent memory. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *8*, 1607.

³⁸ Parker, R. S., & Parker, P. (2017). The impact of sleep deprivation in military surgical teams: a systematic review. *Journal of the Royal Army Medical Corps*, *163*(3), 158-163.

³⁹ Lim, J., & Dinges, D. F. (2010). A meta-analysis of the impact of short-term sleep deprivation on cognitive variables. *Psychological Bulletin*, *136*(3), 375.

⁴⁰ Grandou, C., Wallace, L., Fullagar, H. H., Duffield, R., & Burley, S. (2019). The effects of sleep loss on military physical performance. *Sports Medicine*, *49*, 1159–1172.

⁴¹ McLellan, T. M., Kamimori, G. H., Bell, D. G., Smith, I. F., Johnson, D., & Belenky, G. (2005). Caffeine maintains vigilance and marksmanship in simulated urban operations with sleep deprivation. *Aviation, Space, and Environmental Medicine*, *76*(1), 39-45.

⁴² LoPresti, M. L., Anderson, J. A., Saboe, K. N., McGurk, D. L., Balkin, T. J., & Sipos, M. L. (2016). The impact of insufficient sleep on combat mission performance. *Military Behavioral Health*, *4*(4), 356-363.

⁴³ Olsen, O. K., Pallesen, S., & Jarle, E. (2010). The impact of partial sleep deprivation on moral reasoning in military officers. *Sleep*, *33*(8), 1086-1090.

⁴⁴ Heaton, K. J., Maule, A. L., Maruta, J., Kryskow, E. M., & Ghajar, J. (2014). Attention and visual tracking degradation during acute sleep deprivation in a military sample. *Aviation, Space, and Environmental Medicine*, 85(5), 497-503.

⁴⁵ Vrijkotte, S., Roelands, B., Meeusen, R., & Pattyn, N. (2016). Sustained military operations and cognitive performance. *Aerospace Medicine and Human Performance*, *87*(8), 718-727.

⁴⁶ Krueger, P. M., & Friedman, E. M. (2009). Sleep duration in the United States: a crosssectional population-based study. *American Journal of Epidemiology*, *169*(9), 1052-1063.

⁴⁷ Shockey, T. M., & Wheaton, A. G. (2017). Short sleep duration by occupation group—29 states, 2013–2014. *Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report*, *66*(8), 207-213.

⁴⁸ Liu, Y., Wheaton, A. G., Chapman, D. P., Cunningham, T. J., Lu, H., & Croft, J. B. (2016). Prevalence of healthy sleep duration among adults—United States, 2014. *Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report*, 65(6), 137-141.

⁴⁹ Bray, R. M., Hourani, L. L., Rae Olmsted, K. L., Witt, M., Brown, J. M., Pemberton, M. R., ... & Vandermaas-Peeler, R. (2006). 2005 Department of Defense Survey of Health Related Behaviors among Active Duty Military Personnel (No. RTI/7841/106-FR). RTI International.

⁵⁰ Bray, R. M., Pemberton, M. R., Hourani, L. L., Witt, M., Olmsted, K. L., Brown, J. M., ... & Scheffler, S. (2009). 2008 Department of Defense Survey of Health Related Behaviors among Active Duty Military Personnel (No. RTI/10940-FR). RTI International.

 ⁵¹ Barlas, F. M., Higgins, W. B., Pflieger, J. C., & Diecker, K. (2013). 2011 Department of Defense Health Related Behaviors Survey of Active Duty Military Personnel. ICF International.
 ⁵² Meadows, S. O., Engel, C. C., Collins, R. L., Beckman, R. L., Cefalu, M., Hawes-Dawson, J.,

... & Williams, K. M. (2018). 2015 Department of Defense Health Related Behaviors Survey (HRBS). RAND Corporation.

⁵³ Meadows, S. O., Engel. C. C., Collins, R. L., Beckman, R. L., Breslau, J., Bloom, E. L. ... & Simmons, M. (2019). 2018 Department of Defense Health Related Behaviors Survey (HRBS). RAND Corporation.

⁵⁴ Barlas, F. M., Higgins, W. B., Pflieger, J. C., & Diecker, K. (2013). 2011 Department of Defense Health Related Behaviors Survey of Active Duty Military Personnel. ICF International.

⁵⁵ Meadows, S. O., Engel, C. C., Collins, R. L., Beckman, R. L., Cefalu, M., Hawes-Dawson, J., ... & Williams, K. M. (2018). 2015 Department of Defense Health Related Behaviors Survey (*HRBS*). RAND Corporation.

⁵⁶ Meadows, S. O., Engel. C. C., Collins, R. L., Beckman, R. L., Breslau, J., Bloom, E. L. ... & Simmons, M. (2019). 2018 Department of Defense Health Related Behaviors Survey (HRBS). RAND Corporation.

⁵⁷ Comperatore, C. A., Lieberman, H. R., Kirby, A. W., Adams, B., & Crowley, J. S. (1996). Melatonin efficacy in aviation missions requiring rapid deployment and night operations. *Aviation, Space, and Environmental Medicine*, 67(6), 520-524.

⁵⁸ Caldwell, J. A., & Caldwell, J. L. (2005). Fatigue in military aviation: an overview of U.S. military-approved pharmacological countermeasures. *Aviation, Space, and Environmental Medicine*, *76*(7), C39-C51.

⁵⁹ Wesensten, N.J., Comperatore, C.A., Balkin, T.J. & Belenky, G. (2003). Jet lag and sleep deprivation. In P. W. Kelley (Ed.), *Military Preventive Medicine: Mobilization and Deployment* (Vol. 1, pp. 287-300). Borden Institute.

⁶⁰ Luxton, D. D., Greenburg, D., Ryan, J., Niven, A., Wheeler, G., & Mysliwiec, V. (2011). Prevalence and impact of short sleep duration in redeployed OIF Soldiers. *Sleep*, *34*(9), 1189-1195.

⁶¹ Department of the Army. (2013). *Mental Health Advisory Team 9 (MHAT 9) Operation ENDURING FREEDOM (OEF) 2013 Afghanistan.*

⁶² Meadows, S. O., Engel, C. C., Collins, R. L., Beckman, R. L., Cefalu, M., Hawes-Dawson, J., ... & Williams, K. M. (2018). 2015 Department of Defense Health Related Behaviors Survey (*HRBS*). RAND Corporation.

⁶³ Maddox, W. T., Zeithamova, D., & Schnyer, D. M. (2009). Dissociable processes in classification: implications from sleep deprivation. *Military Psychology*, *21*(suppl 1), S55-S61.
 ⁶⁴ Miller, N. L., & Shattuck, L. G. (2005). Sleep patterns of young men and women enrolled at the United States Military Academy: results from year 1 of a 4-year longitudinal study. *Sleep*, *28*(7), 837-841.

⁶⁵ Brown, D. L., Caldwell, J. L., & Chandler, J. F. (2013, January 1). At war with fatigue: weave sleep into your ops plan or give the enemy an advantage. *Armed Forces Journal*. http://armedforcesjournal.com/at-war-with-fatigue/

⁶⁶ Gunia, B. C., Sipos, M. L., LoPresti, M., & Adler, A. B. (2015). Sleep leadership in high-risk occupations: An investigation of Soldiers on peacekeeping and combat missions. *Military Psychology*, *27*(4), 197-211.

⁶⁷ LoPresti, M. L., Anderson, J. A., Saboe, K. N., McGurk, D. L., Balkin, T. J., & Sipos, M. L. (2016). The impact of insufficient sleep on combat mission performance. *Military Behavioral Health*, *4*(4), 356-363.

⁶⁸ Peterson, A. L., Goodie, J. L., Satterfield, W. A., & Brim, W. L. (2008). Sleep disturbance during military deployment. *Military Medicine*, *173*(3), 230-235.

⁶⁹ Taylor, M. K., Hilton, S. M., Campbell, J. S., Beckerley, S. E., Shobe, K. K., Drummond, S. P., & Behavioral Health Needs Assessment Team. (2014). Prevalence and mental health

correlates of sleep disruption among military members serving in a combat zone. *Military Medicine*, *179*(7), 744-751.

⁷⁰ Toblin, R. L., Clarke-Walper, K., Kok, B.C., Sipos, M. L., & Thomas, J. L. (2012). Energy drink consumption and its association with sleep problems among U.S. Service members on a combat deployment-Afghanistan, 2010. *Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report*, *61*(44), 895-898.

⁷¹ Miller, N. L., Shattuck, L. G., & Matsangas, P. (2011). Sleep and fatigue issues in continuous operations: a survey of U.S. Army Officers. *Behavioral Sleep Medicine*, *9*(1), 53-65.

⁷² Schmitz, K. J., Schmied, E. A., Webb-Murphy, J. A., Hammer, P. S., Larson, G. E., Conway, T. L., ... & Johnson, D. C. (2012). Psychiatric diagnoses and treatment of U.S. military personnel while deployed to Iraq. *Military Medicine*, *177*(4), 380-389.

⁷³ Seelig, A.D., Jacobson, I.G., Smith, B., Hooper, T.I., Boyko, E.J., Gackstetter, G.D., Gehrman, P., Macera, C.A., & Smith, T.C. for the Millennium Cohort Study Team. (2010). Sleep patterns before, during, and after deployment to Iraq and Afghanistan. *Sleep*, *33*(12), 1615-1622.

⁷⁴ Luxton, D. D., Greenburg, D., Ryan, J., Niven, A., Wheeler, G., & Mysliwiec, V. (2011). Prevalence and impact of short sleep duration in redeployed OIF Soldiers. *Sleep*, *34*(9), 1189-1195.

⁷⁵ Miller, N. L., Shattuck, L. G., Matsangas, P., & Dyche, J. (2008). Sleep and academic performance in U.S. military training and education programs. *Mind, Brain, and Education*, 2(1), 29-33.

⁷⁶ Miller, N. L., & Shattuck, L. G. (2005). Sleep patterns of young men and women enrolled at the United States Military Academy: results from year 1 of a 4-year longitudinal study. *Sleep*, 28(7), 837-841.

⁷⁷ Crowley, S. K., Wilkinson, L. L., Burroughs, E. L., Muraca, S. T., Wigfall, L. T., Louis-Nance, T., ... & Youngstedt, S. D. (2012). Sleep during basic combat training: a qualitative study. *Military Medicine*, *177*(7), 823-828.

⁷⁸ Shattuck, N. L., Shattuck, L. G., & Matsangas, P. (2016). Combat effectiveness and sleep patterns in US Marines. *Proceedings of the Human Factors and Ergonomics Society Annual Meeting*, *60*, 886-890.

⁷⁹ James, L., Smart, D., Odom-Maryon, T., Honn, K. A., & Rowan, S. (2019). Sleep deprivation in air national guard medical personnel responding to simulated disaster-training exercises. *Military Psychology*, *31*(2), 138-146.

⁸⁰ Flanagan, S. C. (2011, December 1). Losing sleep. *Armed Forces Journal*. http://armedforcesjournal.com/losing-sleep/

⁸¹ Baldus, B. R. (2002). Sleep patterns in U.S. Navy recruits: An assessment of the impact of changing sleep regimens. Naval Postgraduate School.

⁸² Flanagan, S. C. (2011, December 1). Losing sleep. *Armed Forces Journal*. http://armedforcesjournal.com/losing-sleep/

⁸³ Shattuck, N. L., & Brown, S. A. T. (2013). Wounded in action: what the sleep community can learn from sleep disorders of U.S. military Service members. *Sleep*, *36*(2), 159-160.

⁸⁴ Mysliwiec, V., McGraw, L., Pierce, R., Smith, P., Trapp, B., & Roth, B. J. (2013). Sleep disorders and associated medical comorbidities in active duty military personnel. *Sleep*, *36*(2), 167-174.

⁸⁵ Department of the Army. (2013). *Mental Health Advisory Team 9 (MHAT 9) Operation ENDURING FREEDOM (OEF) 2013 Afghanistan.*

⁸⁶ Department of the Army. (2011). *Joint Mental Health Advisory Team 7 (J-MHAT-7) Operation ENDURING FREEDOM 2010 Afghanistan*.

⁸⁷ Shockey, T. M., & Wheaton, A. G. (2017). Short sleep duration by occupation group—29 states, 2013–2014. *Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report*, *66*(8), 207-213.

⁸⁸ Mantua, J., Bessey, A., Sowden, W. J., Chabuz, R., Brager, A. J., Capaldi, V. F., & Simonelli, G. (2019). A review of environmental barriers to obtaining adequate sleep in the military operational context. *Military Medicine*, *184*(7-8), e259-e266.

⁸⁹ Department of the Army. (2013). *Mental Health Advisory Team 9 (MHAT 9) Operation Enduring Freedom (OEF) 2013 Afghanistan.*

⁹⁰ Caldwell, J. A., & Caldwell, J. L. (2005). Fatigue in military aviation: an overview of U.S. military-approved pharmacological countermeasures. *Aviation, Space, and Environmental Medicine*, *76*(7), C39-C51.

⁹¹ Peterson, A. L., Goodie, J. L., Satterfield, W. A., & Brim, W. L. (2008). Sleep disturbance during military deployment. *Military Medicine*, *173*(3), 230-235.

⁹² Obradovich, N., Migliorini, R., Mednick, S. C., & Fowler, J. H. (2017). Nighttime temperature and human sleep loss in a changing climate. *Science Advances*, *3*(5), e1601555.

⁹³ Tsuzuki, K., Okamoto-Mizuno, K., & Mizuno, K. (2004). Effects of humid heat exposure on sleep, thermoregulation, melatonin, and microclimate. *Journal of Thermal Biology*, 29(1), 31-36.
 ⁹⁴ Caddick, Z. A., Gregory, K., Arsintescu, L., & Flynn-Evans, E. E. (2018). A review of the environmental parameters necessary for an optimal sleep environment. *Building and Environment*, 132, 11-20.

⁹⁵ Welles, A. P., Buller, M. J., Margolis, L., Economos, D., Hoyt, R. W., & Richter, M. W. (2013). Thermal-work strain during Marine rifle squad operations in Afghanistan. *Military Medicine*, *178*(10), 1141-1148.

⁹⁶ Peterson, A. L., Goodie, J. L., Satterfield, W. A., & Brim, W. L. (2008). Sleep disturbance during military deployment. *Military Medicine*, *173*(3), 230-235.

⁹⁷ Mantua, J., Bessey, A., Sowden, W. J., Chabuz, R., Brager, A. J., Capaldi, V. F., & Simonelli, G. (2019). A review of environmental barriers to obtaining adequate sleep in the military operational context. *Military Medicine*, 184(7-8), e259-e266.

⁹⁸ Crowley, S. K., Wilkinson, L. L., Burroughs, E. L., Muraca, S. T., Wigfall, L. T., Louis-Nance, T., ... & Youngstedt, S. D. (2012). Sleep during basic combat training: a qualitative study. *Military Medicine*, *177*(7), 823-828.

⁹⁹ Wesensten, N.J., Comperatore, C.A., Balkin, T.J. & Belenky, G. (2003). Jet lag and sleep deprivation. In P. W. Kelley (Ed.), *Military Preventive Medicine: Mobilization and Deployment* (Vol. 1, pp. 287-300). Borden Institute.

¹⁰⁰ Crowley, S. K., Wilkinson, L. L., Burroughs, E. L., Muraca, S. T., Wigfall, L. T., Louis-Nance, T., ... & Youngstedt, S. D. (2012). Sleep during basic combat training: a qualitative study. *Military Medicine*, *177*(7), 823-828.

¹⁰¹ Wesensten, N.J., Comperatore, C.A., Balkin, T.J. & Belenky, G. (2003). Jet lag and sleep deprivation. In P. W. Kelley (Ed.), *Military Preventive Medicine: Mobilization and Deployment* (Vol. 1, pp. 287-300). Borden Institute.

¹⁰² Coste, O., Remont, P., & Lagarde, D. (2009). Wake-sleep cycle management during SUSOPS and CONOPS in French military forces: policy and ethics. In K. E. Friedl & P. Shek (Chairs). *Proceedings of the Symposium on Human Performance Enhancement for NATO Military Operations* (RTO-MP-HFM-181). NATO Science and Technology Organization.

¹⁰³ Wesensten, N. J., Hughes, J. D., & Balkin, T. J. (2011). Countermeasures to the neurocognitive deficits associated with sleep loss. *Drug Discovery Today: Disease Models*, 8(4), 139–146.

¹⁰⁴ Crawford, C., Teo, L., Lafferty, L., Drake, A., Bingham, J. J., Gallon, M. D., ... Berry, K. (2017). Caffeine to optimize cognitive function for military mission-readiness: a systematic review and recommendations for the field. *Nutrition Reviews*, *75*(suppl 2), 17–35.

¹⁰⁵ McLellan, T. M., Caldwell, J. A., & Lieberman, H. R. (2016). A review of caffeine's effects on cognitive, physical and occupational performance. *Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews*, *71*, 294-312.

¹⁰⁶ McLellan, T. M., Caldwell, J. A., & Lieberman, H. R. (2016). A review of caffeine's effects on cognitive, physical and occupational performance. *Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews*, *71*, 294-312.

¹⁰⁷ Lieberman, H. R., Stavinoha, T., McGraw, S., White, A., Hadden, L., & Marriott, B. P. (2012). Caffeine use among active duty U.S. Army Soldiers. *Journal of the Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics*, *112*(6), 902-912.

¹⁰⁸ Manchester, J., Eshel, I., & Marion, D. W. (2017). The benefits and risks of energy drinks in young adults and military Service members. *Military Medicine*, *182*(7), e1726-e1733.

¹⁰⁹ Stephens, M. B., Attipoe, S., Jones, D., Ledford, C. J., & Deuster, P. A. (2014). Energy drink and energy shot use in the military. *Nutrition Reviews*, 72(suppl 1), 72-77.

¹¹⁰ Attipoe, S., Delahanty, L., Stephens, M., & Deuster, P. A. (2018). Energy beverage use among U.S. Service members. *Military Medicine*, *183*(9-10).

¹¹¹ Johnson, L. A., Foster, D., & McDowell, J. C. (2014). Energy drinks: review of performance benefits, health concerns, and use by military personnel. *Military Medicine*, *179*(4), 375-380. ¹¹² Goldfarb, M., Tellier, C., & Thanassoulis, G. (2014). Review of published cases of adverse cardiovascular events after ingestion of energy drinks. *The American Journal of Cardiology*, *113*(1), 168-172.

¹¹³ Shah, S. A., Szeto, A. H., Farewell, R., Shek, A., Fan, D., Quach, K. N., ... & Nguyen, N. (2019). Impact of high volume energy drink consumption on electrocardiographic and blood pressure parameters: A randomized trial. *Journal of the American Heart Association*, 8(11), e011318.

¹¹⁴ Wesensten, N. J. (2014). Legitimacy of concerns about caffeine and energy drink consumption. *Nutrition reviews*, 72(suppl 1), 78-86.

¹¹⁵ U.S. Army Aeromedical Activity. (2015). *Aeromedical Policy Letters and Aeromedical Technical Bulletins*. https://vfso.rucker.amedd.army.mil/

¹¹⁶ Department of the Air Force. (2014). *Flight and Operational Medicine Program* (AFI 48-149).

¹¹⁷ Department of the Navy. (2000). *Performance Maintenance during Continuous Flight Operations: A Guide for Flight Surgeons* (NAVMED P-6410).

¹¹⁸ Department of the Navy. (2016). *NATOPS General Flight and Operating Instructions Manual* (CNAF M-3710.7).

¹¹⁹ Department of the Air Force. (2014). *Flight and Operational Medicine Program* (AFI 48-149).

¹²⁰ Gore, R. K., Webb, T. S., & Hermes, E. D. A. (2010). Fatigue and stimulant use in military fighter aircrew during combat operations. *Aviation, Space, and Environmental Medicine*, *81*(8), 719–727.

¹²¹ Caldwell, J. A., Mallis, M. M., Caldwell, J. L., Paul, M. A., Miller, J. C., & Neri, D. F. (2009). Fatigue countermeasures in aviation. *Aviation, Space, and Environmental Medicine*, *80*(1), 29-59.

¹²² Wesensten, N., Belenky, G., Kautz, M. A., Thorne, D. R., Reichardt, R. M., & Balkin, T. J. (2002). Maintaining alertness and performance during sleep deprivation: modafinil versus caffeine. *Psychopharmacology*, *159*(3), 238-247.

¹²³ Caldwell, J. A., Caldwell, J. L., Smyth, N. K., & Hall, K. K. (2000). A double-blind, placebocontrolled investigation of the efficacy of modafinil for sustaining the alertness and performance of aviators: a helicopter simulator study. *Psychopharmacology*, *150*(3), 272-282.

¹²⁴ Caldwell, J., Caldwell, L., Smith, J., Alvarado, L., & Heintz, T. (2004). *The efficacy of modafinil for sustaining alertness and simulator flight performance in F-117 pilots during 37 hours of continuous wakefulness* (No. AFRL-HE-BR-TR-2004-0003). United States Air Force Research Laboratory.

¹²⁵ Estrada, A., Kelley, A. M., Webb, C. M., Athy, J. R., & Crowley, J. S. (2012). Modafinil as a replacement for dextroamphetamine for sustaining alertness in military helicopter pilots. *Aviation, Space, and Environmental Medicine*, *83*(6), 556–564.

¹²⁶ Caldwell, J. A. (2008). Go Pills in Combat: Prejudice, Propriety, and Practicality. *Air & Space Power Journal*, 22(3), 97-104.

¹²⁷ Caldwell, J. A., & Caldwell, J. L. (2005). Fatigue in military aviation: an overview of U.S. military-approved pharmacological countermeasures. *Aviation, Space, and Environmental Medicine*, *76*(7), C39-C51.

¹²⁸ Department of the Army. (2013). *Mental Health Advisory Team 9 (MHAT 9) Operation ENDURING FREEDOM (OEF) 2013 Afghanistan*.

¹²⁹ Porcù, S., Bellatreccia, A., Ferrara, M., & Casagrande, M. (1997). Performance, ability to stay awake, and tendency to fall asleep during the night after a diurnal sleep with temazepam or placebo. *Sleep*, *20*(7), 535–541.

¹³⁰ Caldwell, J. A., Jr, & Caldwell, J. L. (1998). Comparison of the effects of zolpidem-induced prophylactic naps to placebo naps and forced rest periods in prolonged work schedules. *Sleep*, 21(1), 79–90.

¹³¹ Batéjat, D., Coste, O., Van Beers, P., Lagarde, D., Piérard, C., & Beaumont, M. (2006). Prior sleep with zolpidem enhances the effect of caffeine or modafinil during 18 hours continuous work. *Aviation, Space, and Environmental Medicine*, 77(5), 515–525.

¹³² Thelus J. R., Hou, Y., Masterson, J., Kress, A., & Mysliwiec, V. 2019. Prescription patterns of sedative hypnotic medications in the Military Health System. *Journal of Clinical Sleep Medicine*, *15*(6), 873–879.

¹³³ Morin, C. M., Vallières, A., Guay, B., Ivers, H., Savard, J., Mérette, C., ... & Baillargeon, L. (2009). Cognitive behavioral therapy, singly and combined with medication, for persistent insomnia: a randomized controlled trial. *JAMA*, *301*(19), 2005-2015.

¹³⁴ Schutte-Rodin, S., Broch, L., Buysse, D., Dorsey, C., & Sateia, M. (2008). Clinical guideline for the evaluation and management of chronic insomnia in adults. *Journal of Clinical Sleep Medicine*, *4*(5), 487–504.

¹³⁵ Devine, J. K., Collen, J., Choynowski, J. J., & Capaldi, V. (2020). Sleep disturbances and predictors of nondeployability among active-duty Army Soldiers: an odds ratio analysis of medical healthcare data from fiscal year 2018. *Military Medical Research*, 7(1), 1-7.

¹³⁶ Troxel, W., Shih, R., Pederson, E., Geyer, L., Fisher, M., Griffin, B. A., Hass, A. C., Kurz, J. R., & Steinberg, P. S. (2015). *Sleep in the Military: Promoting Health Sleep among U.S. Service Members*. RAND Corporation.

¹³⁷ Department of Veterans Affairs & Department of Defense. (2016). VA/DoD Clinical Practice Guideline for Management of Concussion/Mild Traumatic Brain Injury.

¹³⁸ Uehli, K., Mehta, A. J., Miedinger, D., Hug, K., Schindler, C., Holsboer-Trachsler, E., Leuppi, J. D., & Künzli, N. (2014). Sleep problems and work injuries: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Sleep Medicine Reviews*, *18*(1), 61–73.

¹³⁹ Marcus, J. H., & Rosekind, M. R. (2017). Fatigue in transportation: NTSB investigations and safety recommendations. *Injury Prevention*, 23(4), 232–238.

¹⁴⁰ Devine, J. K., Collen, J., Choynowski, J. J., & Capaldi, V. (2020). Sleep disturbances and predictors of nondeployability among active duty Army Soldiers: an odds ratio analysis of medical healthcare data from fiscal year 2018. *Military Medical Research*, 7(1), 1-7.

¹⁴¹ Sandsmark, D. K., Elliott, J. E., & Lim, M. M. (2017). Sleep-wake disturbances after traumatic brain injury: synthesis of human and animal studies. *Sleep*, *40*(5), zsx044.

¹⁴² Wickwire, E. M., Williams, S. G., Roth, T., Capaldi, V. F., Jaffe, M., Moline, M. ... & Lettieri, C. J. (2016). Sleep, sleep disorders, and mild traumatic brain injury. What we know and what we need to know: Findings from a national working group. *Neurotherapeutics*, *13*(2), 403–417.

¹⁴³ Sandsmark, D. K., Elliott, J. E., & Lim, M. M. (2017). Sleep-wake disturbances after traumatic brain injury: synthesis of human and animal studies. *Sleep*, *40*(5), zsx044.

¹⁴⁴ Farmer, C. M., Krull, H., Concannon, T. W., Simmons, M., Pillemer, F., Ruder, T., Parker, A., Purohit, M. P., Hiatt, L., Batorsky, B. S., & Hepner, K. A. (2017). *Understanding treatment of mild traumatic brain injury in the Military Health System*. RAND Corporation.

¹⁴⁵ Bryan C. J. (2013). Repetitive traumatic brain injury (or concussion) increases severity of sleep disturbance among deployed military personnel. *Sleep*, *36*(6), 941–946.

¹⁴⁶ Wickwire, E. M., Williams, S. G., Roth, T., Capaldi, V. F., Jaffe, M., Moline, M. ... & Lettieri, C. J. (2016). Sleep, sleep disorders, and mild traumatic brain injury. What we know and what we need to know: Findings from a national working group. *Neurotherapeutics*, *13*(2), 403–417.

¹⁴⁷ Sharma, A., Muresanu, D. F., Ozkizilcik, A., Tian, Z. R., Lafuente, J. V., Manzhulo, I., Mössler, H., & Sharma, H. S. (2019). Sleep deprivation exacerbates concussive head injury induced brain pathology: Neuroprotective effects of nanowired delivery of cerebrolysin with αmelanocyte-stimulating hormone. *Progress in Brain Research*, 245, 1–55.

¹⁴⁸ Department of Veterans Affairs & Department of Defense. (2016). VA/DoD Clinical Practice Guideline for Management of Concussion/Mild Traumatic Brain Injury.

¹⁴⁹ Defense and Veterans Brain Injury Center. (June 2020). Management of sleep disturbances following concussion/mTBI: guidance for primary care management in deployed and non-deployed settings. https://dvbic.dcoe.mil/system/files/resources/4014.2.1.2_SleepCR_2020.pdf ¹⁵⁰ Harvey, A. G. (2011). Sleep and circadian functioning: critical mechanisms in the mood disorders? *Annual Review of Clinical Psychology*, *7*, 297-319.

¹⁵¹ Palmer, C. A., & Alfano, C. A. (2017). Sleep and emotion regulation: an organizing, integrative review. *Sleep Medicine Reviews*, *31*, 6-16.

¹⁵² Ulmer, C. S., Van Voorhees, E., Germain, A. E., Voils, C. I., Beckham, J. C., & VA Mid-Atlantic Mental Illness Research Education and Clinical Center Registry Workgroup (2015). A comparison of sleep difficulties among Iraq/Afghanistan theater veterans with and without mental health diagnoses. *Journal of Clinical Sleep Medicine*, 11(9), 995–1005.

¹⁵³ Department of the Army. (2013). *Mental Health Advisory Team 9 (MHAT 9) Operation Enduring Freedom (OEF) 2013 Afghanistan.*

¹⁵⁴ Palmer, C. A., & Alfano, C. A. (2017). Sleep and emotion regulation: an organizing, integrative review. *Sleep Medicine Reviews*, *31*, 6-16.

¹⁵⁵ Motomura, Y., Kitamura, S., Oba, K., Terasawa, Y., Enomoto, M., Katayose, Y., Hida, A., Moriguchi, Y., Higuchi, S., & Mishima, K. (2013). Sleep debt elicits negative emotional reaction through diminished amygdala-anterior cingulate functional connectivity. *PloS One*, 8(2), e56578.
 ¹⁵⁶ Mantua, J., Bessey, A. F., & Sowden, W. J. (2020). Poor subjective sleep quality is associated with poor occupational outcomes in elite Soldiers. *Clocks & Sleep*, 2(2), 182-193.

¹⁵⁷ Nyer, M., Farabaugh, A., Fehling, K., Soskin, D., Holt, D., Papakostas, G. I., ... & Mischoulon, D. (2013). Relationship between sleep disturbance and depression, anxiety, and functioning in college students. *Depression and Anxiety*, *30*(9), 873-880.

¹⁵⁸ McLay, R. N., Klam, W. P., & Volkert, S. L. (2010). Insomnia is the most commonly reported symptom and predicts other symptoms of post-traumatic stress disorder in U.S. Service members returning from military deployments. *Military Medicine*, *175*(10), 759-762.

¹⁵⁹ Williams, S. G., Collen, J., Orr, N., Holley, A. B., & Lettieri, C. J. (2015). Sleep disorders in combat-related PTSD. *Sleep and Breathing*, *19*(1), 175-182.

¹⁶⁰ Luxton, D. D., Greenburg, D., Ryan, J., Niven, A., Wheeler, G., & Mysliwiec, V. (2011). Prevalence and impact of short sleep duration in redeployed OIF Soldiers. *Sleep*, *34*(9), 1189-1195.

¹⁶¹ Krystal, J. H., Pietrzak, R. H., Rosenheck, R. A., Cramer, J. A., Vessicchio, J., Jones, K. M., ... & Krystal, A. D. (2016). Sleep disturbance in chronic military-related PTSD: clinical impact and response to adjunctive risperidone in the Veterans Affairs cooperative study# 504. *The Journal of Clinical Psychiatry*, 77(4), 483-491

¹⁶² Gehrman, P., Seelig, A. D., Jacobson, I. G., Boyko, E. J., Hooper, T. I., Gackstetter, G. D., ... & Millennium Cohort Study Team. (2013). Predeployment sleep duration and insomnia symptoms as risk factors for new-onset mental health disorders following military deployment. *Sleep*, *36*(7), 1009-1018.

¹⁶³ Wright, K. M., Britt, T. W., Bliese, P. D., & Adler, A. B. (2011). Insomnia severity, combat exposure and mental health outcomes. *Stress and Health*, 27(4), 325-333.

¹⁶⁴ van Liempt, S., van Zuiden, M., Westenberg, H., Super, A., & Vermetten, E. (2013). Impact of impaired sleep on the development of PTSD symptoms in combat veterans: a prospective longitudinal cohort study. *Depression and Anxiety*, *30*(5), 469-474.

¹⁶⁵ McLay, R. N., Klam, W. P., & Volkert, S. L. (2010). Insomnia is the most commonly reported symptom and predicts other symptoms of post-traumatic stress disorder in U.S. Service members returning from military deployments. *Military Medicine*, *175*(10), 759-762.

¹⁶⁶ Germain A. (2013). Sleep disturbances as the hallmark of PTSD: where are we now? *The American Journal of Psychiatry*, *170*(4), 372–382

¹⁶⁷ Kobayashi, I., Boarts, J. M., & Delahanty, D. L. (2007). Polysomnographically measured sleep abnormalities in PTSD: a meta-analytic review. *Psychophysiology*, 44(4), 660–669.
¹⁶⁸ Straus, L. D., Drummond, S. P., Nappi, C. M., Jenkins, M. M., & Norman, S. B. (2015). Sleep variability in military-related PTSD: A comparison to primary insomnia and healthy controls. *Journal of Traumatic Stress*, 28(1), 8-16.

¹⁶⁹ Wright, K. M., Britt, T. W., Bliese, P. D., Adler, A. B., Picchioni, D., & Moore, D. (2011). Insomnia as predictor versus outcome of PTSD and depression among Iraq combat veterans. *Journal of Clinical Psychology*, 67(12), 1240-1258.

¹⁷⁰ Luxton, D. D., Greenburg, D., Ryan, J., Niven, A., Wheeler, G., & Mysliwiec, V. (2011). Prevalence and impact of short sleep duration in redeployed OIF Soldiers. *Sleep*, *34*(9), 1189-1195.

¹⁷¹ Armenta, R. F., Rush, T., LeardMann, C. A., Millegan, J., Cooper, A., Hoge, C. W., & Millennium Cohort Study Team. (2018). Factors associated with persistent posttraumatic stress disorder among U.S. military Service members and veterans. *BMC Psychiatry*, *18*(1), 48.

¹⁷² Picchioni, D., Cabrera, O. A., McGurk, D., Thomas, J. L., Castro, C. A., Balkin, T. J., ... & Hoge, C. W. (2010). Sleep symptoms as a partial mediator between combat stressors and other mental health symptoms in Iraq war veterans. *Military Psychology*, 22(3), 340-355.

¹⁷³ Harvey, A. G. (2011). Sleep and circadian functioning: critical mechanisms members in the mood disorders? *Annual Review of Clinical Psychology*, *7*, 297-319.

¹⁷⁴ Nyer, M., Farabaugh, A., Fehling, K., Soskin, D., Holt, D., Papakostas, G. I., ... & Mischoulon, D. (2013). Relationship between sleep disturbance and depression, anxiety, and functioning in college students. *Depression and Anxiety*, *30*(9), 873-880.

¹⁷⁵ Gehrman, P., Seelig, A. D., Jacobson, I. G., Boyko, E. J., Hooper, T. I., Gackstetter, G. D., ... & Millennium Cohort Study Team. (2013). Predeployment sleep duration and insomnia symptoms as risk factors for new-onset mental health disorders following military deployment. *Sleep*, *36*(7), 1009-1018.

¹⁷⁶ Seelig, A. D., Jacobson, I. G., Smith, B., Hooper, T. I., Boyko, E. J., Gackstetter, G. D., ... & Millennium Cohort Study Team. (2010). Sleep patterns before, during, and after deployment to Iraq and Afghanistan. *Sleep*, *33*(12), 1615-1622.

¹⁷⁷ Wright, K. M., Britt, T. W., Bliese, P. D., Adler, A. B., Picchioni, D., & Moore, D. (2011). Insomnia as predictor versus outcome of PTSD and depression among Iraq combat veterans. *Journal of Clinical Psychology*, 67(12), 1240-1258.

¹⁷⁸ Harvey, A. G. (2011). Sleep and circadian functioning: critical mechanisms in the mood disorders? *Annual Review of Clinical Psychology*, *7*, 297-319.

¹⁷⁹ Gehrman, P., Seelig, A. D., Jacobson, I. G., Boyko, E. J., Hooper, T. I., Gackstetter, G. D., ... & Millennium Cohort Study Team. (2013). Predeployment sleep duration and insomnia symptoms as risk factors for new-onset mental health disorders following military deployment. *Sleep*, *36*(7), 1009-1018.

¹⁸⁰ Picchioni, D., Cabrera, O. A., McGurk, D., Thomas, J. L., Castro, C. A., Balkin, T. J., ... & Hoge, C. W. (2010). Sleep symptoms as a partial mediator between combat stressors and other mental health symptoms in Iraq war veterans. *Military Psychology*, 22(3), 340-355.

¹⁸¹ Macera, C. A., Aralis, H. J., Rauh, M. J., & MacGregor, A. J. (2013). Do sleep problems mediate the relationship between traumatic brain injury and development of mental health symptoms after deployment? *Sleep*, *36*(1), 83-90.

¹⁸² Pigeon, W. R., Pinquart, M., & Conner, K. (2012). Meta-analysis of sleep disturbance and suicidal thoughts and behaviors. *The Journal of Clinical Psychiatry*, *73*(9), e1160–e1167.

¹⁸³ Chiu, H.-Y., Lee, H.-C., Chen, P.-Y., Lai, Y. F., & Tu, Y.-K. (2018). Associations between sleep duration and suicidality in adolescents: A systematic review and dose-response meta-analysis. *Sleep Medicine Reviews*, *42*, 119-126.

¹⁸⁴ Liu, J.-W., Tu, Y.-K., Lai, Y.-F.,Lee, H.-C., Tsai, P.-S., Chen, T.-J., Huang, H.-C., Chen, Y.-T., & Chiu, H.-Y. (2019). Associations between sleep disturbances and suicidal ideation, plans, and attempts in adolescents: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Sleep*, *42*(6), zsz054.

¹⁸⁵ Porras-Segovia, A., Perez-Rodriquez, M. M., Lopez-Esteban, P., Courtet, P., Barrigon, M. L., Lopez-Castroman, J., Cervilla, J. A., & Baca-Garcia, E. (2019). Contribution of sleep deprivation to suicidal behavior: A systematic review. *Sleep Medicine Reviews*, *44*, 37-47.

¹⁸⁶ Chiu, H.-Y., Lee, H.-C., Chen, P.-Y., Lai, Y. F., & Tu, Y.-K. (2018). Associations between sleep duration and suicidality in adolescents: A systematic review and dose-response meta-analysis. *Sleep Medicine Reviews*, *42*, 119-126.

¹⁸⁷ Malik, S., Kanwar, A., Sim, L. A., Prokop, L. J., Wang, Z., Benkhadra, K., & Murad, M. H. (2014). The association between sleep disturbances and suicidal behaviors in patients with psychiatric diagnoses: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Systematic Reviews*, *3*(1), 18.

¹⁸⁸ Wang, X., Cheng, S., & Xu, H. (2019). Systematic review and meta-analysis of the relationship between sleep disorders and suicidal behavior in patients with depression. *BMC Psychiatry*, *19*, 303.

¹⁸⁹ Ribeiro, J. D., Pease, J. L., Gutierrez, P. M., Silva, C., Bernert, R. A., Rudd, M. D., & Joiner Jr, T. E. (2012). Sleep problems outperform depression and hopelessness as cross-sectional and longitudinal predictors of suicidal ideation and behavior in young adults in the military. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, *136*(3), 743-750.

¹⁹⁰ Bryan, C. J., Gonzales, J., Rudd, M. D., Bryan, A. O., Clemans, T. A., Ray-Sannerud, B., ... & Etienne, N. (2015). Depression mediates the relation of insomnia severity with suicide risk in three clinical samples of U.S. military personnel. *Depression and Anxiety*, *32*(9), 647-655.

¹⁹¹ Pigeon, W. R., Britton, P. C., Ilgen, M. A., Chapman, B., & Conner, K. R. (2012). Sleep disturbance preceding suicide among veterans. *American Journal of Public Health*, *102*(S1), S93-S97.

¹⁹² Mysliwiec, V., Gill, J., Lee, H., Baxter, T., Pierce, R., Barr, T. L., ... & Roth, B. J. (2013). Sleep disorders in U.S. military personnel: a high rate of comorbid insomnia and obstructive sleep apnea. *Chest*, *144*(2), 549-557.

¹⁹³ Mysliwiec, V., McGraw, L., Pierce, R., Smith, P., Trapp, B., & Roth, B. J. (2013). Sleep disorders and associated medical comorbidities in active duty military personnel. *Sleep*, *36*(2), 167-174.

¹⁹⁴ Capener, D. C., Brock, M. S., Hansen, S. L., Matsangas, P., & Mysliwiec, V. (2018). An initial report of sleep disorders in women in the U.S. Military. *Military medicine*, *183*(9-10), e266-e271.

¹⁹⁵ Colten, H. R., & Altevogt, B. M. (2006). *Sleep disorders and sleep deprivation: an unmet public health problem.* Institute of Medicine.

¹⁹⁶ Banks, S., & Dinges, D. F. (2007). Behavioral and physiological consequences of sleep restriction. *Journal of Clinical Sleep Medicine*, *3*(5), 519-528.

¹⁹⁷ Seelig, A.D., Jacobson, I.G., Smith, B., Hooper, T.I., Boyko, E.J., Gackstetter, G.D., Gehrman, P., Macera, C.A., & Smith, T.C. for the Millennium Cohort Study Team. (2010). Sleep patterns before, during, and after deployment to Iraq and Afghanistan. *Sleep*, *33*(12), 1615-1622.

¹⁹⁸ Meadows, S. O., Engel, C. C., Collins, R. L., Beckman, R. L., Cefalu, M., Hawes-Dawson, J., ... & Williams, K. M. (2018). 2015 Department of Defense Health Related Behaviors Survey (*HRBS*). RAND Corporation. ¹⁹⁹ LoPresti, M. L., Anderson, J. A., Saboe, K. N., McGurk, D. L., Balkin, T. J., & Sipos, M. L. (2016). The impact of insufficient sleep on combat mission performance. *Military Behavioral Health*, *4*(4), 356-363.

²⁰⁰ Shattuck, N. L., & Brown, S. A. T. (2013). Wounded in action: what the sleep community can learn from sleep disorders of U.S. military Service members. *Sleep*, *36*(2), 159-160.

²⁰¹ Mysliwiec, V., McGraw, L., Pierce, R., Smith, P., Trapp, B., & Roth, B. J. (2013). Sleep disorders and associated medical comorbidities in active duty military personnel. *Sleep*, *36*(2), 167-174.

²⁰² Gunia, B. C., Sipos, M. L., LoPresti, M., & Adler, A. B. (2015). Sleep leadership in high-risk occupations: An investigation of Soldiers on peacekeeping and combat missions. *Military Psychology*, *27*(4), 197-211.

²⁰³ Adler, A. B., Saboe, K. N., Anderson, J., Sipos, M. L., & Thomas, J. L. (2014). Behavioral health leadership: new directions in occupational mental health. *Current Psychiatry Reports*, *16*(10), 484.

²⁰⁴ Brown, D. L., Caldwell, J. L., & Chandler, J. F. (2013, January 1). At war with fatigue: weave sleep into your ops plan or give the enemy an advantage. *Armed Forces Journal*. http://armedforcesjournal.com/at-war-with-fatigue/

²⁰⁵ Belenky, G., Wesensten, N. J., Thorne, D. R., Thomas, M. L., Sing, H. C., Redmond, D. P., ... & Balkin, T. J. (2003). Patterns of performance degradation and restoration during sleep restriction and subsequent recovery: A sleep dose-response study. *Journal of Sleep Research*, *12*(1), 1-12.

²⁰⁶ Posard, M. N., Hultquist, M., & Segal, D. R. (2013). Adjusting the duty day schedule to improve health and family life in garrison. *Journal of Human Behavior in the Social Environment*, *23*(6), 789-799.

²⁰⁷ Nordmo, M., Olsen, O. K., Hetland, J., Espevik, R., Bakker, A. B., & Pallesen, S. (2019). Daily sleep quality and naval work performance: the role of leadership. *International Maritime Health*, 70(4), 202-209.

²⁰⁸ Gunia, B. C., Sipos, M. L., LoPresti, M., & Adler, A. B. (2015). Sleep leadership in high-risk occupations: An investigation of Soldiers on peacekeeping and combat missions. *Military Psychology*, 27(4), 197-211.

²⁰⁹ Shattuck, N. L., Matsangas, P., & Saitzyk, A. (2018). Improving work and rest patterns of military personnel in operational settings with frequent unplanned events. *Proceedings of the Human Factors and Ergonomics Society Annual Meeting*, 62, 772-776.

²¹⁰ Shattuck, N. L., Matsangas, P., & Saitzyk, A. (2018). Improving work and rest patterns of military personnel in operational settings with frequent unplanned events. *Proceedings of the Human Factors and Ergonomics Society Annual Meeting*, 62, 772-776.

²¹¹ Driscoll, T. R., Grunstein, R. R., & Rogers, N. L. (2007). A systematic review of the neurobehavioural and physiological effects of shiftwork systems. *Sleep Medicine Reviews*, *11*(3), 179-194.

²¹² Postnova, S., Postnov, D. D., Seneviratne, M., & Robinson, P. A. (2014). Effects of rotation interval on sleepiness and circadian dynamics on forward rotating 3-shift systems. *Journal of Biological Rhythms*, 29(1), 60-70.

²¹³ Wesensten, N.J., Comperatore, C.A., Balkin, T.J. & Belenky, G. (2003). Jet lag and sleep deprivation. In P. W. Kelley (Ed.), *Military Preventive Medicine: Mobilization and Deployment* (Vol. 1, pp. 287-300). Borden Institute.

²¹⁴ Miller, N. L., Shattuck, L. G., & Matsangas, P. (2011). Sleep and fatigue issues in continuous operations: a survey of U.S. Army Officers. *Behavioral Sleep Medicine*, *9*(1), 53-65.

²¹⁵ Mysliwiec, V., Gill, J., Lee, H., Baxter, T., Pierce, R., Barr, T. L., ... & Roth, B. J. (2013). Sleep disorders in U.S. military personnel: a high rate of comorbid insomnia and obstructive sleep apnea. *Chest*, *144*(2), 549-557.

²¹⁶ Mantua, J., Bessey, A., Sowden, W. J., Chabuz, R., Brager, A. J., Capaldi, V. F., & Simonelli, G. (2019). A review of environmental barriers to obtaining adequate sleep in the military operational context. *Military Medicine*, *184*(7-8), e259-e266.

²¹⁷ Caddick, Z. A., Gregory, K., Arsintescu, L., & Flynn-Evans, E. E. (2018). A review of the environmental parameters necessary for an optimal sleep environment. *Building and Environment*, *132*, 11-20.

²¹⁸ Caddick, Z. A., Gregory, K., & Flynn-Evans, E. E. (2017). Sleep environment recommendations for future spaceflight vehicles. In N. A. Stanton (Ed.), *Advances in human aspects of transportation* (pp. 923-933). Springer.

²¹⁹ Van Hoof, J. (2008). Air-conditioned deployable force infrastructure as a strategy to combat sleep deprivation among troops in hot countries. *Building Services Engineering Research and Technology*, 29(4), 327-339.

²²⁰ Lobato, F., Silva, B., de Bem, R., & Miranda, D. (2015). Non-invasive sleep-environment monitoring system. In F. Makedon (Ed.), *Proceedings of the 8th ACM International Conference on PErvasive Technologies Related to Assistive Environments* (Article number 75). Association for Computing Machinery.

²²¹ Troxel, W., Shih, R., Pederson, E., Geyer, L., Fisher, M., Griffin, B. A., Hass, A. C., Kurz, J. R., & Steinberg, P. S. (2015). *Sleep in the military: Promoting health sleep among U.S. Service members*. RAND Corporation.

²²² Mednick, S. C., Cai, D. J., Kanady, J., & Drummond, S. P. (2008). Comparing the benefits of caffeine, naps and placebo on verbal, motor and perceptual memory. *Behavioural Brain Research*, *193*(1), 79-86.

²²³ Ficca, G., Axelsson, J., Mollicone, D. J., Muto, V., & Vitiello, M. V. (2010). Naps, cognition and performance. *Sleep Medicine Reviews*, *14*(4), 249–258.

²²⁴ Driskell, J. E., & Mullen, B. (2005). The efficacy of naps as a fatigue countermeasure: a meta-analytic integration. *Human Factors*, 47(2), 360–377.

²²⁵ Hilditch, C. J., Dorrian, J., & Banks, S. (2017). A review of short naps and sleep inertia: do naps of 30 min or less really avoid sleep inertia and slow-wave sleep? *Sleep Medicine*, *32*, 176–190.

²²⁶ Ruggiero, J. S., & Redeker, N. S. (2014). Effects of napping on sleepiness and sleep-related performance deficits in night-shift workers: a systematic review. *Biological Research for Nursing*, *16*(2), 134–142.

²²⁷ Newman, R. A., Kamimori, G. H., Wesensten, N. J., Picchioni, D., & Balkin, T. J. (2013). Caffeine gum minimizes sleep inertia. *Perceptual and Motor Skills*, *116*(1), 280–293.

²²⁸ Vitale, K. C., Owens, R., Hopkins, S. R., & Malhotra, A. (2019). Sleep Hygiene for Optimizing Recovery in Athletes: Review and Recommendations. *International Journal of Sports Medicine*, 40(8), 535-543.

²²⁹ Rupp, T. L., Wesensten, N. J., & Balkin, T. J. (2012). Trait-like vulnerability to total and partial sleep loss. *Sleep*, *35*(8), 1163–1172.

²³⁰ Mantua, J., Bessey, A., Ritland, B., Naylor, J., Chabuz, R., McKeon, A. B., ... & Sowden, W. J. (in press). Sleep loss is related to unstable stationary balance in U.S. Army Soldiers in an operationally-relevant context. *Sleep Medicine*.

²³¹ Thompson, A., Jones, B., & Thornburg, J. (2017). Sleep banking: improving fighter management. *Military Review*, *97*(1), 91-97.

²³² Ritland, B. M., Simonelli, G., Gentili, R. J., Smith, J. C., He, X., Mantua, J., ... & Hatfield, B. D. (2019). Effects of sleep extension on cognitive/motor performance and motivation in military tactical athletes. *Sleep Medicine*, *58*, 48–55.

²³³ Mantua, J., Bessey, A., Ritland, B., Naylor, J., Chabuz, R., McKeon, A. B., ... & Sowden, W. J. (in press). Sleep loss is related to unstable stationary balance in U.S. Army Soldiers in an operationally-relevant context. *Sleep Medicine*.

²³⁴ Mantua, J., Naylor, J., Ritland, B., Mickelson, C., Choynowski, J., ... & Burke, T. M. (in press). Sleep loss during military training reduces testosterone in U.S. Army Rangers: a two-study series. *International Journal of Sports and Exercise Medicine*.

²³⁵ Souissi, N., Chtourou, H., Aloui, A., Hammouda, O., Dogui, M., Chaouachi, A., & Chamari, K. (2013). Effects of time-of-day and partial sleep deprivation on short-term maximal performances of judo competitors. *The Journal of Strength & Conditioning Research*, 27(9), 2473-2480.

²³⁶ Knowles, O. E., Drinkwater, E. J., Urwin, C. S., Lamon, S., & Aisbett, B. (2018). Inadequate sleep and muscle strength: Implications for resistance training. *Journal of Science and Medicine in Sport*, *21*(9), 959-968.

²³⁷ Keramidas, M. E., Gadefors, M., Nilsson, L. O., & Eiken, O. (2018). Physiological and psychological determinants of whole-body endurance exercise following short-term sustained operations with partial sleep deprivation. *European Journal of Applied Physiology*, *118*(7), 1373-1384.

²³⁸ Vitale, K. C., Owens, R., Hopkins, S. R., & Malhotra, A. (2019). Sleep Hygiene for Optimizing Recovery in Athletes: Review and Recommendations. *International Journal of Sports Medicine*, *40*(8), 535-543.

²³⁹ Stephens, M. B., Attipoe, S., Jones, D., Ledford, C. J., & Deuster, P. A. (2014). Energy drink and energy shot use in the military. *Nutrition Reviews*, 72(suppl 1), 72-77.

²⁴⁰ Attipoe, S., Delahanty, L., Stephens, M., & Deuster, P. A. (2018). Energy beverage use among U.S. Service members. *Military Medicine*, *183*(9-10).

²⁴¹ McLellan, T. M., Riviere, L. A., Williams, K. W., McGurk, D., & Lieberman, H. R. (2019). Caffeine and energy drink use by combat arms Soldiers in Afghanistan as a countermeasure for sleep loss and high operational demands. *Nutritional Neuroscience*, *22*(11), 768-777.

²⁴² McLellan, T. M., Riviere, L. A., Williams, K. W., McGurk, D., & Lieberman, H. R. (2019). Caffeine and energy drink use by combat arms Soldiers in Afghanistan as a countermeasure for sleep loss and high operational demands. *Nutritional Neuroscience*, 22(11), 768-777.

²⁴³ Doty, T. J., So, C. J., Bergman, E. M., Trach, S. K., Ratcliffe, R. H., Yarnell, A. M., ... & Quartana, P. J. (2017). Limited efficacy of caffeine and recovery costs during and following 5 days of chronic sleep restriction. *Sleep*, *40*(12), zsx171.

²⁴⁴ LaJambe, C. M., Kamimori, G. H., Belenky, G., & Balkin, T. J. (2005). Caffeine effects on recovery sleep following 27 h total sleep deprivation. *Aviation, Space, and Environmental Medicine*, *76*(2), 108-113.

²⁴⁵ Caldwell, J. A., & Caldwell, J. L. (2005). Fatigue in military aviation: an overview of U.S. military-approved pharmacological countermeasures. *Aviation, Space, and Environmental Medicine*, *76*(7), C39-C51.

²⁴⁶ Hansen, D. A., Ramakrishnan, S., Satterfield, B. C., Wesensten, N. J., Layton, M. E.,
Reifman, J., & Van Dongen, H. P. (2019). Randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled,
crossover study of the effects of repeated-dose caffeine on neurobehavioral performance during
48 h of total sleep deprivation. *Psychopharmacology*, 236(4), 1313-1322.

²⁴⁷ Coste, O., Remont, P., & Lagarde, D. (2009). Wake-sleep cycle management during SUSOPS and CONOPS in French military forces: policy and ethics. In K. E. Friedl & P. Shek (Chairs). *Proceedings of the Symposium on Human Performance Enhancement for NATO Military Operations* (RTO-MP-HFM-181). NATO Science and Technology Organization.

²⁴⁸ Wikoff, D., Welsh, B. T., Henderson, R., Brorby, G. P., Britt, J., Myers, E., ... & Tenenbein, M. (2017). Systematic review of the potential adverse effects of caffeine consumption in healthy adults, pregnant women, adolescents, and children. *Food and Chemical Toxicology*, *109*, 585-648.

²⁴⁹ Drake, C., Roehrs, T., Shambroom, J., & Roth, T. (2013). Caffeine effects on sleep taken 0, 3, or 6 hours before going to bed. *Journal of Clinical Sleep Medicine*, *9*(11), 1195-1200.

²⁵⁰ Wesensten, N. J., Hughes, J. D., & Balkin, T. J. (2011). Countermeasures to the

neurocognitive deficits associated with sleep loss. *Drug Discovery Today: Disease Models*, 8(4), 139–146.

²⁵¹ Good, C. H., Brager, A. J., Capaldi, V. F., & Mysliwiec, V. (2020). Sleep in the United States military. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, *45*(1), 176-191.

²⁵² Sack, R. L. (2010). Jet lag. New England Journal of Medicine, 362(5), 440-447.

²⁵³ Weingarten, J. A., & Collop, N. A. (2013). Air travel: effects of sleep deprivation and jet lag. *Chest*, *144*(4), 1394–1401.

²⁵⁴ Lemmer, B., Kern, R. I., Nold, G., & Lohrer, H. (2002). Jet lag in athletes after eastward and westward time-zone transition. *Chronobiology International*, *19*(4), 743-764.

²⁵⁵ Li, T., Jiang, S., Han, M., Yang, Z., Lv, J., Deng, C., ... & Yang, Y. (2019). Exogenous melatonin as a treatment for secondary sleep disorders: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Frontiers in Neuroendocrinology*, *52*, 22-28.

²⁵⁶ Besag, F.M.C., Vasey, M.J., Lao, K.S.J. *et al.* Adverse Events Associated with Melatonin for the Treatment of Primary or Secondary Sleep Disorders: A Systematic Review. *CNS Drugs* 33, 1167–1186 (2019).

²⁵⁷ Mitchell, M. D., Gehrman, P., Perlis, M., & Umscheid, C. A. (2012). Comparative effectiveness of cognitive behavioral therapy for insomnia: a systematic review. *BMC Family Practice*, *13*, 40.

²⁵⁸ Troxel, W. M., Germain, A., & Buysse, D. J. (2012). Clinical management of insomnia with brief behavioral treatment (BBTI). *Behavioral Sleep Medicine*, *10*(4), 266-279.

²⁵⁹ Taylor, D. J., & Pruiksma, K. E. (2014). Cognitive and behavioural therapy for insomnia (CBT-I) in psychiatric populations: a systematic review. *International Review of Psychiatry*, *26*(2), 205-213.

²⁶⁰ Department of Veterans Affairs and Department of Defense. (2016). VA/DoD Clinical Practice Guideline for the Management of Concussion/Mild Traumatic Brain Injury.

²⁶¹ Department of Veterans Affairs and Department of Defense. (2017). VA/DoD Clinical Practice Guideline for the Management of Posttraumatic Stress Disorder and Acute Stress Disorder.

²⁶² Germain, A., Richardson, R., Stocker, R., Mammen, O., Hall, M., Bramoweth, A. D., ... & Buysse, D. J. (2014). Treatment for insomnia in combat-exposed OEF/OIF/OND military veterans: preliminary randomized controlled trial. *Behaviour Research and Therapy*, *61*, 78-88.
²⁶³ Lee, M. R. G., Breitstein, J., Hoyt, T., Stolee, J., Baxter, T., Kwon, H., & Mysliwiec, V. (In press). Cognitive behavioral therapy for insomnia among active duty military personnel.

Psychological Services. doi:10.1037/ser0000340

²⁶⁴ Taylor, D. J., Peterson, A. L., Pruiksma, K. E., Young-McCaughan, S., Nicholson, K., Mintz, J., & STRONG STAR Consortium (2017). Internet and in-person cognitive behavioral therapy for insomnia in military personnel: A randomized clinical trial. *Sleep*, *40*(6), zsx075.

²⁶⁵ Troxel, W., Shih, R., Pederson, E., Geyer, L., Fisher, M., Griffin, B. A., Hass, A. C., Kurz, J. R., & Steinberg, P. S. (2015). *Sleep in the military: Promoting health sleep among U.S. Service members*. RAND Corporation.

²⁶⁶ Cavanagh, R., Mackey, R., Bridges, L., Gleason, A., Ciulla, R., Micheel, L., Bradshaw, D., Armstrong, C., & Hoyt, T. (2020). The use of digital health technologies to manage insomnia in military populations. *Journal of Technology in Behavioral Science*, *5*, 61-69.

²⁶⁷ Bush, N. E., Armstrong, C. M., & Hoyt, T. V. (2019). Smartphone apps for psychological health: A brief state of the science review. *Psychological Services*, *16*(2), 188-195.

²⁶⁸ Millegan, J., Denninger, J. W., Bui, E., Jakubovic, R. J., Ram, V., Bhakta, J., Hiller Lauby, M. D., Mehta, D. H., Sager, J. C., Fricchione, G., & Sylvia, L. G. (in press). A mind-body program for pain and stress management in active duty Service members and veterans. *Psychological Services*.

²⁶⁹ Kuhn, E., Weiss, B. J., Taylor, K. L., Hoffman, J. E., Ramsey, K. M., Manber, R., Gehrman, P., Crowley, J. J., Ruzek, J. I., & Trockel, M. (2016). CBT-I Coach: A Description and Clinician Perceptions of a Mobile App for Cognitive Behavioral Therapy for Insomnia. *Journal of Clinical Sleep Medicine*, *12*(4), 597–606.

²⁷⁰ Waltman, S. H., Shearer, D., & Moore, B. A. (2018). Management of post-traumatic nightmares: a review of pharmacologic and nonpharmacologic treatments since 2013. *Current Psychiatry Reports*, 20(12), 108.

²⁷¹ Reifman, J., Ramakrishnan, S., Liu, J., Kapela, A., Doty, T. J., Balkin, T. J., ... & Khitrov, M. Y. (2019). 2B-Alert App: A mobile application for real-time individualized prediction of alertness. *Journal of Seep Research*, 28(2), e12725.

²⁷² Durmer, J. S., & Dinges, D. F. (2005). Neurocognitive consequences of sleep deprivation. *Seminars in Neurology*, *25*(1), 117–129.

²⁷³ Lim, J., & Dinges, D. F. (2010). A meta-analysis of the impact of short-term sleep deprivation on cognitive variables. *Psychological Bulletin*, *136*(3), 375.

²⁷⁴ Wickens, C. D., Hutchins, S. D., Laux, L., & Sebok, A. (2015). The impact of sleep disruption on complex cognitive tasks: a meta-analysis. *Human Factors*, *57*(6), 930-946.

²⁷⁵ Pires, G. N., Bezerra, A. G., Tufik, S., & Andersen, M. L. (2016). Effects of acute sleep deprivation on state anxiety levels: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Sleep Medicine*, *24*, 109-118.

²⁷⁶ Saletin, J. M., Jackvony, S., Rodriguez, K. A., & Dickstein, D. P. (2019). A coordinate-based meta-analysis comparing brain activation between attention deficit hyperactivity disorder and total sleep deprivation. *Sleep*, *42*(3), zsy251.

²⁷⁷ Christian, M. S., & Ellis, A. P. (2011). Examining the effects of sleep deprivation on workplace deviance: A self-regulatory perspective. *Academy of Management Journal*, *54*(5), 913-934.

²⁷⁸ Kim, D. J., Lee, H. P., Kim, M. S., Park, Y. J., Go, H. J., Kim, K. S., ... & Lee, C. T. (2001). The effect of total sleep deprivation on cognitive functions in normal adult male subjects. *International Journal of Neuroscience*, *109*(1-2), 127-137.

²⁷⁹ Caldwell, J. A., & Caldwell, J. L. (2005). Fatigue in military aviation: an overview of U.S. military-approved pharmacological countermeasures. *Aviation, Space, and Environmental Medicine*, *76*(7), C39-C51.

²⁸⁰ Buguet, A., Moroz, D. E., & Radomski, M. W. (2003). Modafinil—medical considerations for use in sustained operations. *Aviation, Space, and Environmental Medicine*, 74(6), 659-663.

²⁸¹ Tharion, W. J., Shukitt-Hale, B., & Lieberman, H. R. (2003). Caffeine effects on marksmanship during high-stress military training with 72 hour sleep deprivation. *Aviation*, *Space, and Environmental Medicine*, *74*(4), 309-314.

²⁸² McLellan, T. M., Kamimori, G. H., Bell, D. G., Smith, I. F., Johnson, D., & Belenky, G. (2005). Caffeine maintains vigilance and marksmanship in simulated urban operations with sleep deprivation. *Aviation, Space, and Environmental Medicine*, *76*(1), 39-45.

²⁸³ Killgore, W. D., Killgore, D. B., Day, L. M., Li, C., Kamimori, G. H., & Balkin, T. J. (2007). The effects of 53 hours of sleep deprivation on moral judgment. *Sleep*, *30*(3), 345-352.

²⁸⁴ Caldwell, J. A., Caldwell, J. L., Brown, D. L., & Smith, J. K. (2004). The effects of 37 hours of continuous wakefulness on the physiological arousal, cognitive performance, self-reported mood, and simulator flight performance of F-117A pilots. *Military Psychology*, *16*(3), 163-181.

²⁸⁵ Maddox, W. T., Zeithamova, D., & Schnyer, D. M. (2009). Dissociable processes in classification: implications from sleep deprivation. *Military Psychology*, 21(suppl 1), S55-S61.
²⁸⁶ Lichardon H. D. Dathalan, C. D. Falas, C. M. Kramon F. M. Margan H. C. A. S. Nim, D.

²⁸⁶ Lieberman, H. R., Bathalon, G. P., Falco, C. M., Kramer, F. M., Morgan III, C. A., & Niro, P. (2005). Severe decrements in cognition function and mood induced by sleep loss, heat,

dehydration, and undernutrition during simulated combat. *Biological Psychiatry*, 57(4), 422-429. ²⁸⁷ Aidman, E., Jackson, S. A., & Kleitman, S. (2019). Effects of sleep deprivation on executive functioning, cognitive abilities, metacognitive confidence, and decision making. *Applied Cognitive Psychology*, 33(2), 188-200.

²⁸⁸ Pallesen, S., Olsen, O. K., Eide, E. M., Nortvedt, B., Grønli, J., Larøi, F., ... & Glomlien, F. E. (2018). Sleep deprivation and hallucinations. A qualitative study of military personnel. *Military Psychology*, *30*(5), 430-436.

²⁸⁹ Williamson, A., Lombard, D. A., Folkard, S., Stutts, J., Courtney, T. K., & Connor, J. L. (2011). The link between fatigue and safety. *Accident Analysis & Prevention*, 43, 498-515.
²⁹⁰ Banks, S., & Dinges, D. F. (2007). Behavioral and Physiological Consequences of Sleep

Restriction. Journal of Clinical Sleep Medicine, 3(5), 519-528.

²⁹¹ Fullagar, H. H., Skorski, S., Duffield, R., Hammes, D., Coutts, A. J., & Meyer, T. (2015). Sleep and athletic performance: the effects of sleep loss on exercise performance, and physiological and cognitive responses to exercise. *Sports Medicine*, *45*(2), 161-186.

²⁹² Gosselin, D., De Koninck, J., & Campbell, K. (2017). Novel measures to assess the effects of partial sleep deprivation on sensory, working, and permanent memory. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *8*, 1607.

²⁹³ Lowe, C. J., Safati, A., & Hall, P. A. (2017). The neurocognitive consequences of sleep restriction: a meta-analytic review. *Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews*, 80, 586-604.
²⁹⁴ Lowe, C. J., Safati, A., & Hall, P. A. (2017). The neurocognitive consequences of sleep restriction: a meta-analytic review. *Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews*, 80, 586-604.
²⁹⁵ Wickens, C. D., Hutchins, S. D., Laux, L., & Sebok, A. (2015). The impact of sleep disruption on complex cognitive tasks: a meta-analysis. *Human Factors*, *57*(6), 930-946.

²⁹⁶ Lowe, C. J., Safati, A., & Hall, P. A. (2017). The neurocognitive consequences of sleep restriction: a meta-analytic review. *Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews*, *80*, 586-604.

²⁹⁷ Mauss, I. B., Troy, A. S., & LeBourgeois, M. K. (2013). Poorer sleep quality is associated with lower emotion-regulation ability in a laboratory paradigm. *Cognition & Emotion*, 27(3), 567-576.

²⁹⁸ Minkel, J. D., Banks, S., Htaik, O., Moreta, M. C., Jones, C. W., McGlinchey, E. L., ... & Dinges, D. F. (2012). Sleep deprivation and stressors: evidence for elevated negative affect in response to mild stressors when sleep deprived. *Emotion*, *12*(5), 1015.

²⁹⁹ Wickens, C. D., Hutchins, S. D., Laux, L., & Sebok, A. (2015). The impact of sleep disruption on complex cognitive tasks: a meta-analysis. *Human Factors*, *57*(6), 930-946.

³⁰⁰ Wild, C. J., Nichols, E. S., Battista, M. E., Stojanoski, B., & Owen, A. M. (2018). Dissociable effects of self-reported daily sleep duration on high-level cognitive abilities. *Sleep*, *41*(12), zsy182.

³⁰¹ Toblin, R. L., Clarke-Walper, K., Kok, B.C., Sipos, M. L., & Thomas, J. L. (2012). Energy drink consumption and its association with sleep problems among U.S. Service members on a combat deployment-Afghanistan, 2010. *Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report*, *61*(44), 895-898.

³⁰² Elliman, T. D., Schwalb, M. E., & Adler, A. B. (in press). Sleep deprivation and hazardous unintended sleep in U.S. Army drill sergeants. *Sleep Health*.

³⁰³ LoPresti, M. L., Anderson, J. A., Saboe, K. N., McGurk, D. L., Balkin, T. J., & Sipos, M. L. (2016). The impact of insufficient sleep on combat mission performance. *Military Behavioral Health*, *4*(4), 356-363.

³⁰⁴ Caldwell, J. A., & Gilreath, S. R. (2002). A survey of aircrew fatigue in a sample of U.S. Army aviation personnel. *Aviation, Space, and Environmental Medicine, 73*(5), 472-480.

³⁰⁵ Kelley, A. M., Feltman, K. A., & Curry, I. P. (2018). A Survey of Fatigue in Army Aviators. *Aerospace Medicine and Human Performance*, 89(5), 464–468.

³⁰⁶ Shattuck, N. L., Shattuck, L. G., & Matsangas, P. (2016). Combat effectiveness and sleep patterns in US Marines. *Proceedings of the Human Factors and Ergonomics Society Annual Meeting*, *60*, 886-890.

³⁰⁷ Good, C. H., Brager, A. J., Capaldi, V. F., & Mysliwiec, V. (2020). Sleep in the United States military. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, *45*(1), 176–191.

³⁰⁸ Olsen, O. K., Pallesen, S., Torsheim, T., & Espevik, R. (2016). *The Journal of Sleep Research*, *25*(6), 683-689.

³⁰⁹ Becker, T., Penzel, T., & Fietze, I. (2016). Evaluation of the Charite jet lag scale: further assessment of jet lag using a method-comparison approach. *Journal of Biological Rhythms*, 31(1), 94-107.

³¹⁰ Wesensten, N.J., Comperatore, C.A., Balkin, T.J. & Belenky, G. (2003). Jet lag and sleep deprivation. In P. W. Kelley (Ed.), *Military Preventive Medicine: Mobilization and Deployment* (Vol. 1, pp. 287-300). Borden Institute.

³¹¹ Ambesh, P., Shetty, V., Ambesh, S., Gupta, S. S., Kamholz, S., & Wolf, L. (2018). Jet lag: Heuristics and therapeutics. *Journal of Family Medicine and Primary Care*, *7*(3), 507-510.

³¹² Jamieson, A. O., Zammit, G. K., Rosenberg, R. S., Davis, J. R., & Walsh, J. K. (2001). Zolpidem reduces the sleep disturbance of jet lag. *Sleep Medicine*, *2*(5), 423-430.

³¹³ Rosenberg, R. P., Bogan, R. K., Tiller, J. M., Yang, R., Youakim, J. M., Earl, C. Q., & Roth, T. (2010). A phase 3, double-blind, randomized, placebo-controlled study of armodafinil for excessive sleepiness associated with jet lag disorder. *Mayo Clinic Proceedings*, *85*, 630-638.

³¹⁴ Sack, R. L. (2010). Jet lag. New England Journal of Medicine, 362(5), 440-447.

³¹⁵ Kölling, S., Treff, G., Winkert, K., Ferrauti, A., Meyer, T., Pfeiffer, M., & Kellmann, M. (2017). The effect of westward travel across five time zones on sleep and subjective jet-lag ratings in athletes before and during the 2015's World Rowing Junior Championships. *Journal of Sports Sciences*, *35*(22), 2240-2248.

³¹⁶ Wesensten, N.J., Comperatore, C.A., Balkin, T.J. & Belenky, G. (2003). Jet lag and sleep deprivation. In P. W. Kelley (Ed.), *Military Preventive Medicine: Mobilization and Deployment* (Vol. 1, pp. 287-300). Borden Institute.

³¹⁷ Forbes-Robertson, S., Dudley, E., Vadgama, P., Cook, C., Drawer, S., & Kilduff, L. (2012). Circadian disruption and remedial interventions. *Sports Medicine*, *42*(3), 185-208.

³¹⁸ Arendt, J., Stone, B., & Skene, D. J. (2005). Sleep disruption in jet lag and other circadian rhythm disturbances. In M. H. Kryger, T. Roth, & W. C. Dement (Eds.), *Principles and Practice of Sleep Medicine* (4th ed., pp. 659-672). Elsevier.

³¹⁹ Chapman, D. W., Bullock, N., Ross, A., Rosemond, D., & Martin, D. T. (2012). Detrimental effects of west to east transmeridian flight on jump performance. *European Journal of Applied Physiology*, *112*(5), 1663-1669.

³²⁰ Lemmer, B., Kern, R. I., Nold, G., & Lohrer, H. (2002). Jet lag in athletes after eastward and westward time-zone transition. *Chronobiology International*, *19*(4), 743-764.

³²¹ Fowler, P. M., Knez, W., Crowcroft, S., Mendham, A. E., Miller, J., Sargent, C., ... & Duffield, R. (2017). Greater effect of east versus west travel on jet lag, sleep, and team sport performance. *Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise*, 49(12), 2548-2561.

³²² Reilly, T., Atkinson, G., Edwards, B., Waterhouse, J., Åkerstedt, T., Davenne, D., ... & Wirz-Justice, A. (2007). Coping with jet-lag: a position statement for the European College of Sport Science. *European Journal of Sport Science*, *7*(1), 1-7.

³²³ Forbes-Robertson, S., Dudley, E., Vadgama, P., Cook, C., Drawer, S., & Kilduff, L. (2012). Circadian disruption and remedial interventions. *Sports Medicine*, *42*(3), 185-208.

³²⁴ Herxheimer, A., & Petrie, K. J. (2002). Melatonin for the prevention and treatment of jet lag. *The Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*, CD001520.

³²⁵ Buscemi, N., Vandermeer, B., Hooton, N., Pandya, R., Tjosvold, L., Hartling, L., ... & Baker, G. (2006). Efficacy and safety of exogenous melatonin for secondary sleep disorders and sleep disorders accompanying sleep restriction: meta-analysis. *BMJ*, *332*(7538), 385-393.

³²⁶ Li, T., Jiang, S., Han, M., Yang, Z., Lv, J., Deng, C., ... & Yang, Y. (2019). Exogenous melatonin as a treatment for secondary sleep disorders: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Frontiers in Neuroendocrinology*, 52, 22-28.

³²⁷ Shattuck, N. L., & Brown, S. A. T. (2013). Wounded in action: what the sleep community can learn from sleep disorders of U.S. military Service members. *Sleep*, *36*(2), 159-160.

³²⁸ Mysliwiec, V., McGraw, L., Pierce, R., Smith, P., Trapp, B., & Roth, B. J. (2013). Sleep disorders and associated medical comorbidities in active duty military personnel. *Sleep*, *36*(2), 167-174.

³²⁹ Department of the Army. (2013). *Mental Health Advisory Team 9 (MHAT 9) Operation Enduring Freedom (OEF) 2013 Afghanistan*.

³³⁰ Meadows, S. O., Engel, C. C., Collins, R. L., Beckman, R. L., Cefalu, M., Hawes-Dawson, J., ... & Williams, K. M. (2018). 2015 Department of Defense Health Related Behaviors Survey (HRBS). RAND Corporation.

³³¹ Department of the Army. (2011). *Joint Mental Health Advisory Team 7 (J-MHAT-7) OPERATION ENDURING FREEDOM 2010 Afghanistan.* ³³² Department of the Army. (2013). *Mental Health Advisory Team 9 (MHAT 9) Operation ENDURING FREEDOM (OEF) 2013 Afghanistan*.

³³³ Elliman, T. D., Schwalb, M. E., & Adler, A. B. (in press). Sleep deprivation and hazardous unintended sleep in U.S. Army drill sergeants. *Sleep Health*.

³³⁴ Shockey, T. M., & Wheaton, A. G. (2017). Short sleep duration by occupation group—29 states, 2013–2014. *Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report*, *66*(8), 207-213.

³³⁵ Knutson, K. L., Van Cauter, E., Rathouz, P. J., DeLeire, T., & Lauderdale, D. S. (2010). Trends in the prevalence of short sleepers in the USA: 1975–2006. *Sleep*, *33*(1), 37-45.

³³⁶ Maddox, W. T., Zeithamova, D., & Schnyer, D. M. (2009). Dissociable Processes in

Classification: Implications From Sleep Deprivation. *Military Psychology*, 21(suppl 1), S55-S61.

³³⁷ Miller, N. L., & Shattuck, L. G. (2005). Sleep patterns of young men and women enrolled at the United States Military Academy: results from year 1 of a 4-year longitudinal study. *Sleep*, 28(7), 837-841.

³³⁸ Brown, D. L., Caldwell, J. L., & Chandler, J. F. (2013, January 1). At war with fatigue: weave sleep into your ops plan or give the enemy an advantage. *Armed Forces Journal*. http://armedforcesjournal.com/at-war-with-fatigue/

³³⁹ Luxton, D. D., Greenburg, D., Ryan, J., Niven, A., Wheeler, G., & Mysliwiec, V. (2011). Prevalence and impact of short sleep duration in redeployed OIF Soldiers. *Sleep*, *34*(9), 1189-1195.

³⁴⁰ Department of the Army. (2013). *Mental Health Advisory Team 9 (MHAT 9) Operation ENDURING FREEDOM (OEF) 2013 Afghanistan.*

³⁴¹ Meadows, S. O., Engel, C. C., Collins, R. L., Beckman, R. L., Cefalu, M., Hawes-Dawson, J., ... & Williams, K. M. (2018). 2015 Department of Defense Health Related Behaviors Survey (*HRBS*). RAND Corporation.

³⁴² Gunia, B. C., Sipos, M. L., LoPresti, M., & Adler, A. B. (2015). Sleep leadership in high-risk occupations: An investigation of Soldiers on peacekeeping and combat missions. *Military Psychology*, 27(4), 197-211.

³⁴³ Department of the Army. (2013). *Mental Health Advisory Team 9 (MHAT 9) Operation ENDURING FREEDOM (OEF) 2013 Afghanistan*.

³⁴⁴ Peterson, A. L., Goodie, J. L., Satterfield, W. A., & Brim, W. L. (2008). Sleep disturbance during military deployment. *Military Medicine*, *173*(3), 230-235.

³⁴⁵ Shattuck, N. L., & Matsangas, P. (2016). Operational assessment of the 5-h on/10-h off watchstanding schedule on a U.S. Navy ship: sleep patterns, mood and psychomotor vigilance performance of crewmembers in the nuclear reactor department. *Ergonomics*, 59(5), 657-664.
 ³⁴⁶ Shattuck, N. L., & Matsangas, P. (2016). Operational assessment of the 5-h on/10-h off

watchstanding schedule on a U.S. Navy ship: sleep patterns, mood and psychomotor vigilance performance of crewmembers in the nuclear reactor department. *Ergonomics*, *59*(5), 657-664.

³⁴⁷ Shattuck, N. L., & Matsangas, P. (2016). Operational assessment of the 5-h on/10-h off watchstanding schedule on a U.S. Navy ship: sleep patterns, mood and psychomotor vigilance performance of crewmembers in the nuclear reactor department. *Ergonomics*, *59*(5), 657-664.

³⁴⁸ Shattuck, N. L., Matsangas, P., & Saitzyk, A. (2018). Improving work and rest patterns of military personnel in operational settings with frequent unplanned events. *Proceedings of the Human Factors and Ergonomics Society Annual Meeting*, 62, 772-776.

³⁴⁹ Kelly, T. L., Neri, D. F., Grill, J. T., Ryman, D., Hunt, P. D., Dijk, D. J., ... & Czeisler, C. A. (1999). Nonentrained circadian rhythms of melatonin in submariners scheduled to an 18-hour day. *Journal of Biological Rhythms*, *14*(3), 190-196.

³⁵⁰ Duplessis, C. A., Miller, J. C., Crepeau, L. J., Osborn, C. M., & Dyche, J. (2007). Submarine watch schedules: underway evaluation of rotating (contemporary) and compressed (alternative) schedules. *Undersea & Hyperbaric Medicine*, *34*(1), 21-33.

³⁵¹ Trousselard, M., Leger, D., van Beers, P., Coste, O., Vicard, A., Pontis, J., ... & Chennaoui, M. (2015). Sleeping under the ocean: Despite total isolation, nuclear submariners maintain their sleep and wake patterns throughout their under sea mission. *PloS One*, *10*(5).

³⁵² Caldwell, J. L., & Gilreath, S. R. (2001). Work and sleep hours of U.S. Army aviation personnel working reverse cycle. *Military Medicine*, *166*(2), 159-166.

³⁵³ Shockey, T. M., & Wheaton, A. G. (2017). Short sleep duration by occupation group—29 states, 2013–2014. *Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report*, 66(8), 207-213.

³⁵⁴ Vrijkotte, S., Roelands, B., Meeusen, R., & Pattyn, N. (2016). Sustained military operations and cognitive performance. *Aerospace Medicine and Human Performance*, 87(8), 718-727.

³⁵⁵ Henning, P. C., Park, B. S., & Kim, J. S. (2011). Physiological decrements during sustained military operational stress. *Military Medicine*, *176*(9), 991-997.

³⁵⁶ Vrijkotte, S., Roelands, B., Meeusen, R., & Pattyn, N. (2016). Sustained military operations and cognitive performance. *Aerospace Medicine and Human Performance*, 87(8), 718-727.

³⁵⁷ Belenky, G. L., Krueger, G. P., Balkin, T. J., Headley, D. B., & Solick, R. E. (1987). *Effects of continuous operations (CONOPS) on Soldier and unit performance: Review of the literature and strategies for sustaining the Soldier in CONOPS* (No. WRAIR-BB-87-1). Walter Reed Army Institute of Research.

³⁵⁸ Vrijkotte, S., Roelands, B., Meeusen, R., & Pattyn, N. (2016). Sustained military operations and cognitive performance. *Aerospace Medicine and Human Performance*, 87(8), 718-727.

³⁵⁹ Henning, P. C., Park, B. S., & Kim, J. S. (2011). Physiological decrements during sustained military operational stress. *Military Medicine*, *176*(9), 991-997.

³⁶⁰ Coste, O., Remont, P., & Lagarde, D. (2009). Wake-sleep cycle management during SUSOPS and CONOPS in French military forces: policy and ethics. In K. E. Friedl & P. Shek (Chairs). *Proceedings of the Symposium on Human Performance Enhancement for NATO Military Operations* (RTO-MP-HFM-181). NATO Science and Technology Organization.

³⁶¹ Department of the Army. (2016). *A leader's guide to Soldier health and fitness* (ATP 6-22.5). ³⁶² Department of the Navy. (2019). *Navy safety and occupational health program manual for forces afloat* (SECNAVINST 5100.19F).

³⁶³ Department of the Air Force. (2016). *Flying operations* (AFI 11-202V3).

³⁶⁴ Department of the Army. (2016). *A leader's guide to Soldier health and fitness* (ATP 6-22.5). ³⁶⁵ Belenky, G. L., Krueger, G. P., Balkin, T. J., Headley, D. B., & Solick, R. E. (1987). *Effects of continuous operations (CONOPS) on Soldier and unit performance: Review of the literature and strategies for sustaining the Soldier in CONOPS* (No. WRAIR-BB-87-1). Walter Reed Army Institute of Research.

³⁶⁶ Vrijkotte, S., Roelands, B., Meeusen, R., & Pattyn, N. (2016). Sustained military operations and cognitive performance. *Aerospace Medicine and Human Performance*, *87*(8), 718-727.

³⁶⁷ Mantua, J., Bessey, A., Sowden, W. J., Chabuz, R., Brager, A. J., Capaldi, V. F., & Simonelli, G. (2019). A review of environmental barriers to obtaining adequate sleep in the military operational context. *Military Medicine*, *184*(7-8), e259-e266.

³⁶⁸ Department of the Army. (2013). *Mental Health Advisory Team 9 (MHAT 9) Operation Enduring Freedom (OEF) 2013 Afghanistan.*

³⁶⁹ Caldwell, J. A., & Caldwell, J. L. (2005). Fatigue I Aviation, Space, and Environmental Medicine, 76(7), C39-C51.

³⁷⁰ Peterson, A. L., Goodie, J. L., Satterfield, W. A., & Brim, W. L. (2008). Sleep disturbance during military deployment. *Military Medicine*, *173*(3), 230-235.

³⁷¹ Johnston, B., Powell, D., & Iremonger, G. (2013). Sleep and Fatigue in Military Helicopter Aircrew During Deployment to A Tropical Environment. *Journal of the Australasian Society of Aerospace Medicine*, *8*, 10-14.

³⁷² Obradovich, N., Migliorini, R., Mednick, S. C., & Fowler, J. H. (2017). Nighttime temperature and human sleep loss in a changing climate. *Science Advances*, *3*(5), e1601555. ³⁷³ Tsuzuki, K., Okamoto-Mizuno, K., & Mizuno, K. (2004). Effects of humid heat exposure on

³⁷⁴ Caddick, Z. A., Gregory, K., Arsintescu, L., & Flynn-Evans, E. E. (2018). A review of the environmental parameters necessary for an optimal sleep environment. *Building and Environment*, *132*, 11-20.

³⁷⁵ Welles, A. P., Buller, M. J., Margolis, L., Economos, D., Hoyt, R. W., & Richter, M. W. (2013). Thermal-work strain during Marine rifle squad operations in Afghanistan. *Military Medicine*, *178*(10), 1141-1148.

³⁷⁶ Peterson, A. L., Goodie, J. L., Satterfield, W. A., & Brim, W. L. (2008). Sleep disturbance during military deployment. *Military Medicine*, *173*(3), 230-235.

³⁷⁷ Mantua, J., Bessey, A., Sowden, W. J., Chabuz, R., Brager, A. J., Capaldi, V. F., & Simonelli, G. (2019). A review of environmental barriers to obtaining adequate sleep in the military operational context. *Military Medicine*, *184*(7-8), e259-e266.

³⁷⁸ Van Hoof, J. (2008). Air-conditioned deployable force infrastructure as a strategy to combat sleep deprivation among troops in hot countries. *Building Services Engineering Research and Technology*, 29(4), 327-339.

³⁷⁹ Crowley, S. K., Wilkinson, L. L., Burroughs, E. L., Muraca, S. T., Wigfall, L. T., Louis-Nance, T., ... & Youngstedt, S. D. (2012). Sleep during basic combat training: a qualitative study. *Military Medicine*, *177*(7), 823-828.

³⁸⁰ Wesensten, N.J., Comperatore, C.A., Balkin, T.J. & Belenky, G. (2003). Jet lag and sleep deprivation. In P. W. Kelley (Ed.), *Military Preventive Medicine: Mobilization and Deployment* (Vol. 1, pp. 287-300). Borden Institute.

³⁸¹ Crowley, S. K., Wilkinson, L. L., Burroughs, E. L., Muraca, S. T., Wigfall, L. T., Louis-Nance, T., ... & Youngstedt, S. D. (2012). Sleep during basic combat training: a qualitative study. *Military Medicine*, *177*(7), 823-828.

³⁸² Wesensten, N.J., Comperatore, C.A., Balkin, T.J. & Belenky, G. (2003). Jet lag and sleep deprivation. In P. W. Kelley (Ed.), *Military Preventive Medicine: Mobilization and Deployment* (Vol. 1, pp. 287-300). Borden Institute.

³⁸³ Lieberman, H. R., Stavinoha, T., McGraw, S., White, A., Hadden, L., & Marriott, B. P. (2012). Caffeine use among active duty U.S. Army Soldiers. *Journal of the Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics*, *112*(6), 902-912.

³⁸⁴ Knapik, J. J., Austin, K. G., McGraw, S. M., Leahy, G. D., & Lieberman, H. R. (2017). Caffeine consumption among active duty United States Air Force personnel. *Food and Chemical Toxicology*, *105*, 377-386.

³⁸⁵ Knapik, J. J., Trone, D. W., McGraw, S., Steelman, R. A., Austin, K. G., & Lieberman, H. R.
(2016). Caffeine use among active duty Navy and Marine Corps personnel. *Nutrients*, 8(10), 620.
³⁸⁶ Mitchell, D. C., Knight, C. A., Hockenberry, J., Teplansky, R., & Hartman, T. J. (2014).

Beverage caffeine intakes in the U.S. Food and Chemical Toxicology, 63, 136-142.

³⁸⁷ Fulgoni III, V. L., Keast, D. R., & Lieberman, H. R. (2015). Trends in intake and sources of caffeine in the diets of U.S. adults: 2001–2010. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, *101*(5), 1081-1087.

³⁸⁸ Lieberman, H. R., Agarwal, S., & Fulgoni III, V. L. (2019). Daily patterns of caffeine intake and the association of intake with multiple sociodemographic and lifestyle factors in US adults Based on the NHANES 2007–2012 Surveys. *Journal of the Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics*, *119*(1), 106-114.

³⁸⁹ Sather, T. E., Williams, R. D., Delorey, D. R., & Woolsey, C. L. (2017). Caffeine consumption among naval aviation candidates. *Aerospace Medicine and Human Performance*, 88(4), 399-405.

³⁹⁰ Wikoff, D., Welsh, B. T., Henderson, R., Brorby, G. P., Britt, J., Myers, E., ... & Tenenbein, M. (2017). Systematic review of the potential adverse effects of caffeine consumption in healthy adults, pregnant women, adolescents, and children. *Food and Chemical Toxicology*, *109*, 585-648.

³⁹¹ Temple, J. L., Bernard, C., Lipshultz, S. E., Czachor, J. D., Westphal, J. A., & Mestre, M. A. (2017). The safety of ingested caffeine: a comprehensive review. *Frontiers in Psychiatry*, *8*, 80.
 ³⁹² Coste, O., Remont, P., & Lagarde, D. (2009). Wake-sleep cycle management during SUSOPS

and CONOPS in French military forces: policy and ethics. In K. E. Friedl & P. Shek (Chairs). *Proceedings of the Symposium on Human Performance Enhancement for NATO Military Operations* (RTO-MP-HFM-181). NATO Science and Technology Organization.

³⁹³ Department of the Army. (2011). *Joint Mental Health Advisory Team 7 (J-MHAT-7) Operation Enduring Freedom 2010 Afghanistan.*

³⁹⁴ Committee on Military Nutrition Research. (2001). *Caffeine for the Sustainment of Mental Task Performance*. Institute of Medicine.

³⁹⁵ Wikoff, D., Welsh, B. T., Henderson, R., Brorby, G. P., Britt, J., Myers, E., ... & Tenenbein, M. (2017). Systematic review of the potential adverse effects of caffeine consumption in healthy adults, pregnant women, adolescents, and children. *Food and Chemical Toxicology*, *109*, 585-648.

³⁹⁶ Drake, C., Roehrs, T., Shambroom, J., & Roth, T. (2013). Caffeine effects on sleep taken 0, 3, or 6 hours before going to bed. *Journal of Clinical Sleep Medicine*, *9*(11), 1195-1200.

³⁹⁷ Crawford, C., Teo, L., Lafferty, L., Drake, A., Bingham, J. J., Gallon, M. D., ... Berry, K. (2017). Caffeine to optimize cognitive function for military mission-readiness: a systematic review and recommendations for the field. *Nutrition Reviews*, *75*(suppl 2), 17–35.

³⁹⁸ McLellan, T. M., Caldwell, J. A., & Lieberman, H. R. (2016). A review of caffeine's effects on cognitive, physical and occupational performance. *Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews*, *71*, 294-312.

³⁹⁹ Crawford, C., Teo, L., Lafferty, L., Drake, A., Bingham, J. J., Gallon, M. D., ... Berry, K. (2017). Caffeine to optimize cognitive function for military mission-readiness: a systematic review and recommendations for the field. *Nutrition Reviews*, *75*(suppl 2), 17–35.

⁴⁰⁰ McLellan, T. M., Caldwell, J. A., & Lieberman, H. R. (2016). A review of caffeine's effects on cognitive, physical and occupational performance. *Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews*, *71*, 294-312.

⁴⁰¹ McLellan, T. M., Caldwell, J. A., & Lieberman, H. R. (2016). A review of caffeine's effects on cognitive, physical and occupational performance. *Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews*, *71*, 294-312.

⁴⁰² Hansen, D. A., Ramakrishnan, S., Satterfield, B. C., Wesensten, N. J., Layton, M. E.,
Reifman, J., & Van Dongen, H. P. (2019). Randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled,
crossover study of the effects of repeated-dose caffeine on neurobehavioral performance during
48 h of total sleep deprivation. *Psychopharmacology*, 236(4), 1313-1322.

⁴⁰³ Lieberman, H. R., Tharion, W. J., Shukitt-Hale, B., Speckman, K. L., & Tulley, R. (2002). Effects of caffeine, sleep loss, and stress on cognitive performance and mood during U.S. Navy SEAL training. *Psychopharmacology*, *164*(3), 250-261.

⁴⁰⁴ McLellan, T. M., Kamimori, G. H., Voss, D. M., Tate, C., & Smith, S. J. (2007). Caffeine effects on physical and cognitive performance during sustained operations. *Aviation, Space, and Environmental Medicine*, 78(9), 871-877.

⁴⁰⁵ McLellan, T. M., Kamimori, G. H., Voss, D. M., Bell, D. G., Cole, K. G., & Johnson, D. (2005). Caffeine maintains vigilance and improves run times during night operations for Special Forces. *Aviation, Space, and Environmental Medicine*, *76*(7), 647-654.

⁴⁰⁶ Kamimori, G. H., McLellan, T. M., Tate, C. M., Voss, D. M., Niro, P., & Lieberman, H. R. (2015). Caffeine improves reaction time, vigilance and logical reasoning during extended periods with restricted opportunities for sleep. *Psychopharmacology*, *232*(12), 2031-2042.

⁴⁰⁷ Tikuisis, P., Keefe, A. A., McLellan, T. M., & Kamimori, G. (2004). Caffeine restores engagement speed but not shooting precision following 22 h of active wakefulness. *Aviation*, *Space, and Environmental Medicine*, 75(9), 771-776.

⁴⁰⁸ Clemente-Suarez, V. J., & Robles-Pérez, J. J. (2015). Acute effects of caffeine supplementation on cortical arousal, anxiety, physiological response and marksmanship in close quarter combat. *Ergonomics*, *58*(11), 1842-1850.

⁴⁰⁹ McLellan, T. M., Bell, D. G., & Kamimori, G. H. (2004). Caffeine improves physical performance during 24 h of active wakefulness. *Aviation, Space, and Environmental Medicine*, *75*(8), 666-672.

⁴¹⁰ McLellan, T. M., Kamimori, G. H., Bell, D. G., Smith, I. F., Johnson, D., & Belenky, G. (2005). Caffeine maintains vigilance and marksmanship in simulated urban operations with sleep deprivation. *Aviation, Space, and Environmental Medicine*, *76*(1), 39-45.

⁴¹¹ Tharion, W. J., Shukitt-Hale, B., & Lieberman, H. R. (2003). Caffeine effects on marksmanship during high-stress military training with 72 hour sleep deprivation. *Aviation*, *Space, and Environmental Medicine*, *74*(4), 309-314.

⁴¹² Johnson, R. F., & Merullo, D. J. (1999). Friend-foe discrimination, caffeine, and sentry duty. *Proceedings of the Human Factors and Ergonomics Society Annual Meeting*, *43*(23), 1348-1352.

⁴¹³ Gillingham, R. L., Keefe, A. A., & Tikuisis, P. (2004). Acute Caffeine Intake Before and After Fatiguing Exercise Improves Target Shooting Engagement Time. *Aviation, Space, and Environmental Medicine*, *75*(10), 865–871.

⁴¹⁴ Newman, R. A., Kamimori, G. H., Wesensten, N. J., Picchioni, D., & Balkin, T. J. (2013). Caffeine gum minimizes sleep inertia. *Perceptual and Motor Skills*, *116*(1), 280-293.

⁴¹⁵ Doty, T. J., So, C. J., Bergman, E. M., Trach, S. K., Ratcliffe, R. H., Yarnell, A. M., ... & Quartana, P. J. (2017). Limited efficacy of caffeine and recovery costs during and following 5 days of chronic sleep restriction. *Sleep*, *40*(12), zsx171.

⁴¹⁶ Batéjat, D., Coste, O., Van Beers, P., Lagarde, D., Piérard, C., & Beaumont, M. (2006). Prior sleep with zolpidem enhances the effect of caffeine or modafinil during 18 hours continuous work. *Aviation, Space, and Environmental Medicine*, *77*(5), 515-525.

⁴¹⁷ Beaumont, M., Batéjat, D., Piérard, C., Coste, O., Doireau, P., Van Beers, P., ... & Lagarde, D. (2001). Slow release caffeine and prolonged (64-h) continuous wakefulness: effects on vigilance and cognitive performance. *Journal of Sleep Research*, *10*(4), 265-276.

⁴¹⁸ Beaumont, M., Batéjat, D., Coste, O., Doireau, P., Chauffard, F., Enslen, M., ... & Piérard, C. (2005). Recovery after prolonged sleep deprivation: residual effects of slow-release caffeine on recovery sleep, sleepiness and cognitive functions. *Neuropsychobiology*, *51*(1), 16-27.

⁴¹⁹ Gore, R. K., Webb, T. S., & Hermes, E. D. (2010). Fatigue and stimulant use in military fighter aircrew during combat operations. *Aviation, Space, and Environmental Medicine*, *81*(8), 719-727.

⁴²⁰ Doan, B. K., Hickey, P. A., Lieberman, H. R., & Fischer, J. R. (2006). Caffeinated tube food effect on pilot performance during a 9-hour, simulated nighttime U-2 mission. *Aviation, Space, and Environmental Medicine*, 77(10), 1034-1040.

⁴²¹ Lohi, J. J., Huttunen, K. H., Lahtinen, T. M., Kilpeläinen, A. A., Muhli, A. A., & Leino, T. K. (2007). Effect of caffeine on simulator flight performance in sleep-deprived military pilot students. *Military Medicine*, *172*(9), 982-987.

⁴²² Kilpeläinen, A. A., Huttunen, K. H., Lohi, J. J., & Lyytinen, H. (2010). Effect of caffeine on vigilance and cognitive performance during extended wakefulness. *The International Journal of Aviation Psychology*, *20*(2), 144-159.

⁴²³ Coste, O., Remont, P., & Lagarde, D. (2009). Wake-sleep cycle management during SUSOPS and CONOPS in French military forces: policy and ethics. In K. E. Friedl & P. Shek (Chairs). *Proceedings of the Symposium on Human Performance Enhancement for NATO Military Operations* (RTO-MP-HFM-181). NATO Science and Technology Organization.

⁴²⁴ Wesensten, N. J., Hughes, J. D., & Balkin, T. J. (2011). Countermeasures to the neurocognitive deficits associated with sleep loss. *Drug Discovery Today: Disease Models*, 8(4), 139–146.

⁴²⁵ McLellan, T. M., Riviere, L. A., Williams, K. W., McGurk, D., & Lieberman, H. R. (2019). Caffeine and energy drink use by combat arms Soldiers in Afghanistan as a countermeasure for sleep loss and high operational demands. *Nutritional Neuroscience*, 22(11), 768-777.

⁴²⁶ Coste, O., Remont, P., & Lagarde, D. (2009). Wake-sleep cycle management during SUSOPS and CONOPS in French military forces: policy and ethics. In K. E. Friedl & P. Shek (Chairs), *Proceedings of the Symposium on Human Performance Enhancement for NATO Military Operations* (RTO-MP-HFM-181). NATO Science and Technology Organization.

⁴²⁷ Doty, T. J., So, C. J., Bergman, E. M., Trach, S. K., Ratcliffe, R. H., Yarnell, A. M., ... & Quartana, P. J. (2017). Limited efficacy of caffeine and recovery costs during and following 5 days of chronic sleep restriction. *Sleep*, *40*(12), zsx171.

⁴²⁸ LaJambe, C. M., Kamimori, G. H., Belenky, G., & Balkin, T. J. (2005). Caffeine effects on recovery sleep following 27h total sleep deprivation. *Aviation, Space, and Environmental Medicine*, *76*(2), 108-113.

⁴²⁹ Good, C. H., Brager, A. J., Capaldi, V. F., & Mysliwiec, V. (2020). Sleep in the United States military. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, *45*(1), 176-191.

⁴³⁰ Lieberman, H. R., Stavinoha, T., McGraw, S., White, A., Hadden, L., & Marriott, B. P. (2012). Caffeine use among active duty U.S. Army Soldiers. *Journal of the Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics*, *112*(6), 902-912.

⁴³¹ Manchester, J., Eshel, I., & Marion, D. W. (2017). The benefits and risks of energy drinks in young adults and military Service members. *Military Medicine*, *182*(7), e1726-e1733.

⁴³² Bailey, R. L., Saldanha, L. G., Gahche, J. J., & Dwyer, J. T. (2014). Estimating caffeine intake from energy drinks and dietary supplements in the United States. *Nutrition Reviews*, 72(suppl 1), 9-13.

⁴³³ Stephens, M. B., Attipoe, S., Jones, D., Ledford, C. J., & Deuster, P. A. (2014). Energy drink and energy shot use in the military. *Nutrition Reviews*, 72(suppl 1), 72-77.

⁴³⁴ Attipoe, S., Delahanty, L., Stephens, M., & Deuster, P. A. (2018). Energy beverage use among U.S. Service members. *Military Medicine*, *183*(9-10).

⁴³⁵ Toblin, R. L., Clarke-Walper, K., Kok, B.C., Sipos, M. L., & Thomas, J. L. (2012). Energy drink consumption and its association with sleep problems among U.S. Service members on a combat deployment-Afghanistan, 2010. *Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report*, *61*(44), 895-898.

⁴³⁶ McLellan, T. M., Riviere, L. A., Williams, K. W., McGurk, D., & Lieberman, H. R. (2019). Caffeine and energy drink use by combat arms Soldiers in Afghanistan as a countermeasure for sleep loss and high operational demands. *Nutritional Neuroscience*, 22(11), 768-777.

⁴³⁷ McLellan, T. M., Riviere, L. A., Williams, K. W., McGurk, D., & Lieberman, H. R. (2019). Caffeine and energy drink use by combat arms Soldiers in Afghanistan as a countermeasure for sleep loss and high operational demands. *Nutritional Neuroscience*, 22(11), 768-777.

⁴³⁸ Waits, W. M., Ganz, M. B., Schillreff, T., & Dell, P. J. (2014). Sleep and the use of energy products in a combat environment. *U.S. Army Medical Department Journal, October-December* 2014, 22-28.

⁴³⁹ Adler, A. B., Britt, T. W., Castro, C. A., McGurk, D., & Bliese, P. D. (2011). Effect of transition home from combat on risk-taking and health-related behaviors. *Journal of Traumatic Stress*, *24*(4), 381-389.

⁴⁴⁰ Sather, T. E., Williams, R. D., Delorey, D. R., & Woolsey, C. L. (2017). Caffeine consumption among naval aviation candidates. *Aerospace Medicine and Human Performance*, 88(4), 399-405.

⁴⁴¹ Kelley, A. M., Feltman, K. A., & Curry, I. P. (2018). A Survey of Fatigue in Army Aviators. *Aerospace medicine and human performance*, 89(5), 464–468.

⁴⁴² Goldfarb, M., Tellier, C., & Thanassoulis, G. (2014). Review of published cases of adverse cardiovascular events after ingestion of energy drinks. *The American Journal of Cardiology*, *113*(1), 168-172.

⁴⁴³ Shah, S. A., Szeto, A. H., Farewell, R., Shek, A., Fan, D., Quach, K. N., ... & Nguyen, N. (2019). Impact of high volume energy drink consumption on electrocardiographic and blood pressure parameters: A randomized trial. *Journal of the American Heart Association*, 8(11), e011318.

⁴⁴⁴ Grasser, E. K., Yepuri, G., Dulloo, A. G., & Montani, J. P. (2014). Cardio-and cerebrovascular responses to the energy drink Red Bull in young adults: a randomized cross-over study. *European Journal of Nutrition*, *53*(7), 1561-1571.

⁴⁴⁵ Shah, S. A., Szeto, A. H., Farewell, R., Shek, A., Fan, D., Quach, K. N., ... & Nguyen, N. (2019). Impact of high volume energy drink consumption on electrocardiographic and blood pressure parameters: A randomized trial. *Journal of the American Heart Association*, 8(11), e011318.

⁴⁴⁶ Svatikova, A., Covassin, N., Somers, K. R., Somers, K. V., Soucek, F., Kara, T., & Bukartyk, J. (2015). A randomized trial of cardiovascular responses to energy drink consumption in healthy adults. *JAMA*, *314*(19), 2079-2082.

⁴⁴⁷ Shah, S. A., Szeto, A. H., Farewell, R., Shek, A., Fan, D., Quach, K. N., ... & Nguyen, N. (2019). Impact of high volume energy drink consumption on electrocardiographic and blood pressure parameters: A randomized trial. *Journal of the American Heart Association*, 8(11), e011318.

⁴⁴⁸ Drake, C., Roehrs, T., Shambroom, J., & Roth, T. (2013). Caffeine effects on sleep taken 0, 3, or 6 hours before going to bed. *Journal of Clinical Sleep Medicine*, *9*(11), 1195-1200.

⁴⁴⁹ Johnson, L. A., Foster, D., & McDowell, J. C. (2014). Energy drinks: review of performance benefits, health concerns, and use by military personnel. *Military Medicine*, *179*(4), 375-380.

⁴⁵⁰ Toblin, R. L., Clarke-Walper, K., Kok, B.C., Sipos, M. L., & Thomas, J. L. (2012). Energy drink consumption and its association with sleep problems among U.S. Service members on a combat deployment-Afghanistan, 2010. *Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report*, *61*(44), 895-898.

⁴⁵¹ Department of the Army. (2011). *Joint Mental Health Advisory Team 7 (J-MHAT-7) Operation ENDURING FREEDOM 2010 Afghanistan.*

⁴⁵² Wesensten, N. J. (2014). Legitimacy of concerns about caffeine and energy drink consumption. *Nutrition Reviews*, 72(suppl 1), 78-86.

⁴⁵³ U.S. Army Aeromedical Activity. (2015). *Aeromedical Policy Letters and Aeromedical Technical Bulletins*. https://vfso.rucker.amedd.army.mil/

⁴⁵⁴ Department of the Air Force. (2014). *Flight and operational medicine program* (AFI 48-149). ⁴⁵⁵ Department of the Navy. (2000). *Performance maintenance during continuous flight operations: a guide for flight surgeons* (NAVMED P-6410).

⁴⁵⁶ Department of the Navy. (2016). *NATOPS general flight and operating instructions manual* (CNAF M-3710.7).

⁴⁵⁷ Department of the Air Force. (2014). *Flight and operational medicine program* (AFI 48-149). ⁴⁵⁸ Gore, R. K., Webb, T. S., & Hermes, E. D. A. (2010). Fatigue and stimulant use in military fighter aircrew during combat operations. *Aviation, Space, and Environmental Medicine*, 81(8), 719–727.

⁴⁵⁹ Caldwell, J. A., Mallis, M. M., Caldwell, J. L., Paul, M. A., Miller, J. C., & Neri, D. F. (2009). Fatigue countermeasures in aviation. *Aviation, Space, and Environmental Medicine*, *80*(1), 29-59.

⁴⁶⁰ Wesensten, N., Belenky, G., Kautz, M. A., Thorne, D. R., Reichardt, R. M., & Balkin, T. J. (2002). Maintaining alertness and performance during sleep deprivation: modafinil versus caffeine. *Psychopharmacology*, *159*(3), 238-247.

⁴⁶¹ Caldwell, J. A., Caldwell, J. L., Smyth, N. K., & Hall, K. K. (2000). A double-blind, placebocontrolled investigation of the efficacy of modafinil for sustaining the alertness and performance of aviators: a helicopter simulator study. *Psychopharmacology*, *150*(3), 272-282.

⁴⁶² Caldwell, J., Caldwell, L., Smith, J., Alvarado, L., & Heintz, T. (2004). *The efficacy of modafinil for sustaining alertness and simulator flight performance in F-117 pilots during 37 hours of continuous wakefulness* (No. AFRL-HE-BR-TR-2004-0003). United States Air Force Research Laboratory.

⁴⁶³ Caldwell, J. A. (2003). *Short-Term Fatigue Management: A Cross-Study Analysis of the Effects of Dextroamphetamine and Modafinil in Sleep-Deprived Aviators* (No. AFRL-HE-BR-TR-2003-0059). United States Air Force Research Laboratory.

⁴⁶⁴ Estrada, A., Kelley, A. M., Webb, C. M., Athy, J. R., & Crowley, J. S. (2012). Modafinil as a replacement for dextroamphetamine for sustaining alertness in military helicopter pilots. *Aviation, Space, and Environmental Medicine*, *83*(6), 556–564.

⁴⁶⁵ Killgore, W. D., Kahn-Greene, E. T., Grugle, N. L., Killgore, D. B., & Balkin, T. J. (2009). Sustaining executive functions during sleep deprivation: a comparison of caffeine, dextroamphetamine, and modafinil. *Sleep*, *32*(2), 205-216.

⁴⁶⁶ Wesensten, N. J., Killgore, W. D., & Balkin, T. J. (2005). Performance and alertness effects of caffeine, dextroamphetamine, and modafinil during sleep deprivation. *Journal of Sleep Research*, *14*(3), 255-266.

⁴⁶⁷ Killgore, W. D., Rupp, T. L., Grugle, N. L., Reichardt, R. M., Lipizzi, E. L., & Balkin, T. J. (2008). Effects of dextroamphetamine, caffeine and modafinil on psychomotor vigilance test performance after 44 h of continuous wakefulness. *Journal of Sleep Research*, *17*(3), 309–321.
⁴⁶⁸ Caldwell, J. A. (2008). Go Pills in Combat: Prejudice, Propriety, and Practicality. *Air & Space Power Journal*, *22*(3), 97-104.

⁴⁶⁹ Nielsen, J. N. (2007). Danish perspective: commentary on "recommendations for the ethical use of pharmacologic fatigue countermeasures in the U.S. military." *Aviation, Space, and Environmental Medicine*, *78*(5, Sect II, Suppl), B134–B135.

⁴⁷⁰ Roedig, E. (2007). German perspective: commentary on "recommendations for the ethical use of pharmacologic fatigue countermeasures in the U.S. military." *Aviation, Space & Environmental Medicine*, *78*, B136–B137.

⁴⁷¹ Mehlman M. (2019). Bioethics of military performance enhancement. *Journal of the Royal Army Medical Corps*, *165*(4), 226–231.

⁴⁷² Caldwell, J. A. (2008). Go pills in combat: prejudice, propriety, and practicality. *Air & Space Power Journal*, 22(3), 97-104.

⁴⁷³ Russo, M. B. (2007). Recommendations for the ethical use of pharmacologic fatigue countermeasures in the U.S. military. *Aviation, Space, and Environmental Medicine*, 78(5), B119-B127.

⁴⁷⁴ Caldwell, J. A., & Caldwell, J. L. (2005). Fatigue in military aviation: an overview of U.S. military-approved pharmacological countermeasures. *Aviation, Space, and Environmental Medicine*, *76*(7), C39-C51.

⁴⁷⁵ Department of the Army. (2013). *Mental Health Advisory Team 9 (MHAT 9) Operation Enduring Freedom (OEF) 2013 Afghanistan*.

⁴⁷⁶ Gore, R. K., Webb, T. S., & Hermes, E. D. A. (2010). Fatigue and stimulant use in military fighter aircrew during combat operations. *Aviation, Space, and Environmental Medicine*, *81*(8), 719–727.

⁴⁷⁷ Van Camp R. O. (2009). Zolpidem in fatigue management for surge operations of remotely piloted aircraft. *Aviation, Space, and Environmental Medicine*, *80*(6), 553–555.

⁴⁷⁸ Caldwell, J. L., Prazinko, B. F., Rowe, T., Norman, D., Hall, K. K., & Caldwell, J. A. (2003). Improving daytime sleep with temazepam as a countermeasure for shift lag. *Aviation, Space, and Environmental Medicine*, 74(2), 153–163.

⁴⁷⁹ Porcù, S., Bellatreccia, A., Ferrara, M., & Casagrande, M. (1997). Performance, ability to stay awake, and tendency to fall asleep during the night after a diurnal sleep with temazepam or placebo. *Sleep*, *20*(7), 535–541.

⁴⁸⁰ Caldwell, J. A., Jr, & Caldwell, J. L. (1998). Comparison of the effects of zolpidem-induced prophylactic naps to placebo naps and forced rest periods in prolonged work schedules. *Sleep*, 21(1), 79–90.

⁴⁸¹ Batéjat, D., Coste, O., Van Beers, P., Lagarde, D., Piérard, C., & Beaumont, M. (2006). Prior sleep with zolpidem enhances the effect of caffeine or modafinil during 18 hours continuous work. *Aviation, Space, and Environmental Medicine*, 77(5), 515–525.

⁴⁸² Chen, L.E., Zhao, A., Zhang, Q., Wu, F., Ge, Z., Ge, H., & Zhan, H. (2016). Investigation of the usefulness of zaleplon at two doses to induce afternoon-sleep under noise interference and its effects on psychomotor performance and vestibular function. *Military Medical Research*, *3*(*5*), 1-6.

⁴⁸³ Simons, R., Koerhuis, C. L., Valk, P. J., & Van den Oord, M. H. (2006). Usefulness of temazepam and zaleplon to induce afternoon sleep. *Military Medicine*, *171*(10), 998–1001.

⁴⁸⁴ Storm, W. F., Eddy, D. R., Welch, C. B., Hickey, P. A., Fischer, J., & Cardenas, R. (2007). Cognitive performance following premature awakening from zolpidem or melatonin induced daytime sleep. *Aviation, Space, and Environmental Medicine*, *78*(1), 10–20.

⁴⁸⁵ Thelus J. R., Hou, Y., Masterson, J., Kress, A., & Mysliwiec, V. 2019. Prescription patterns of sedative hypnotic medications in the Military Health System. *Journal of Clinical Sleep Medicine*, *15*(6), 873–879.

⁴⁸⁶ Thelus J. R., Hou, Y., Masterson, J., Kress, A., & Mysliwiec, V. 2019. Prescription patterns of sedative hypnotic medications in the Military Health System. *Journal of Clinical Sleep Medicine*, *15*(6), 873–879.

⁴⁸⁷ Bertisch, S.M., Herzig, S.J., Winkelman, J.W., & Buettner, C. 2014. National use of prescription medications for insomnia: NHANES 1999-2010. *Sleep*, *37*(2), 343-349.

⁴⁸⁸ Brown, C. A., Berry, R., & Schmidt, A. (2013). Sleep and military members: Emerging issues and nonpharmacological intervention. *Sleep Disorders*, *2013*, 160374.

⁴⁸⁹ Schutte-Rodin, S., Broch, L., Buysse, D., Dorsey, C., & Sateia, M. (2008). Clinical guideline for the evaluation and management of chronic insomnia in adults. *Journal of Clinical Sleep Medicine*, *4*(5), 487–504.

⁴⁹⁰ Thelus J. R., Hou, Y., Masterson, J., Kress, A., & Mysliwiec, V. 2019. Prescription patterns of sedative hypnotic medications in the Military Health System. *Journal of Clinical Sleep Medicine*, *15*(6), 873–879.

⁴⁹¹ Brown, C. A., Berry, R., & Schmidt, A. (2013). Sleep and military members: Emerging issues and nonpharmacological intervention. *Sleep Disorders*, *2013*, 160374.

⁴⁹² Good, C. H., Brager, A. J., Capaldi, V. F., & Mysliwiec, V. (2020). Sleep in the United States military. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, 45(1), 176-191.

⁴⁹³ Troxel, W., Shih, R., Pederson, E., Geyer, L., Fisher, M., Griffin, B. A., Hass, A. C., Kurz, J. R., & Steinberg, P. S. (2015). *Sleep in the military: Promoting health sleep among U.S. Service members*. RAND Corporation.

⁴⁹⁴ United States Central Command. (2020). Amplification of the minimal standards of fitness for deployment to the CENTCOM AOR. TAB A of *MOD Fifteen to USCENTCOM individual protection and individual-unit deployment policy*.